# Georgia State University

# ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University

**Chemistry Dissertations** 

**Department of Chemistry** 

5-1-2023

# Blackberry Consumption Protects Against E-Cigarette-Induced Vascular Oxidative Stress

Maureen Meister

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/chemistry\_diss

## **Recommended Citation**

Meister, Maureen, "Blackberry Consumption Protects Against E-Cigarette-Induced Vascular Oxidative Stress." Dissertation, Georgia State University, 2023. doi: https://doi.org/10.57709/35348604

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Department of Chemistry at ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Chemistry Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. For more information, please contact scholarworks@gsu.edu.

Blackberry Consumption Protects Against E-Cigarette-Induced Vascular Oxidative Stress

by

Maureen L. Meister

Under the Direction of Rafaela G. Feresin, PhD

A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in the College of Arts and Sciences

Georgia State University

2023

### ABSTRACT

There has been a significant rise in the use of electronic cigarettes (e-cigarettes), devices which deliver vaporized nicotine to the lungs. Due to their recent arrival on the market, evidence of their health effects is scant. Acute e-cigarette exposure induces pulmonary and systemic oxidative stress in e-cigarette users and contributes to vascular endothelial dysfunction through reduction in nitric oxide (NO) levels. Polyphenols, such as cyanidin-3-glucoside and ellagic acid, which are abundant in blackberries (BL), mitigate lung and cardiovascular damage. The goal of this study was to determine the effects of e-cigarette exposure on pulmonary, cardiac, and vascular pathologies and to determine whether BL have the potential to mitigate these detrimental effects. Mice were fed a diet supplemented with or without 5% freeze-dried blackberry (w/w) for 16 weeks. Daily e-cigarette exposure (1 h, 5 days/week) began on week 4. Human microvascular endothelial cells were treated with BL polyphenol extract and e-cigarette condensate to determine the direct effects on the vascular endothelium. Results show that 12-week e-cigarette exposure does not induce changes in blood pressure in mice but does induce oxidative stress in the aorta. E-cigarette exposure decreased NO bioavailability in vivo and in vitro likely due to increased superoxide production resulting from increased expression of inducible NO synthase (NOS), NADPH oxidases and xanthine oxidase (XO) in the endothelium. Additionally, e-cigarettes reduced the phosphorylation of endothelial NOS, contributing to decreases in NO. Mice supplemented with BL were protected against decreases in NO and BL pre-treatment in vitro reduced superoxide production. E-cigarettes also induced pro-oxidant protein expression in the lung and heart, an effect blackberry was unable to attenuate. These studies demonstrate the contribution of ecigarettes to cardiopulmonary pathologies through an increase in superoxide producing enzymes. BL polyphenols mitigate these deleterious effects in the vasculature but were not effective at

attenuating oxidative stress and inflammation induced by e-cigarettes in the lung or heart. Further studies should explore the role of polyphenol rich foods in protecting against cardiopulmonary conditions induced by e-cigarette use and explore their use in the recovery period post-e-cigarette cessation to properly align with current public health messaging.

INDEX WORDS: Polyphenols, Berries, E-Cigarettes, Endothelial Dysfunction, COPD, CVD

Copyright by Maureen L. Meister 2023 Blackberry Consumption Protects Against E-Cigarette-Induced Vascular Oxidative Stress

by

Maureen L. Meister

Committee Chair: Rafaela G. Feresin

Committee: Kathryn Grant

Xiangming Ji

Hongyu Qiu

Electronic Version Approved:

Office of Graduate Services

College of Arts and Sciences

Georgia State University

May 2023

# DEDICATION

I would like to dedicate my dissertation to my children, Audrey and Gavin. Thank you for being my cheerleaders, always bringing a smile to my face and for giving me the courage to chase my dreams. I will always be your biggest fan, just as you both have been mine.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my mentor and major professor, Dr. Rafaela Feresin, for her never ending support through my PhD journey. Thank you for taking me on in the middle of my program and allowing me to continue to pursue my research interests. Thank you for always having our backs, for fighting for us and giving us every opportunity to be successful. I admire you and you have been an excellent example of what a mentor should be. Thank you to my committee members, Dr's Kathryn Grant, Xiangming Ji and Hongyu Qiu for your advice, provision and involvement in my dissertation project. Thank you to Dr. Anita Nucci and Dr. Huanbiao Mo for providing me with additional opportunities within the department and college and for the endless amounts of recommendations letters over the years.

Thank you to the students that have assisted in execution of my dissertation project. Thank you to some of my dearest friends Denise Knapp, Jessica Danh, Lena Lear and Hannah Land Lail for always lending a listening ear and providing emotional support whenever needed. Thank you to Rami Najjar who has been instrumental in my growth as a scientist. Thank you for providing training in numerous basic science techniques, allowing me to bounce ideas off of you and challenging me to be innovative. Also, thank you for pushing me to do the things that make me most uncomfortable, as they generally bring me the greatest success. Lastly, thank you to my family. To my parents, Tim and Terry Meister, my aunt Mary Beth Selbitschka and my grandfather Chuck Selbitschka, for always supporting my dreams, for loving me and my children and for providing financial support as I continue my education.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS                             |
|--|
| LIST OF TABLES                               |
| LIST OF FIGURESX                             |
| 1 INTRODUCTION                               |
| 1.1 Specific Aims                            |
| 2 BACKGROUND                                 |
| 2.1 Electronic cigarettes                    |
| 2.2 Cardiopulmonary conditions               |
| 2.3 Regulation of endothelial function       |
| 2.4 Cell-derived sources of oxidative stress |
| 2.4.1 NADPH oxidases1                        |
| 2.4.2 Mitochondrial ROS14                    |
| 2.4.3 Xanthine oxidase                       |
| 2.4.4 Inducible nitric oxide synthase10      |
| 2.5 Inflammatory signaling1'                 |
| 2.5.1 NF-кB signaling cascade1               |
| 2.5.2 MAPK signaling                         |
| 2.6 Compensatory mechanisms                  |
| 2.6.1 Silent information regulator 1         |

|   | 2.6.2        | Nuclear factor E2-related factor 2                              | 22 |
|---|--------------|---|----|
|   | 2.6.3        | Antioxidant enzymes   | 23 |
|   | 2.7 E        | E-Cigarettes in cardiopulmonary conditions                      | 25 |
|   | 2.8 V        | ascular effects of e-cigarettes                                 | 27 |
|   | 2.9 D        | Dietary polyphenols   | 29 |
|   | 2.9.1        | Classifications of polyphenols                                  | 29 |
|   | 2.9.2        | Polyphenol metabolism   | 31 |
|   | 2.9.3        | Blackberry polyphenols  | 32 |
|   | 2.10 P       | olyphenols as therapeutic options in cardiopulmonary conditions | 35 |
| 3 | PRE          | ELIMINARY DATA  | 40 |
|   | 3.1 <i>I</i> | n vivo data   | 40 |
| 4 | ME           | THODS   | 42 |
|   | 4.1 R        | Reagents  | 42 |
|   | 4.2 <i>I</i> | n vivo experiments  | 43 |
|   | 4.2.1        | Animal care   | 43 |
|   | 4.2.2        | E-cigarette vapor exposure                                      | 44 |
|   | 4.2.3        | Blood pressure measurements                                     | 45 |
|   | 4.2.4        | Echocardiography  | 45 |
|   | 4.2.5        | Bronchoalveolar lavage fluid analysis                           | 46 |
|   | 4.2.6        | Nitric oxide assay  | 46 |

|   | <b>4.2.</b> 7 | Ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP) assay4                               | 16 |
|---|---------------|---|----|
|   | 4.2.8         | Protein expression analysis in lung, heart and aorta                          | 17 |
|   | 4.2.9         | Immunohistochemistry (IHC)4   | 17 |
|   | 4.3 <i>I</i>  | <i>n vitro</i> experiments  | 18 |
|   | 4.3.1         | Blackberry polyphenol extraction4   | 18 |
|   | 4.3.2         | Cell culture experiments 4  | 18 |
|   | 4.3.3         | Cell viability assay 4  | 19 |
|   | 4.3.4         | ROS measurement4  | 19 |
|   | 4.3.5         | NO measurement  | 19 |
|   | 4.3.6         | Glutathione measurement5  | 50 |
|   | 4.3.7         | Quantitative PCR for mRNA expression analysis in HMVECs5                      | 50 |
|   | 4.3.8         | Protein expression analysis in HMVECs5  | 51 |
|   | 4.4 S         | tatistical Analysis5  | 51 |
|   | 4.4.1         | Sample size analysis5   | 51 |
|   | 4.4.2         | Data analyses5  | 51 |
| 5 | RES           | SULTS   | 53 |
|   | 5.1 B         | ody weight and food intake5   | 53 |
|   | 5.2 C         | Chronic e-cigarette exposure does not impact blood pressure in mice5          | 53 |
|   | 5.3 B         | lackberries reduce oxidative stress through attenuating iNOS and XO expressio | n  |
|   | ••            | 5   | 54 |

| 5.4   | Blackberry increases NO bioavailability through activation of aortic eNOS 57              |
|-------|---|
| 5.5   | Blackberry reduces e-cigarette-induced O2 <sup></sup> production and improves glutathione |
|       | levels in endothelial cells59   |
| 5.6   | Blackberries prevent the e-cigarette-induced decrease in NO bioavailability 63            |
| 5.7   | Blackberry cannot defend against the inflammatory response induced by e-                  |
|       | cigarettes in endothelial cells65   |
| 5.8   | Blackberries are not protective against e-cigarette-induced expression of pro-            |
|       | oxidant and inflammatory mediators in the lung68  |
| 5.9   | Blackberries do not increase expression of cytoprotective enzymes in the lung of e-       |
|       | cigarette exposed mice 69   |
| 5.10  | Impact of e-cigarettes in the functional capacity of the heart                            |
| 5.11  | Blackberries are not protective against detrimental changes in redox signaling            |
|       | induced by e-cigarette exposure in the left ventricle73                                   |
| 5.12  | Blackberries provide some cardiac cellular protection by increasing certain               |
|       | antioxidant enzymes75   |
| 6 I   | DISCUSSION  |
| 7 (   | CONCLUSION 88   |
| REFER | ENCES   |

# LIST OF TABLES

| Table 1. Macro and micronutrient content of blackberry. | . 33 |
|---|------|
| Table 2. Polyphenol content in blackberry.              | . 34 |
| Table 3. Primer sequences used in qPCR                  | . 51 |

# LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 1. Regulation of NO production in the endothelial cell                                       |
|---|
| Figure 2. Regulation of redox sensitive inflammatory signaling in the endothelial cell 20           |
| Figure 3. Polyphenol classifications  |
| Figure 4. Metabolism of blackberry polyphenols through first pass and microbial                     |
| metabolism  |
| Figure 5. Blackberry consumption decreases systolic and diastolic blood pressure (SBP and           |
| DBP, respectively) in Ang II treated mice   |
| Figure 6. Blackberry reduces NOX2 and NOX4 in Ang II infused rats                                   |
| Figure 7. Overall experimental design   |
| Figure 8. Chronic e-cigarette exposure does not affect blood pressure                               |
| Figure 9. Blackberries mitigate e-cigarette-induced vascular oxidative stress                       |
| Figure 10. Blackberries enhance systemic NO bioavailability by increasing p-eNOS <sup>ser1177</sup> |
| expression in the aorta   |
| Figure 11. Blackberries prevent O2 <sup></sup> production in HMVECs                                 |
| Figure 12. Blackberries protect against cellular e-cigarette-induced oxidative stress 63            |
| Figure 13. Blackberry improves NO bioavailability in e-cigarette condensate treated                 |
| HMVECs  |
| Figure 14. Blackberries do not prevent t e-cigarette condensate-induced inflammatory                |
| signaling in HMVECs67   |
| Figure 15. Blackberries do not mitigate e-cigarette-induced changes in the lung                     |
| Figure 16. Blackberries do not provide cytoprotective value in the lung of e-cigarette exposed      |
| <b>mice</b>   |

| Figure | <b>7. Changes in cardiac functional parameters induced by e-cigarette exposure</b> 73 |
|--------|---|
| Figure | 18. Blackberries are not protective against detrimental e-cigarette-induced redox     |
|        | hanges74  |
| Figure | 19. Blackberries provide some cellular protective in the left ventricle by increasing |
|        | ntioxidant enzymes76  |
| Figure | 20. Mechanism through which blackberries reduce oxidative burden induced by e-        |
|        | igarettes in the vasculature  |

#### **1 INTRODUCTION**

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the leading cause of death in the United States (U.S.) with chronic respiratory illnesses, such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) as the third leading cause of death (1). Interestingly, approximately 20% of patients with COPD, have coexisting CVD (1). Risk factors and clinical outcomes of these conditions often overlap. Lung dysfunction has been linked to an increased risk of CVD-related mortality and those with chronic lung disease are at an increased risk of developing cardiovascular conditions such as cardiac ischemia, coronary artery disease (CAD) and heart failure (2). Cigarette smoking is considered the single most important risk factor for cardiopulmonary diseases. Though smoking prevalence in the U.S. has decreased over the past 50 years, there have been substantial increases, up to 900% in the past 5 years, in the use of electronic cigarettes (e-cigarettes) (3). E-cigarettes are devices which deliver vaporized nicotine to the lungs and their use has been shown to induce oxidative stress and inflammation in vitro (4, 5) and in several animal models (6, 7). In humans, exposure to e-cigarettes results in an acute rise in blood pressure (BP) (8-10), heart rate (HR) (11) and pulse wave velocity (PWV) (11, 12) suggestive of an impaired vascular response. E-cigarettes can also increase plasma levels of myeloperoxidase (MPO), indicative of systemic oxidative stress (13). However, given their recent arrival on the market, long-term contributions of e-cigarette use to cardiopulmonary disease pathogenesis, risk, and mortality, require further investigation.

Oxidative stress, due to increased reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation through upregulation of pro-oxidant enzymes such as NADPH-oxidases (NOX), is associated with the pathogenesis of cardiac and respiratory conditions. Oxidative stress-induced endothelial dysfunction occurs early in cardiopulmonary conditions (14). The primary cause of endothelial dysfunction is a reduction in nitric oxide (NO) often resulting from reduction in endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) activity, or by an increase in superoxide ( $O_2$ ) production which contributes to a decrease in NO bioavailability through the production of peroxynitrite (ONOO-). Endothelial dysfunction is an early prognostic indicator for hypertension (HTN), a modifiable risk factor for cardiopulmonary conditions (15). As e-cigarettes have been shown to contribute to increased oxidative stress, this is likely a mechanism through which they lead to endothelial dysfunction and may drive chronic cardiopulmonary conditions. Therefore, mechanisms aimed at reducing cellular and systemic oxidative stress may be a therapeutic option for e-cigarette-induced cardiopulmonary conditions, especially those arising from vascular dysfunction.

Berries are a rich source of polyphenols, naturally occurring bioactive compounds which can increase enzymatic antioxidant activity. Blackberries have a rich polyphenolic profile; however, research has focused on individual polyphenols in berries rather than synergistic or additive effects elicited by whole food consumption. Polyphenols such as gallic acid (16) and *p*coumaric acid (17), exhibit beneficial effects on the airway in models of chronic lung disease. *P*coumaric acid, reduced inflammatory mediators in the lung and preserved lung architecture in a model of cigarette smoke-induced COPD (17). Similarly, gallic acid has been indicated to protect the heart from damage induced by lung disease through decreasing systemic inflammation and oxidative stress (18). Similarly, intake of anthocyanins, found in significant amounts in blackberries, is correlated with a slower decline in lung function (19). Currently, there is no evidence related to the potential for dietary polyphenols to mitigate e-cigarette-induced oxidative stress and consequent cardiopulmonary conditions.

Based on prior evidence, we aim to utilize whole blackberries to mitigate comorbid multiorgan dysfunction and molecular changes in redox signaling induced by chronic e-cigarette vapor exposure. The chief goal of this study is to determine the potential for blackberries to attenuate the deleterious effects of e-cigarette vapor exposure on respiratory, cardiac, and vascular cellular and functional parameters. Additionally, we aim to determine the contribution of e-cigarettes to endothelial dysfunction and to evaluate the ability of blackberries to alleviate these detrimental effects.

# 1.1 Specific Aims

Specific Aim 1. Determine the effectiveness of blackberry in preventing multi-organ and systemic e-cigarette-induced oxidative stress. Mice were fed a diet supplemented with 5% blackberry for four weeks after which they began e-cigarette exposure for 12 weeks. Following the experimental treatment period, changes in cardiovascular function were assessed by echocardiography and tissues were excised for further analysis. Changes at the transcriptional and translational level in the lung, heart, and aorta were assessed by qPCR and western blot, respectively. Furthermore, localized changes in protein expression were assessed in the lung and aorta by immunohistochemistry.

Specific Aim 2. Evaluate the potential of blackberry to mitigate e-cigarette-induced endothelial oxidative stress and related dysfunction. Human microvascular endothelial cells were treated with blackberry extract and e-cigarette condensate to evaluate the potential of blackberry to mitigate endothelial dysfunction through measuring  $O_2$  and NO production, as well as evaluating cellular changes in NO-related signaling. To associate with *in vivo* results, serum concentrations of NO metabolites were quantified, and blood pressure was assessed in mice from Aim 1.

# 2 BACKGROUND

#### 2.1 Electronic cigarettes

As the dangers of conventional cigarette use have become widely accepted, e-cigarettes, arriving on the market in 2007, have attracted attention as a substitute. E-cigarettes are devices which produce vaporized liquid, for inhalation, composed of propylene glycol or glycerol, flavorings, nicotine, and other additives. Several types of e-cigarette devices exist, device types are often categorized as "open" or "closed". Open systems are generally rechargeable and refillable with e-liquid while closed systems are not rechargeable and use cartridges only. The Population Assessment of Tobacco and Health study indicates 53.7% of e-cigarette users prefer the open system. Evidence from this study also indicates e-cigarette users tend to be male (55.2%) and are primarily white (71.1%) (20). It is also well established that many e-cigarette users are also current users of combustible tobacco products, (58.9%) with only 17.3% having never used conventional cigarettes.

As a wide variety of e-liquids exist, several investigations have assessed flavor and nicotine preferences in e-cigarette users. Extensive literature reviews indicate young consumers prefer fruit flavored or sweet flavors, while adult users, men in particular, utilize the tobacco flavor most often (21). Interestingly, additive flavorings are also perceived as being less harmful; yet flavored compounds are known to cause harmful effects (21, 22). For example, evaluation of the effects of device types and flavorings in H292 bronchial epithelial cells showed strawberry flavor to be most harmful in terms of decreasing cell viability and dramatically increasing levels of inflammatory mediators such as interleukin (IL)-1 $\beta$ , IL-10, chemokine ligand (CXCL)1 and CXCL10 (22). These inflammatory mediators are known to be involved in the onset and progression of chronic lung conditions. Different effects are often observed in relation to the e-cigarette product type (e.g.,

disposable, rechargeable, etc.), battery output voltage, as well as the nicotine concentration. The most commonly used rechargeable devices, do not impact cell viability in the same manner as vape pens (e.g., eGo) or vaporizer products; however, do mediate a significant inflammatory response in lung epithelial cells (22). Subsequently, battery voltage, often adjustable by the user, correlates with decreased cell viability and increased levels of inflammatory cytokines (22). Thus, variable effects of e-cigarette use have been demonstrated and replicating typical human use patterns in animal studies serves as a design challenge for researchers.

E-cigarettes were previously considered a safer alternative to traditional cigarettes and were marketed as an aid in smoking cessation; hence, many users adapt the behavior as such. While studies have identified a decreased in carcinogenic nitrosamine concentration in e-cigarette vapor compared to cigarette smoke (23), further analysis of vapor generated by a variety of types of ecigarette devices show the presence of toxic carbonyls including formaldehyde, acetaldehyde, and acrolein (24). Furthermore, studies have reported presence of traces of nitrosamines, dependent on the type of e-cigarette device utilized; thus, their detrimental effects are not null (24). While the levels of toxic compounds present in e-cigarette vapor may be lower than the conventional cigarette, evidence points to the potential danger associated with use of these devices. Most notably, outbreaks of e-cigarette or vaping product use-associated lung injury (EVALI) were reported throughout the U.S. in 2019 (25). Of the approximate 2,800 patients hospitalized with EVALI, 82% reported using a product containing tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) and vitamin E acetate (26). Since this outbreak, regulation of e-cigarettes has tightened and prevalence of EVALI has decreased significantly. Individuals with EVALI present with fever, hypoxemia, elevated serum markers of inflammation as well as elevated neutrophil presence in the sputum (25). Surgical lung biopsy points to the presence of diffuse alveolar damage, interstitial edema and

fibrosis in patients with EVALI (27). Long-term impacts and prognosis of EVALI is unknown, subsequently, long-term effects of e-cigarette use are unknown and epidemiological evidence will take decades to exist. Additionally, given the variety of types of e-cigarettes, human use patterns and the differences in dual use patterns, generating animal data which mirrors human e-cigarette exposure is difficult. However, given the short-term detrimental effects documented and *in vitro* mechanistic evidence, there is potential that long-term effects may be similarly deleterious and should be investigated. Specific contributions of e-cigarettes to inflammation and oxidative stress in cardiopulmonary conditions will be discussed in detail.

# 2.2 Cardiopulmonary conditions

Chronic respiratory conditions, most prominently COPD, are the third leading cause of death in the U.S. (28). COPD is a heterogenous condition characterized by limitations in expiratory airflow, emphysematous destruction, and chronic bronchitis resulting from mucus hypersecretion driven by an underlying, aberrant oxidative stress response (29). Patients with COPD experience symptoms such as dyspnea, chronic cough, and excessive sputum production. The gold standard for diagnosis of COPD and management of its trajectory is spirometry in which forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV<sub>1</sub>), forced vital capacity (FVC), and the FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC ratio are the main criteria evaluated (30). Chronic lung conditions are often associated with chronic comorbidities and coexistent conditions including CVD, pulmonary hypertension, diabetes, osteoporosis and certain cancers (31). Coexistent CVD offers the highest risk of mortality in patients with mild and moderate chronic lung disease (32). The coexistence of CVD and chronic lung disease is well recognized and while clinical outcomes are well understood, the physiological contributions have not been fully elucidated. Cardiovascular conditions generally associated with chronic lung diseases, such as COPD, include right ventricle dysfunction, pulmonary hypertension and CAD (33).

Use of traditional cigarettes is considered the major risk factor for development of chronic lung conditions such as COPD and clear associations with CVD including incidence of myocardial infarction and CAD also exist (34). While the lung is the primary target organ, inhaled contaminants are not fully metabolized by the lung and therefore enter systemic circulation exerting effects beyond the respiratory system. Thus, the effects of cigarette use are known to contribute to vasomotor dysfunction (35), endothelial dysfunction (36) and the systemic inflammatory and oxidative stress response. As the use of cigarettes declines and e-cigarette usage becomes more prevalent, studies investigating their effects on cardiopulmonary conditions are needed. Studies assessing the exact pathogenesis of cardiopulmonary-related conditions induced by e-cigarettes are small in number, evidence presented demonstrates effects including acute elevations in BP (37) and markers of endothelial dysfunction (38), as well as changes in lung and heart function (39). The contribution of e-cigarettes to the development of chronic lung conditions and the associated CVD risk remains understudied. Specifically, mechanisms through which ecigarettes impact these systems at a molecular level are unknown and require further investigation. Of particular interest is the role endothelial dysfunction plays in the development of e-cigaretteinduced cardiovascular and pulmonary conditions as this vascular condition often represents an early prognostic indicator of disease and is a direct result of deregulated redox-signaling.

#### 2.3 Regulation of endothelial function

The endothelium is made up of a single layer of cells lining the lumen of blood vessels in the macro and microvasculature throughout the cardiovascular system. The blood vessels are involved in the regulation of vascular resistance and maintenance through vasodilating and

vasoconstricting factors. Endothelial cells themselves mediate functions of vascular homeostasis with NO chiefly responsible for maintaining vascular health and acting as the primary vasodilator. As demonstrated in Figure 1, NO is produced by endothelial NO synthase (eNOS), constitutively expressed in the endothelium, when eNOS is phosphorylated at Ser<sup>1177</sup> (p-eNOS<sup>ser1177</sup>), a regulatory phosphorylation site. NO then diffuses into the underlying smooth muscle layer inducing vasodilation by stimulating soluble guanylyl cyclase in vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs). Phosphorylation of eNOS at Ser<sup>1177</sup> is activated in a phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) dependent mechanism by vascular growth factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and/or insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-1. Moreover, upon growth factor stimulation, PI3K facilitates the phosphorylation of protein kinase B (PKB/Akt) at Thr<sup>308</sup> and Ser<sup>473</sup> rendering it active for phosphorylation of its downstream targets, including eNOS. Akt is then dephosphorylated by protein phosphatases, including protein phosphatase 2A. PI3K/Aktdependent activation of eNOS not only plays a role in growth factor activated signaling, but also is required for the cellular response to shear stress (40). In fact, inhibition of PI3K with wortmannin completely blocked shear stress-induced production of NO in human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) (40), demonstrating the importance of these kinases in NO production and vascular health. Interestingly, the PI3K/Akt/eNOS axis has also been shown to have protective effects outside of the circulatory system. For example, in a mouse model of acute lung injury activation of PI3K/Akt/eNOS signaling resulted in decreased lung permeability, an effect lost in mice treated with wortmannin (41), demonstrating the importance of this pathway in vascular health beyond the microvasculature.



Figure 1. Regulation of NO production in the endothelial cell.

NO has other properties which participate in maintaining vascular health, including prevention of leukocyte migration and adhesion, and inhibition of VSMC proliferation (42). Therefore, reduction in NO production or a decrease in NO bioavailability may result in an impaired vasodilation and overall reduction in vascular health, resulting in endothelial dysfunction. Endothelial dysfunction can result from the uncoupling of eNOS, a phenomenon where eNOS becomes dysfunctional and produces  $O_2^{\bullet}$  more rapidly than NO (43). Ultimately, eNOS uncoupling results in the reduced bioavailability of NO and endothelial dysfunction. eNOS uncoupling may result from a decrease in essential enzyme substrates, such as L-arginine or tetrahydrobiopterin (BH<sub>4</sub>) which can be oxidized by ROS, or post-translational modifications shifting the function of the enzyme (44). Endothelial dysfunction is evident as a contributing factor to a variety of cardiovascular pathologies including HTN and atherosclerosis. For example, endothelium-dependent relaxation in the aorta was markedly decreased in several rat models of

HTN including in spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHRs), DOCA-salt sensitive hypertensive rat and HTN induced by renal artery stenosis (45). Similarly, endothelial dysfunction drives the atherosclerotic phenotype as excessive  $O_2^{\bullet}$  production results in an increase in low-density lipoprotein (LDL) oxidation (46).

Sustained oxidative stress leads to a decrease in substrate availability for eNOS, resulting in a shift in the eNOS pathway ultimately increasing ROS production and decreasing NO production. In inflammatory conditions, NO is produced in pathological amounts alongside production  $O_2^{-}$ , driving production of the highly reactive ONOO<sup>-</sup> (47). Oxidative stress will be discussed in detail throughout this literature review. Moreover, the contribution of e-cigarettes to oxidative stress and how this may contribute to endothelial dysfunction will be reviewed.

#### 2.4 Cell-derived sources of oxidative stress

Oxidative stress, defined as a shift in the balance between oxidants and antioxidants in the favor of oxidants, is a driving force in chronic cardiopulmonary conditions. In mammalian cells, there are a number of enzymatic sources of ROS including mitochondrial respiration, xanthine oxidase (XO), NADPH oxidases (NOXs), NO synthases and others (48). Traditionally, ROS are oxygen-derived small molecules which possess unpaired electrons and therefore are considered to be free radicals. These include,  $O_2^{+}$ , the hydroxyl radical (HO+), NO+ and lipid radicals. Other ROS exist such as hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) and ONOO<sup>-</sup> that contribute to oxidative stress but are not classified as free radicals. While ROS production is an essential part of cell functioning, excessive endogenous ROS can contribute to damage at the cellular and tissue level and contribute to pathological conditions. Lipid peroxidation is one consequence of oxidative stress where free radicals react with polyunsaturated fatty acids within the cell membrane leading to membrane damage and ultimately cell death. Subsequent pathological consequences of lipid peroxidation

exist. Malondialdehyde (MDA) and 4-hydroxy-2-noneal (4-HNE), end products of peroxidation, are known to be mutagenic and carcinogenic in mammals (49, 50). MDA and 4-HNE are known to be elevated in the lung epithelium and endothelium of patients with COPD and correlate with disease severity (51). In addition, ROS can drive the activation of several inflammatory pathways which will be discussed further. Oxidative stress is a clear pathological contributor to cardiopulmonary conditions. The mechanisms through which ROS are generated and their contribution to cardiopulmonary conditions will be further described below.

#### 2.4.1 NADPH oxidases

NOX enzymes have the essential function to reduce molecular oxygen to  $O_2^{-}$ , or  $H_2O_2$  in the case of NOX4, by the transfer of electrons from NADPH and under normal physiological conditions are expressed at relatively low levels. A number of NOX isoforms exist with a variety of tissue distributions dependent on cell type (48). The members of the NOX family (NOX 1-5) are all transmembrane, proteins with conserved structural components including a complete electron transferring apparatus that acts to transport electrons across the cell membrane resulting in the reduction of  $O_2$  to  $O_2^{-}$ . The first discovered phagocytic type of NOX, NOX2, consists of two membrane bound subunits, gp<sup>91phox</sup> and p22<sup>phox</sup> which form with cytosolic subunits p40<sup>phox</sup>, p47<sup>phox</sup>, and p67<sup>phox</sup> for activation (52). NOX2 is the most widely distributed NOX isoform and has been shown to be transcriptionally activated by inflammatory cytokines and angiotensin (Ang) II, as well as regulated at a posttranscriptional level (48). NOX2 homologues have been discovered but are known to act in a non-phagocytic manner to produce O<sub>2</sub><sup>•</sup> or H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. NOX1 was the second to NOX2 homolog to be discovered. NOX1 is highly expressed in the colonic epithelium but can also be found in the endothelium and in VSMCs. NOX4 is another NOX isoform that is less closely related to NOX2. NOX4 is highly expressed in the kidney but is also found in VSMCs, fibroblasts

and endothelial cells. NOX4 activation is induced in response to cellular stresses such as hypoxia, sheer stress, tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$  stimulation and Ang II among others (48). NOX4 is unique in that it has been shown to contribute to H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> production rather than O<sub>2</sub><sup>•</sup> (53). Less is known about the cellular role of NOX5 due to its recent discovery in 2001. However, mRNA expression of NOX5 has been described in VSMCs, pancreas, testes, and various fetal tissues. Given the role of NOX isoforms in producing ROS, their role in pathological and non-pathological conditions has been extensively explored.

Within the lung, NOX enzymes are widely distributed with major roles in the inflammatory cells and structural cell types, including the epithelial cells, endothelial cells and lung fibroblasts (54). Specifically, NOX4 is the primary isoform expressed in lung fibroblasts and mediates transforming growth factor (TGF)- $\beta$  differentiation (55). As such, NOX4 has been suggested as a potential target in the pathogenesis of lung fibrosis as NOX4 is highly expressed in the alveolar epithelial cells and vascular endothelium of fibrotic lungs (56). In a mouse model of bleomycininduced lung fibrosis, NOX4-deficient mice developed pulmonary fibrosis to a lesser extent compared to wild-type mice, speculated to be due to a decreased accumulation of myofibroblasts, known to be activated by TGF- $\beta$  signaling (56). Similar results were seen *in vitro* where NOX4 was necessary for  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin (SMA) expression, a myofibroblast marker, as well as H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> production (57). In addition to their roles in pulmonary fibrosis, NOX2 and NOX4 have been implicated in pulmonary HTN. In hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertensive mice, NOX4 expression was increased in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells and targeted knockdown of NOX4 in this condition resulted in suppressed pulmonary artery smooth muscle cell proliferation (52). Additionally, NOX2-deficient mice exposed to cigarette smoke, demonstrated reduced ROS generation (58), though conflicting evidence reports NOX2-deficient mice are not protected from

cigarette smoke-induced emphysema despite decreased ROS production (59). NOX2 involvement in ROS production in acute or chronic lung inflammation is recognized due to its location on infiltrating immune cells such as monocytes, macrophages, and granulocytes potentially contributing to pro-inflammatory signaling (54). In the case of chronic lung conditions, macrophage and neutrophil numbers are increased and these cells, in addition to epithelial cells, are able to generate ROS via NOX in higher amounts compared to healthy individuals further contributing to the oxidative state (60).

Accumulating evidence supports NOX isoforms as the primary source of ROS in various cardiovascular conditions. While NOX4 appears to be the predominant NOX isoform in endothelial cells, the other isoforms have been identified within the vasculature (48). The role of NOX isoforms in the vasculature is complex and dependent on vessel location, function, and cell type. However, NOX-derived ROS has been implicated in a variety of vascular pathophysiology including HTN (61-63), atherosclerosis (64-66) and diabetes (67). For example, *Nox1, Nox2 and Nox4* mRNA expression were elevated in the aorta of Ang II-induced hypertensive rats (68). Furthermore, vascular NOX aids in maintenance of BP through ROS generation causing an interruption in NO availability. As such, an overproduction of ROS can result in impaired vasodilation and endothelial dysfunction (69). In a model of vascular dysfunction in obese rats, non-specific inhibition of NOX by apocynin resulted in a reduction in  $O_2^+$  production and relative improvements in acetylcholine-dependent relaxation were seen with a NOX2 specific inhibitor (Nox2ds-tat), indicting the contribution of NOX, specifically NOX2 in this case, in arterial endothelial dysfunction (70).

In the heart, production of ROS is low in basal conditions. Cardiomyocytes, endothelial cells, and inflammatory cells contribute to ROS production in pathological conditions. NOX2 levels have been shown to be elevated in ischemia, leading to apoptosis of cardiomyocytes (71). Similarly, NOX2 expression is elevated in individuals with CAD, coinciding with an increase in ROS production (72). Furthermore, Ang II-induced hypertrophy appears to be dependent on NOX2-ROS generation (73). Therefore, excessive NOX-derived ROS may be a major contributing factor in the oxidative stress response and resulting pathological conditions.

#### 2.4.2 Mitochondrial ROS

Mitochondria mediate oxidative phosphorylation via electron transport through four complexes as a means to generate ATP and reduce molecular oxygen (O<sub>2</sub>) to water. ROS, namely  $O_2^{\bullet}$  and  $H_2O_2$  are generated as byproducts of oxidative phosphorylation. During electron transport, electrons leak and interact with O<sub>2</sub> to form O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> during complex I and III. Mitochondrial dysfunction results in the overproduction of these reactive intermediates contributing to the pathogenesis of multiple conditions. Dysfunction in the mitochondria and an overproduction of mitochondrial ROS can be due to a lowered redox potential, as is the case in hypoxic conditions or increased oxidation such as the case of a high-fat diet (74). Other ROS producers, such as NOX isoforms discussed previously, can drive mitochondrial ROS production. For example, an increase in NOX4 expression results in an upregulation of mitochondrial ROS production which can be normalized when NOX4 is downregulated (75). ROS generation as a consequence of energy production is especially relevant in lung pathophysiology due to the multiple cell types found in the lung. The lung contains nearly 40 different cell types, of which, the epithelial cells, alveolar type II cells and secretory club cells are the most highly active and therefore are rich in mitochondria (54). Cigarette smoke has been linked to disruption in oxidative phosphorylation leading to an overproduction of mitochondrial ROS (76). Similarly, e-cigarettes have been shown to induce mitochondrial dysfunction which may induce impairment in both respiratory and/or cardiac function (77).

# 2.4.3 Xanthine oxidase

Xanthine oxidoreductase, the rate-limiting enzyme in the conversion of hypoxanthine to xanthine and xanthine to urate, the end product of purine metabolism. Xanthine oxidoreductase exists in two forms as xanthine dehydrogenase and XO. XO generates  $O_2^{-}$ ,  $H_2O_2$  and  $HO^{-}$  with xanthine dehydrogenase having greater affinity for NAD<sup>+</sup> and therefore less likely to generate ROS (78). Large variability exists in the expression levels of XO; however, expression is elevated in response to hypoxic conditions, pro-inflammatory cytokines and lipopolysaccharide (LPS) treatment (79). Post-translational modifications resulting in increased activity levels of XO has been shown to be involved in the pathogenesis of several cardiopulmonary conditions and administration of its inhibitors, oxypurinol and/or allopurinol, results in the improvement of several conditions. It is well established that patients with COPD have increased in XO activity in their sputum (80) and bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid (81, 82). XO activity levels correlated with TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 concentrations in BAL fluid of COPD patients, which was negatively associated with lung function measured by % FEV<sub>1</sub> (82). Furthermore, treatment with allopurinol in COPD patients results in decreased XO activity as well as a reduction in nitrotyrosine (NT), likely due to inhibition of ONOO<sup>-</sup> formation (83). Activity of XO may also be controlled by phosphorylation. For example, hypoxic conditions induce phosphorylation of XO, which appears to be regulated by p38, a stress-activated kinase, in pulmonary microvascular endothelial cells (84). Treatment with e-cigarette vapor and tobacco smoke extracts results in an increased H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> production by XO in Kupffer cells (85), indicating the potential pathological role of XO in ecigarette-mediated oxidative stress responses.

Studies have shown the involvement of XO in endothelial function in a multitude of conditions including heart failure (86), hypercholesterolemia (87) and type 2 diabetes (88).

Furthermore, acute administration of allopurinol in cigarette smokers resulted in improved endothelial function, as measured by forearm blood flow responses, to the level of healthy control individuals (89), indicative of the substantial role of XO in oxidative stress-related endothelial dysfunction in cigarette users. Effects of XO inhibition by tungsten in SHRs resulted in improvements in arterial BP and arteriolar tone suggesting the enzyme's role in contributing to HTN (90). Interestingly, administration of oxypurinol did not improve endothelial vasodilator function of patients with HTN suggesting another mechanism through which  $O_2^{\bullet}$  diminishes NO bioavailability or a non-NO-related mechanism of action (87).

#### 2.4.4 Inducible nitric oxide synthase

As previously discussed, NO is produced by various NOS isoforms including neuronal NOS (nNOS), eNOS and inducible NOS (iNOS) through catalyzing the oxygen-and reduced NADPH-dependent oxidation of L-arginine. eNOS and nNOS are constitutively expressed under normal physiological conditions and operate under a calcium-dependent mechanism producing nanomolar amounts of NO over short periods of time (91). In contrast, iNOS acts independent of calcium and its expression and activity is often considered a marker of the inflammatory process and is known to trigger apoptosis and necrosis in neighboring cells when upregulated (91, 92). iNOS is generally under transcriptional control of specific regulatory transcription factors including nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF- $\kappa$ B) and activation of signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT)-1a, which is activated in stress conditions, inflammatory cytokines, NOXs, microbes, LPS, etc., (91). When activated, iNOS produces pathological amounts of NO and facilitates production of the highly reactive ONOO<sup>-</sup>. iNOS also drives side-by-side production of O2<sup>+</sup> (47), further exacerbating ONOO<sup>-</sup> production and increasing overall oxidative burden. iNOS not only drives pathological production of NO and O2<sup>+</sup>.

but also induces nuclear translocation of NF- $\kappa$ B, resulting in promotion of the expression of adhesion molecules and inflammatory cytokines, which further drive iNOS transcription and potentiate the inflammatory response (93, 94).

Several studies have demonstrated the increased expression of iNOS in association with impairments in endothelial and cardiac function. More specifically, in streptozotocin (STZ)-treated rats, iNOS and NT expression correlated with the duration of diabetes, measured in weeks, in both cardiac and aortic tissue (95). Expression levels were associated with impairments in endothelial function which was improved with iNOS inhibition. Interestingly, iNOS<sup>-/-</sup> mice have been shown to be protected from detrimental vascular effects of cigarette smoke as shown by reduced intimal thickening and vascular dysfunction compared to wild-type mice exposed to cigarette smoke (96). The involvement of iNOS in e-cigarette exposure-induced conditions is lacking and should be explored given its role in several chronic conditions.

#### 2.5 Inflammatory signaling

#### 2.5.1 NF-κB signaling cascade

NF-κB represents a group of inducible transcription factors which regulate the inflammatory response through mediating the induction of inflammatory genes. The NF-κB heterodimer (p50/p65) is generally sequestered in the cytoplasm by the inhibitor IκB kinase (IKK) complex which is composed of two catalytic subunits, IKKα and IKKβ and a regulatory subunit known as NF-κB essential modulator. IKK activation is triggered by inflammatory cytokines, growth factors, microbial compounds, and certain stress induced proteins. When activated, IKK phosphorylates downstream IκBα at two serine residues (Ser<sup>32</sup> and Ser<sup>36</sup>), triggering ubiquitindependent degradation of IκBα and allowing for translocation of NF-κB subunits (i.e., p65) to the nucleus where they mediate transcription of inflammatory genes. A multitude of molecules can

initiate the NF- $\kappa$ B signaling cascade. Classical NF- $\kappa$ B signaling is activated by stimulation of proinflammatory receptors such as specific cytokine receptors, TNF receptor for example, or pattern recognition receptors including the toll-like receptors (TLR).

Proteins involved in the oxidative stress response described above are heavily regulated by NF-kB. Specifically, NOX enzyme expression is induced by the NF-kB signaling cascade as are XO and iNOS (97, 98). Significant crosstalk exists between ROS and NF-κB where ROS activate NF- $\kappa$ B in some instances and in others acts to inhibit its action, actions which appear to be dependent on numerous factors such as cell type and redox state. For example, ROS accumulation contributes to oxidation of cystine residues on p50 causing a reduction in its DNA binding capability (99). Furthermore, sustained oxidative stress, through  $H_2O_2$  administration, results in a reduction in TNF- $\alpha$ -induced NF- $\kappa$ B activation due to an attenuation in I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  degradation (100). While oxidative stress can contribute to attenuated NF- $\kappa$ B signaling, it may also induce the regulatory signaling cascade. More specifically, in LPS-induced inflammation, NF-κB activation was dependent on ROS generation, whereas NOX4 inhibition blunted the NF-kB signaling cascade (101). Other *in vitro* studies have shown that  $H_2O_2$  prolongs the TNF- $\alpha$  inflammatory response in HeLa cells demonstrating the effect of ROS on the upregulation of inflammatory signaling (102). Additionally, administration of N-acetylcysteine, a cellular reductant, reduces TNF-induced NF- $\kappa B$  signaling and inhibits phosphorylation of regulatory subunits throughout the NF- $\kappa B$  signaling cascade (103). Overall, these findings suggest that redox-regulated NF-kB signaling is not straightforward and may be dependent on the stimulus, cell type, and the overall redox response. E-cigarette exposure has been shown to induce NF- $\kappa$ B activation in the lungs of wild-type mice as indicated by *ex vivo* luciferase imaging (104). Downstream release of IL-1 $\beta$  was also increased, in a dose-dependent manner, based on number of puff exposures in e-cigarette exposed mice. While

limited evidence exists in the association between e-cigarettes and specific inflammatory signaling, clear associations exist with traditional cigarette use and nicotine exposure in multiple systems and the involvement of NF- $\kappa$ B-signaling in e-cigarette induced conditions should be evaluated.

# 2.5.2 MAPK signaling

Inflammatory pathway signaling also involves the activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) pathways such as extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK), c-Jun amino-terminal kinases (JNK)/stress activated protein kinases (SAPK), and p38. The MAPK pathways regulate a multitude of cellular events such as cell proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis. Their pathways include three components including MAPKs, MAPK kinases (MAPKKs), and MAPKK kinases (MAPKKKs). MAPKKKs phosphorylate and activate MAPKKs which then go on to activate MAPKs through phosphorylation. MAPKs are conserved serine/threonine kinases which act to phosphorylate various proteins and transcription factors to regulate cellular function. Each MAPK undergoes phosphorylation, signaling activation, by their specific MAPKK kinases, ERK is activated by MEK1 and MEK2, p38 by MKK3 and MKK6 and SAPK/JNK is phosphorylated by SEK1 which is phosphorylated by MEK1. Growth factor stimulation can lead to the activation of ERK, JNK and p38. However, inflammatory cytokines and stress-related compounds are the primary activators of p38 and SAPK/JNK and therefore these MAPKs are more heavily involved in the inflammatory response. While often co-activated, the downstream effects of p38 and SAPK/JNK differ. Specifically, upon activation SAPK/JNK binds to and phosphorylates c-Jun, a central component of activating protein (AP)-1, at Ser<sup>63</sup> and Ser<sup>73</sup>. Upon protein-interaction and phosphorylation, c-Jun translocates and binds to AP-1 DNA sequences to induce gene expression of inflammatory mediators such as TNF-a and other inflammatory cytokines. SAPK/JNK and p38 can also contribute to AP-1 activation through promoting transcription of genes which encode AP-1 components. In addition to the activation of these pathways by inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ , ROS can also induce the expression of c-jun and induce the activity of JNK. *In vitro* these effects are mediated by antioxidant administration, ultimately reducing JNK phosphorylation and attenuating c-jun activity (105). As such, regulation and interaction of these aforementioned inflammatory pathways involves both inflammatory and pro-oxidant molecules and there is significant overlap in these two pathways which ultimately contribute to the mechanisms of chronic disease as shown in **Figure 2**.



Figure 2. Regulation of redox sensitive inflammatory signaling in the endothelial cell.

# 2.6 Compensatory mechanisms

# 2.6.1 Silent information regulator 1

Silent information regulator (SIRT)1 is a histone deacetylase, located in the cytoplasm and nucleus, which acts to deacetylate protein substrates within various signaling pathways in order to regulate cellular mechanisms such as the oxidative stress response and inflammatory stimulation (106). Regulatory transcription factors bind DNA regions to promote transcription of downstream products. They do so by tethering histone acetyltransferases, when these proteins are deacetylated, their binding is no longer as effective, and transcription of downstream genetic material is inhibited. As a histone deacetylase, SIRT1 has the ability to control transcriptional capabilities of regulatory proteins, such as NF- $\kappa$ B (107) and may also play a role in reducing NOX activity (108). Studies have also shown the interrelationship between SIRT1 and eNOS. Specifically, SIRT1 binds directly to eNOS, deacetylating at Lys<sup>496</sup> and Lys<sup>506</sup>, promoting activation and leading to an increase in NO production and improved vasorelaxation (109). Interestingly, SIRT1 expression is decreased in eNOS-deficient mice, demonstrating the interrelationship between the two proteins (110). While SIRT1 is most recognized for its involvement in longevity and in calorie restriction, it has also been shown to be involved redox signaling through increasing transcriptional activity of certain cytoprotective transcription factors. For example, evidence suggests SIRT1 plays a role in nuclear factor E2-related factor (NRF)2 activity (111), through deacetylation and its absence results in downregulation of NRF2 translocation and therefore a decrease in downstream products which help to modulate oxidative stress (112).

No current studies exist regarding the involvement of e-cigarettes in SIRT1 regulation. However, evidence shows that cigarette smoke induces a decrease in SIRT1 levels which in turn resulted in increased acetylation of eNOS, important in the induction of endothelial dysfunction
(113). The interrelationship between cigarette smoke and SIRT1 was also demonstrated in a model of cigarette smoke-induced models of pulmonary fibrosis where SIRT1 expression was decreased in response to cigarette smoke condensate exposure in lung fibroblasts, resulting in increased mitochondrial stress and increased markers of fibrogenesis (114). SIRT1 is protective in other models of airway remodeling, indicative of its multi-faceted role in multiple systems (115).

#### 2.6.2 Nuclear factor E2-related factor 2

NRF2 is a master transcription factor, belonging to the family of cap 'n' collar basic leucine zipper family, responsible for regulating expression of antioxidant enzymes. NRF2 is primarily located in the cytosol, bound by kelch-like ECH-associated protein (KEAP)1 complex, marking it for ubiquination and proteasomal degradation. However, in the presence of ROS, oxidative modifications of KEAP1 cysteine residues cause a conformational change and the release of NRF2 from the complex. NRF2 accumulation facilitates its translocation to the nucleus where it dimerizes with small Maf proteins and binds the antioxidant response element (ARE) region to induce transcription of antioxidant and phase II detoxification enzymes (116). NRF2 plays essential roles in protection against inflammation and oxidative stress through inducing expression of endogenous enzymes such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT), and glutathione peroxidase (GPx) as well as glutathione (GSH) biosynthetic enzymes.

Many studies have shown the impact of disrupted NRF2 action on the induction of several pulmonary inflammatory diseases (117-119). The expression of NRF2 and downstream proteins such as NAD(P)H quinone dehydrogenase 1 (NQO1), has been shown to be decreased in pulmonary macrophages of individuals with COPD and smokers (120). This suggests that dysregulation of NRF2 may contribute to the oxidant/antioxidant imbalance present in COPD.

The susceptibility of the lung to oxidative injury is potentially related to the activity of NRF2. Several models have identified NRF2 knock-out mice as being especially susceptible to the pathological effects of cigarette smoke (117-119). Rangasamy et al. exemplified the importance of NRF2 signaling in mitigation of oxidative stress in a model of cigarette smoke-induced emphysema (119). In this study, NRF2 deficient mice exhibited earlier onset of emphysema, a more pronounced bronchoalveolar inflammatory response, and enhanced alveolar oxidative stress compared to wild-type mice. Similarly, the protective role of NRF2 against fibrotic lung disease was exemplified in a model of bleomycin induced lung fibrosis (121) where fibrotic responses, marked by collagen accumulation, and pulmonary injury was significantly higher in NRF2 knockout mice. Under normal physiological conditions, NRF2 is upregulated to combat acute oxidative stress (122). However, in response to cigarette smoke and in patients with COPD there is a deficiency of NRF2 leading to impaired defenses (119). Though evidence on the effects of ecigarettes on NRF2 are non-existent, it is speculated that dysregulation of compensatory antioxidant mechanisms may contribute to the oxidative burden in chronic lung and vascular conditions.

## 2.6.3 Antioxidant enzymes

ROS levels are regulated by the balance between ROS-generating enzymes and antioxidant enzymes, such as SOD, CAT, and GPx. The major cellular defense against  $O_2^{\bullet}$  and ONOO- is a group of oxidoreductases known as SODs which act to catalyze the dismutation of  $O_2^{\bullet}$  to  $O_2$  and  $H_2O_2$  (123). Three isoforms of SOD exist, SOD1 (Cu/ZnSOD) is the major intracellular isoform located within the cytosol, SOD2 (MnSOD) is located within the mitochondrial matrix, and SOD3 (Cu/ZnSOD) exists extracellularly, while locations differ amongst the isoforms, the function of each is consistent (124). Numerous peroxidases exist and participate in the degradation of  $H_2O_2$  with CAT and GPx being the most profound. GPx and CAT are enzymes ubiquitously found that prevent oxidative damage by reducing  $H_2O_2$  to water and  $O_2$  with high efficiency (125). The GPx family relies heavily on GSH, found in high concentrations intracellularly but known to be decreased in pathological conditions such as CVD, chronic lung conditions and in response to cigarette smoke (126). GSH is an abundant antioxidant comprised of cysteine, glutamic acid, and glycine. GSH itself can act to reduce certain ROS, such as hypochlorous acid (HOCl) but its primary mode of defense is through its utilization for GPxs in reducing  $H_2O_2$  (127).

Other cytoprotective enzymes exist including heme-oxygenase (HO)-1 which acts to protect against damage in response to times of cellular stress such as inflammation or hypoxia both in multiple tissues including the lung and vasculature (128, 129). HO-1 transcription is regulated through NRF2 binding and is the rate-limiting enzyme in heme degradation leading to the production of ferrous iron (Fe<sup>2+</sup>), biliverdin, acting to form bilirubin a potent antioxidant, and carbon monoxide. HO-1 can also be regulated by other transcription factors such as NF- $\kappa$ B as well as MAPKs and AP-1 (130, 131); however cell specific differences exist in its stimulation (132). Interestingly, cigarette smoke-induced HO-1 expression was dependent on NRF2 translocation as well as ERK, JNK, and p38 activation based on siRNA studies in human tracheal smooth muscle cells (133). NQO1 is another downstream product of NRF2 signaling which functions in detoxification of quinones to aid in redox control (134). NQO1 has also been shown to act as a superoxide reductant; however, its activity is significantly lower than SODs and therefore is generally not classified as such. NQO1 expression and activity levels have been associated with cigarette smoke exposure in the lung of mice (135).

Cell types differ profoundly in their resistance to oxidative stress which may be impacted by the distribution of pro-oxidant and antioxidant distribution. Alveolar type II epithelial cells in the lung express SOD1 and CAT at exceptionally high levels and are therefore highly resistant to oxidative stress as opposed to alveolar type I epithelial cells are sensitive due to low expression levels (136). Dysregulation of the antioxidant systems and an inability to counteract ROS imbalance is a potential causative factor in chronic conditions. Levels of SOD show marked increases in patients with COPD, with an inverse correlation with  $FEV_1$ , while GPx levels remained within normal limits. These results point to the level of oxidative attack correlates with decline in lung function (137). GPx activity has been noted to be significantly decreased in the lungs of COPD patients and individuals who use cigarettes (138). Additionally, GPx1-deficient mice have elevated levels of inflammatory cells in the BAL fluid and increased levels matrix metalloproteinases (MMP)-9 and MMP-12, which are known to contribute to alveolar destruction and emphysema (139). Cigarette smoke exposure has also been shown to impact activity of antioxidant enzymes. For example, mice exposed to cigarette smoke had increased acetylation of SOD2 in the kidney, paralleled by decreases in SIRT3, leading to assumed deactivation of the enzyme (140). Limited evidence exists as to the antioxidant response resulting from e-cigarette exposure. One study demonstrated a trend towards decreased levels of CAT but did not reach significance (141). Evidence does suggest decreased levels of antioxidant capacity, by trolox equivalent antioxidant capacity (TEAC) assay, in the saliva of e-cigarette users, comparable to traditional cigarette users indicative of potential similar effects (142). Therefore, further investigation as to the impacts of e-cigarette use on the protective antioxidant system is needed.

### 2.7 E-Cigarettes in cardiopulmonary conditions

The number of harmful products in e-cigarette vapor are substantially lower compared to those found in the cigarette smoke (143). However, they do include carbonyls, nitrosamines, and harmful metals such as cadmium, nickel and lead (144). The contributions of e-cigarettes to ROS

generation, measured by dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate (DCFH-DA) reactivity, varies based on the type of heating element, flavorings/additives, humectant type and additives (i.e., flavorings) with highest levels generated from non-tobacco flavor additives (6). Oxidative stress through exogenous exposure, upregulation of pro-inflammatory and pro-oxidant pathways discussed above as well as an interruption in protective cellular mechanisms, all of which have been described above, contribute to the onset and progression of chronic cardiopulmonary conditions. As e-cigarettes are relatively new to the market, substantial evidence on their longterm use is lacking and many *in vitro* and *in vivo* models utilized do not represent a standardized e-cigarette treatment approach. The majority of current research demonstrates substantial acute effects of e-cigarette use. C57BL/6J mice exposed to e-cigarettes for 5 h per day over a three-day period, showed a marked increase in inflammatory markers, such as IL-6, monocyte chemoattractant protein (MCP)-1, and IL-1 $\beta$  (6). This was associated with a dramatic drop in intracellular glutathione levels in the lung. Similar results were observed in mice exposed to ecigarette vapor for three days and four weeks (145). In this study, mice exposed to e-cigarette vapor showed increases in lipid peroxidation both at three days and four weeks, along with increased IL-6 in the lung and an increase in airway hyperresponsiveness after four weeks of treatment. These results were comparable to effects seen in response to cigarette use (145). In humans, acute e-cigarette exposure causes a decrease in NO production in the lung, as individuals exposed to an acute dose of e-cigarette aerosol showed a decrease in exhaled NO following ecigarette exposure (146). Importantly, exhaled NO, correlated with an increased flow resistance measured by impulse oscillometry (146). While acute e-cigarette exposure is shown to induce inflammatory and pro-oxidant responses in the lung, the mechanisms behind this phenomenon remain unknown and the effects long-term have yet to be investigated.

Similarly, in the heart, short-term e-cigarette vapor exposure in mice contributed to an increase in heart rate and a modest decrease in ejection fraction (EF) without changes in markers of cardiac fibrosis (39). These results suggest that e-cigarette usage impacts systems beyond the lung tissue. E-cigarette exposure has been linked to multiorgan fibrosis due to changes in circulating systemic inflammatory proteins (37). In emphysema resistant CD-1 mice exposed to e-cigarette vapor for six months, a significant level of fibrosis was observed in ventricular tissue compared to air exposed animals (37). Importantly, mRNA expression of collagen-3 was observed after four weeks of daily e-cigarette exposure. This same group assessed systemic proteins which are known to modulate fibrotic tissue responses. Specifically, plasma levels of MMP-3, a protein which participates in the clearance of fibrosis, was decreased in animals undergoing daily e-cigarette exposure (37). Though the interrelationship between the respiratory and cardiovascular systems has been defined, it is still important to delineate the specific effects e-cigarettes are having on the heart itself.

#### 2.8 Vascular effects of e-cigarettes

Cigarette use is known to cause endothelial dysfunction (147), a risk factor for CVD and it has been hypothesized that use of e-cigarettes may also be associated with endothelial cell damage as a result of inflammatory and redox signaling. Most studies have focused on the acute effects of e-cigarette use with hemodynamic measures and measures of endothelial function and oxidative stress assessed over a time period post vaping session. For example, following e-cigarette exposure, SBP peaked 20 min after exposure, an effect that appeared to be mediated by nicotine (148). These results were in line with other studies where, following a e-cigarette use session, SBP and pulse wave velocity (PWV), a measure of aortic stiffness, increased for approximately 30 min post-exposure, but normalized by 60 min (149). In otherwise healthy individuals, e-cigarette vapor exposure increased flow-mediated dilation (FMD), a standard measure of endothelial function, flow-mediated constriction of the brachial artery and increased arterial stiffness measured by pulse transit time (38). Similarly, in e-cigarette users, FMD drops following acute use of e-cigarettes, an effect which was associated from an increase in systemic NOX2 activity post-exposure (150), suggesting the contribution of e-cigarette-induced oxidative stress to changes in endothelial function. In response to an e-cigarette vape session, C-reactive protein (CRP) levels, the intracellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)1 and circulating ROS, begin to peak 30 min post-use, peaking at 120 min, indicative of an inflammatory response (13). Interestingly, serum NO metabolites decreased in the same fashion, resulting in significantly lower NO levels at 60 and 120 min post-vape session (13). In another study, venous endothelial cells isolated from e-cigarette users, demonstrated a decrease in NO production, equivalent to traditional cigarette users, when stimulated with a calcium ionophore, which aligned with a lower expression in eNOS in e-cigarette users (151).

Animal models have demonstrated the effects of e-cigarettes on vascular changes following e-cigarette exposure daily for 16 and 60 weeks (152). In this study, aortic rings isolated from ecigarette exposed mice, exhibited impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilation which aligned with increases in BP (152), effects which were more dramatic in mice exposed for 60 weeks than those exposed for 16 weeks. This study further investigated the mechanism through which ecigarettes were contributing to vascular dysfunction. They revealed the involvement of eNOS uncoupling and an upregulation in NOX2 expression which resulted in increased  $O_2^{+}$  production, ultimately contributing to protein nitration by ONOO- and reduced NO bioavailability. eNOS uncoupling has also been indicated in cigarette smoke-induced changes in NO bioavailability (147). Further, this study showed that e-cigarettes contributed to a reduction in peNOS<sup>ser1177</sup> activity along with a reduction in AKT phosphorylation (152). In other models, wild-type mice continuously exposed to e-cigarettes for three days showed marked increases in systolic BP (SBP) and diastolic BP (DBP) and significant decreases in aortic-endothelial function which aligned with increases in aortic oxidative stress and decreased eNOS expression (38). Mechanistically, these short-term effects of e-cigarette exposure were dependent on NOX2 expression as *NOX2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice were protected from aortic oxidative stress induced by e-cigarettes. These results align with clinical data that suggested increases in systemic NOX2 following e-cigarette exposure (150).

Chronic vascular changes in e-cigarette users have yet to be identified and, as a result, reliance is on animal models and *in vitro* studies to determine the impact of e-cigarettes. Due to the high variability in human use patterns, it is difficult to establish animal models that mimic human use. Furthermore, the variety in type of e-cigarette devices and the numerous types of e-liquids available on the market, with their differing impacts at the cellular level (153), make this research challenging and further studies are important to solidify the long-term effects of e-cigarette use on various organ systems across the population.

## 2.9 Dietary polyphenols

Polyphenols are secondary metabolites found in plants that serve as a protectant for the plant against environmental and chemical stressors. When consumed as part of the plant, polyphenols have bioactive capabilities *in vivo* and have been widely investigated for their role in health promotion and disease prevention.

## 2.9.1 Classifications of polyphenols

Polyphenols all have a general fused ring structure with available hydroxyl groups (154). They are categorized into several groups based on their fused ring structure including flavonoids, phenolic acids, stilbenes and lignans (**Fig. 3**). Additionally, derivatives of these compounds exist and are further divided into subgroups. For example, flavonoids are divided into six subclasses: flavonols, flavones, flavanones, isoflavones, anthocyanins, and flavanols (155). Flavanols, flavonols, and anthocyanins are the most prevalent flavonoid subclasses in berries. Flavonols are considered one of the most diverse and common flavonoid in fruits in vegetables due their potential to be methylated and hydroxylated in a variety of ways (156). Flavonols, such as quercetin, kaempferol and myricetin, contain a ketone group with a hydroxyl group at position 3 in the carbon ring which is easily glycosylated. Flavanols are similar in structure to flavonols but lack a ketone group. Anthocyanins, such as cyanidin, contain additional hydroxyl groups at position 3 and 4 in the carbon ring as well as a positively charged oxygen in the in the C ring within the fused ring structure. Aside from flavonoids, phenolic acids are also exceptionally diverse and ubiquitous in berries. Phenolic acids are characterized as either hydroxycinnamic acids or hydroxybenzoic acids containing a saturated or unsaturated bone before a carboxylic acid, respectively. Phenolic acids are not only found in fruits and vegetables, but are also readily derived from parent compounds, gallic acid and ellagic acid during digestion in the gastrointestinal tract (157). Stilbenes are consumed in small amounts in the human diet and are mainly represented by resveratrol, consisting of two phenolic rings linked by a double styrene bond in either the *cis* or *trans* position. Resveratrol is produced in the plant in response to pathogens and is abundantly found in grapes and red wine varieties (158). Lastly, lignans are derived from dimerization of two phenylpropane units and are most commonly found in the diet in linseed.



#### **Figure 3. Polyphenol classifications**

## 2.9.2 Polyphenol metabolism

The bioavailability of polyphenols is inherently low and polyphenol parent compounds, those found in whole food, require significant transformation prior to absorption. Bioavailability is highly dependent on the structure of the polyphenol. Aglycones, monomeric, and dimeric structures can be absorbed in the small intestines and require little transformation. Upon entering the enterocyte, polyphenolic compounds undergo phase 1 biotransformation, also referred to as "first pass metabolism" where polyphenols are oxidized, reduced, or hydrolyzed before reaching the liver. However, most polyphenols exist in ester, glycoside and polymer forms that require extensive hydrolyzation prior to absorption which generally occurs in the large intestines by the gut microbiota. In fact, 90-95% of polyphenol metabolism is performed by gut microbes; therefore, the health of the gut and overall microbial diversity contribute to the efficiency of polyphenol metabolism (159). Upon reaching the colon, the gut microbiota act to hydrolyze glycosides into aglycones, leading to the production of smaller molecules that can be absorbed. In any case, upon

reaching the liver, polyphenol metabolites undergo phase II biotransformation and conjugation, mainly including methylation, sulfation, and glucuronidation, to facilitate hydrophilicity and promote systemic circulation and distribution of these metabolites.

Additional variations are seen in the absorption and metabolism of individual polyphenols. On average, the absorption rate of polyphenols is relatively low at 10-20% (154). Additionally, there is significant inter-individual variation when it comes to the bioavailability of polyphenols which is highly dependent on the composition of the gut microbiota (159). For example, cigarette smokers exhibit microbial dysbiosis compared to non-smokers (160) and nicotine, a major component of e-cigarettes, has been shown to alter the gut microbiome (161). Therefore, ecigarette use may impact the gut microbiome and efficacy of dietary polyphenols due to impaired metabolism and reduced bioavailability. However, further studies are needed to determine these effects.

## 2.9.3 Blackberry polyphenols

Research suggests the increased consumption of fruit, berries in particular, may be associated with decreased incidence of chronic conditions, such as CVD, due to their rich nutrient profile (162). The health benefits of berries, such as blackberries, are partially due to their low energy density and micronutrient composition (**Table 1**) but also a result of their high polyphenolic content. The total antioxidant capacities of plant-based foods are often correlated with total phenolic content, suggesting polyphenols contribute significantly to the antioxidant capacity of these foods (163). The total phenolic content of blackberries is 569.43 mg/100 g, equitable to blueberries and significantly higher than raspberries or strawberries (164). Similarly, total anthocyanin content of blackberries is 172.59 mg/100 g, again significantly higher than raspberries at 72.47 mg/100 g (164). Blackberries have a unique polyphenolic profile with major polyphenols

found in blackberries including cyanidin 3-*O*-glucoside (C3G), epicatechin, and ellagic acid, among others (**Table 2**). **Figure 4** is a schematic representation of the parent compounds and metabolites present at various points of polyphenol metabolism of blackberries. Polyphenol metabolites such as vanillic acid and *p*-coumaric acid rise as a result of gastrointestinal metabolism within 2-6 h of consumption (165-167). Microbial metabolism causes increases in polyphenol metabolites such as chlorogenic acid, gallic acid, and ferulic acid in addition to those shown in **Figure 2** (165-167). Changes in polyphenol metabolite concentrations, following blueberry and raspberry consumption, have been shown to correlate with improvements in endothelial function in humans (168, 169). While these studies have not been conducted following blackberry supplementation, it is suspected that similar effects would be observed given their polyphenolic profile.

| Component            | Nutritive value<br>(per 100 g blackberry) |
|----------------------|---|
| Water                | 88.2 g                                    |
| Energy               | 43 kcal                                   |
| Carbohydrates        | 9.61 g                                    |
| Total Fat            | 0.49 g                                    |
| Protein              | 1.39 g                                    |
| Cholesterol          | 0 mg                                      |
| <b>Dietary Fiber</b> | 5.3 g                                     |
| Folate               | 25 μg                                     |
| Vitamin A            | 11 µg                                     |
| β-carotene           | 128 µg                                    |
| Vitamin C            | 21 mg                                     |
| Vitamin E            | 1.17 mg                                   |
| Vitamin K            | 19.8 μg                                   |
| Potassium            | 162 mg                                    |
| Sodium               | 1 mg                                      |
| Calcium              | 29 mg                                     |
| Magnesium            | 20 mg                                     |
| Iron                 | 0.62 mg                                   |
| Zinc                 | 0.53 mg                                   |
| Selenium             | 0.4 µg                                    |

Table 1. Macro and micronutrient content of blackberry (170).

| <b>Bioactive Component</b>            | Amount in Blackberry<br>(mg/100 mg raw berry; |  |
|---------------------------------------|---|--|
|                                       | mean ± SD)                                    |  |
| Phenolic acids                        |   |  |
| Hydroxybenzoic acias                  |   |  |
| Gallic acid                           | 4.67 ± 3.79                                   |  |
| Galloyl glucose                       | $0.27 \pm 0.06$                               |  |
| 4-Hydroxybenzoic acid 4-O-glucoside   | $1.13 \pm 0.85$                               |  |
| Ellagic acid                          | $43.67 \pm 24.5$                              |  |
| Protocatechuic acid 4-O-glucoside     | $0.43 \pm 0.21$                               |  |
| Hydroxycinnamic acids                 |   |  |
| <i>p</i> -Coumaric acid 4-O-glucoside | $0.27\pm0.12$                                 |  |
| 3-Caffeoylquinic acid                 | $4.53\pm0.59$                                 |  |
| Caffeoyl glucose                      | $0.50 \pm 0.17$                               |  |
| <i>p</i> -Coumaroyl glucose           | $0.67 \pm 0.38$                               |  |
| Flavonoids                            |   |  |
| Flavonols                             |   |  |
| Quercetin 3-O galactoside             | $4.10 \pm 2.48$                               |  |
| Quercetin 3-O-glucoside               | $0.67 \pm 2.00$                               |  |
| Quercetin 3-O-rutinoside              | $3.89 \pm 8.37$                               |  |
| Anthocyanins                          |   |  |
| Cyanidin 3-O-glucoside                | $138.7\pm37.1$                                |  |
| Cyanidin 3-O-rutinoside               | $8.86 \pm 5.03$                               |  |
| Cyanidin 3-O-xyloside                 | $9.74 \pm 5.29$                               |  |
| Flavanols                             |   |  |
| (-)-Epicatechin                       | $11.48 \pm 10.9$                              |  |
| (-)-Epigallocatechin                  | $0.15 \pm 0.25$                               |  |
| (+)-Catechin                          | $0.72 \pm 0.09$                               |  |

# Table 2. Polyphenol content in blackberry (164).



**Figure 4. Metabolism of blackberry polyphenols through first pass and microbial metabolism.** Parent compounds found in whole, fresh blackberry undergo first pass metabolism in small intestines and liver. Those intact polyphenols (90-95% of initially consumed polyphenols) arrive in the large intestines and undergo microbial metabolism and phase II biotransformation prior to circulating to tissues for action.

## 2.10 Polyphenols as therapeutic options in cardiopulmonary conditions

As oxidative stress is a key driving force in the development of cardiopulmonary conditions, targeting signaling pathways aimed at reducing the oxidative burden is essential. Polyphenols are compounds found in great abundance in our diet that have been investigated for their probable role in mitigating oxidative stress-associated outcomes including COPD (16), HTN (171), endothelial dysfunction (172) and associated CVD. Prudent dietary patterns, those that are high in amounts of fruits, vegetables and whole grains, have been found to be positively associated with lung function parameters FEV<sub>1</sub>, FVC, and FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC ration, regardless of sex, smoking patterns or other confounders (173). Given their plant-based nature, these prudent dietary patterns consist of

significant amounts of polyphenols, as well as other antioxidants, such as vitamin C. Other studies have shown the association between improvements in respiratory function and fresh fruit intake (174, 175). Specifically, intake of five or more apples per week was associated with higher FEV<sub>1</sub> in middle aged men, independent of vitamin C or vitamin E intake (176). In the MORGEN study, dietary intake of catechins, flavonols, and flavones, were positively associated with FEV<sub>1</sub> and a lower prevalence of COPD symptoms (i.e., cough, phlegm, breathlessness) in middle-aged adults (177). Similar observations were made in the Moli-Sani study where positive correlations existed between dietary intake of most polyphenol classes and FEV<sub>1</sub> in both sexes, regardless of smoking status (178). Furthermore, healthy adults consuming highest amounts of flavonoids and pro-anthocyanidins, found in high amounts in berries, have a higher FVC and FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC ratio compared to those with low flavonoid intake (19). Similarly, individuals with the highest amount of anthocyanin intake were prevented from aging associated decline in FEV<sub>1</sub> and FVC, further demonstrating the protective nature of these dietary components.

Polyphenols found in most fruits provide direct benefits to humans through their ability to react directly with  $O_2^{+}$  and other HO<sup>-</sup> and peroxyl radicals. Apart from the free radical scavenging capacity, polyphenols have the capability to modulate cellular processes associated with antioxidant enzymes and signaling. While the mechanisms through which polyphenols exert cardiopulmonary benefits remain under speculation, evidence suggests specific polyphenols can bind regulatory proteins, exerting subsequent effects on antioxidant signaling, thereby reducing oxidative stress. For example, polyphenols such as resveratrol (179) and curcumin (180) have been shown to bind directly to KEAP1, rendering it inactive, and preventing ubiquitination of NRF2 allowing for accumulation in the cytosol and promoting its nuclear translocation, ultimately increasing downstream effects of NRF2.

Many studies have evaluated the effects of individual polyphenols on certain cardiovascular and respiratory pathological phenotypes. Emphysema, a characteristic of COPD commonly caused by cigarette use, can be induced by elastase administration in animal models (181). Ellagic acid, a found in blackberries, has shown beneficial impacts in reducing elastase-induced oxidative stress and inflammation in the lung, thereby improving cardiovascular function in rats (182). More specifically, a 30 mg/kg dose of ellagic acid, decreased TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 in the BAL fluid, increased antioxidant enzymes SOD and CAT in heart tissue and attenuated alveolar destruction induced by elastase resulting in reduced right ventricular systolic pressure and mitigation of changes in cardiac function (182). These results demonstrate the interrelated nature of the pulmonary and cardiovascular systems and the potential for dietary interventions to be used in mitigation of cardiopulmonary conditions.

Several other dietary polyphenols and polyphenol containing fruits, such as resveratrol (183) and jaboticaba (184), respectively, have been implicated in treatment of cardiopulmonary conditions. In particular, in a murine model of pulmonary HTN, a daily oral dose of resveratrol (20 mg/kg) had minimal effects on pulmonary architecture but did have the ability to inhibit right ventricular remodeling and reduce mRNA expression of inflammatory markers in the right ventricle through upregulation of SIRT1 (185). More specific to pulmonary conditions, jaboticaba, a fruit rich in anthocyanins, decreased IL-8 concentrations in cigarette smoke condensate-treated small airway epithelial cells (184). Tannic acid (25 mg/kg), another widely present polyphenol, attenuated collagen deposition, markedly inhibited inflammatory cell infiltration and reduced lung permeability in a mouse model of bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis (186).

Previous studies utilizing commonly consumed berries have shown that improvements in the endothelium align with increases in microbial polyphonic metabolites (168, 187). Specifically, in healthy men, endothelial function was improved during first pass metabolism of raspberry at 2 h and microbial metabolism at 24 h (187). Similar results were seen in response to blueberry where FMD increased biphasically, correlating with increases in first pass-derived polyphenols at 1-2 h and microbiota-derived metabolites peaking 6 h post blueberry consumption (168, 187). *In vitro* studies from our lab demonstrate the ability of blueberry polyphenols (200  $\mu$ g/mL) to mitigate Ang II-induced oxidative stress in human aortic endothelial cells (HAECs) (188). In this study, pre-treatment with blueberry polyphenol extract led to an increase in NO metabolites in Ang II-treated cells in a NRF2-dependent mechanism. In another model, high-fat diet (HFD) fed ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice exhibited increases in NOX1 in the aorta which aligned with increases in aortic plaque deposition. Blackberry supplementation (2% w/w) prevented the HFD-induced increases in NOX1 and ameliorated plaque deposition in the aorta of male mice (189).

In blackberry, C3G represents approximately 80% of the anthocyanin fraction (190). C3G is the most ubiquitous anthocyanin and has been found to have the highest oxygen radical absorbing capacity (191); therefore, C3G has been widely investigated in the treatment of inflammatory lung conditions as well in vascular dysfunction (192). Treatment with this C3G has led to improvements in endothelial function in several models through various cellular mechanisms. *In vitro* studies demonstrate the ability of C3G treatment to increase SIRT1 expression and reduce markers of inflammation in HUVECs treated with TNF- $\alpha$  (193). Other *in vitro* evidence points to the ability of C3G to mitigate biochemical mechanisms involved in pulmonary HTN through mitigation of p38 phosphorylation preventing vascular remodeling (194). Relatedly, treatment with palmitic acid in HUVECs induced a decrease in NO production, effects which were reversed by pre-treatment with C3G leading to modulation of JNK and IKK activity which were dependent on NRF2 activation (195). Other berries have shown similar effects on the

reduction of NO, which becomes pathological when produced in high amounts, through mitigation of iNOS expression (196). Açaí berry extract, for example, also rich in C3G, inhibited LPSinduced NO production and iNOS expression in RAW 264.7 macrophages (196). Furthermore, açaí berry extract (300 mg/kg) demonstrated potential to counteract pro-oxidant effects of cigarette smoke by significantly decreasing nitrite levels and MPO activity in the BAL fluid of cigarette smoke-exposed mice while also decreasing macrophage and neutrophil infiltration in the lung (197). In a similar study of cigarette smoke-induced lung injury, the phenolic acid *p*-coumaric acid (5 mg/kg), also present in blackberries, decreased NF-κB expression and downstream inflammatory cytokines in the lungs and BAL fluid of cigarette smoke exposed mice, respectively (17). These studies demonstrate the potential molecular targets of polyphenols present in blackberries. However, further studies are needed *in vivo* utilizing whole food approaches to further illustrate the benefits of blackberry polyphenols.

## **3 PRELIMINARY DATA**

## 3.1 In vivo data

Our research team has previously demonstrated the ability of a 10% w/w blackberry diet to attenuate SBP and DBP in a model of Ang II-induced HTN in C57BL/6 male mice (**Fig. 5**). In Sprague Dawley (SD) male rats, blackberry consumption appeared to attenuate the Ang II-induced increased expression of NOX2 and NOX4 in the lung (**Fig. 6**). These studies are indicative of the ability of blackberry to act in a multi-organ fashion.



Figure 5. Blackberry consumption decreases systolic and diastolic blood pressure (SBP and DBP, respectively) in Ang II treated mice. Eight-week-old C57BL/6 male mice were fed either AIN-93M diet or 10% (w/w) blackberry (BL) supplemented diet for seven weeks. At week four, osmotic minipumps were implanted delivering Ang II (1 µg/kg body weight/min) or saline (0.9%) as control. At the end of the experiment, SBP and DBP were measured by tail-cuff plethysmography. Data are presented as means  $\pm$  95% C.I. \*indicates statistically different from control; <sup>#</sup> indicates statistically different from Ang II;  $p \leq 0.05$ .



**Figure 6. Blackberry reduces NOX2 and NOX4 in Ang II infused rats.** Eight-week-old Sprague-Dawley male rats were fed either AIN-93M diet or 10% (w/w) blackberry (BL) supplemented diet for seven weeks. At week four, osmotic minipumps were implanted delivering Ang II (270 ng/kg/body weight/min) or saline (0.9%) as control. At the end of the experiment, lungs were collected for analysis of protein expression by western blot. All protein data were normalized to GAPDH. Data are presented as means  $\pm$  SEM.  $p \le 0.05$ .

## 4 METHODS

## 4.1 Reagents

Radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA; R0278), phosphatase inhibitor cocktail 1 (P2850) and 2 (P5726), and protease inhibitor cocktail (P2714) were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). Classic Tobacco flavored e-cigarette liquid was purchased from Apollo Future Technology Inc. (Livermore, CA). The Nitrate/Nitrite Fluorometric Assay Kit (780051), The Nitrate/Nitrite Colorimetric Assay Kit (780001) and the Glutathione Assay Kit (703002) were purchased from Cayman Chemical (Ann Arbor, MI). DC protein assay kit (5000111), 2x and 4x Laemmli buffer (1610737 and 1610747, respectively), and 2-mercaptathanol (1610710) was purchased from BioRad Laboratories (Hercules, CA). Immobilon Forte Western HRP substrate (WBLUF0500) was purchased from EMD Millipore (Billerica, MA). Dihydroethicium (DHE) assay kit (D11347) and the Trizol reagent (15596026) was purchased from ThermoFisher Scientific (Waltham, MA). 3-3' diaminobenzidine solution was purchased from Cell Signaling Technologies (Danvers, MA). The following antibodies were purchased from Cell Signaling Technologies: p-AKT (4060), AKT (2920), β-actin (3700), CAT (14097), p-c-Jun (9261), peNOS<sup>ser1177</sup>(9570), e-NOS (32027), HO-1 (82206), iNOS (20609), p-p38 (4511), p38 (8690), p-ERK1/2 (9101), ERK1/2 (9102), p-p65 (3033), p65 (4764), SIRT1 (8469), p-SAPK/JNK (4668), SAPK/JNK (9252), and SOD2 (13141); from Novus Biologicals (Centennial, CO): NQO1 (NB200-209), NRF2 (NBP1-32822) and SOD1 (NBP2-24915); from R&D (Minneapolis, MN): GAPDH (MAB5718), GPx1 (AF3798), GPx3 (AF4199-SP) and VCAM (AF643); from Abcam (Waltham, MA): NOX1 (ab131088), NOX2 (ab180642), NOX4 (ab133303), NOX5 (ab191010), NT (ab7048), and XO (ab109235); and from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Dallas, TX): SOD3 (sc-271170).

## 4.2 In vivo experiments

## 4.2.1 Animal care

Eight-week-old C57BL/6 male mice were purchased from Envigo (Indianapolis, IN) and singly housed in an environmentally control animal facility maintained on a 12 h light/dark cycle. Mice were allowed to acclimate for seven days with access to water *ad libitum* and maintained on a semi-purified casein-based (AIN-93M) diet in which soybean oil was substituted for corn oil to control for phenolic compound composition. Following the acclimation period, mice were randomized into one of three groups (n=14-18/group): 1) control (AIN-93M diet) 2) e-cigarette vapor exposure (AIN-93M diet) and 3) e-cigarette vapor exposure +5% (w/w) blackberry diet. The 5% (w/w) blackberry diet is equivalent to approximately two servings (1.5 cups) of fresh blackberries per day for humans. Following four weeks of dietary treatment, daily e-cigarette vapor exposure was initiated and lasted 12 weeks, as described below. Body weights and food intake were measured weekly. The experimental design can be seen in Figure 7. BP was monitored biweekly and heart function was assessed by echocardiography at baseline, midpoint and completion of the experimental period. Following the 16-week experimental period, mice were euthanized by CO<sub>2</sub> overdose. Whole blood was collected via the portal vein, allowed to sit at room temperature to facilitate clotting prior to centrifugation at 2,500 x g for 5 min for serum collection. Serum was stored at -80° C and stored for later use. Tissues were collected and either stored in formalin for histological analysis or snap frozen for protein and mRNA expression analysis. All animal use and procedures were approved by the Georgia State University's Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.



**Figure 7. Overall experimental design.** Following acclimation, mice randomized into one of three groups (n=14-18/group): control (no e-cigarette exposure), e-cigarette vapor exposure (E-Cig) or e-cigarette vapor exposure plus 5% blackberry (w/w) supplementation (E-Cig + BL). Mice were fed an AIN-93M diet (control or E-Cig) or AIN-93M diet supplemented with 5% blackberry (E-Cig + BL). After four weeks of dietary treatment, mice began daily e-cigarette exposure (E-Cig and E-Cig + BL only) which lasted 12 weeks. After the 16-week experimental period, mice were sacrificed and tissue and whole blood were collected for analysis.

## 4.2.2 *E-cigarette vapor exposure*

Following 4 weeks of dietary treatment, mice began daily e-cigarette vapor exposure. Mice underwent e-cigarette exposure for 1 h each day, five times per week for a total of 10-12 weeks. inExpose Smoking Robot (SCIREQ, Montreal, QC, Canada) (198) with a closed system atomizerbased e-cigarette adaptor at 8.0 V (Joyetech, eVic) was used to generate e-cigarette vapor from nicotine containing (12 mg/mL), Classic Tobacco flavored, 50/50 propylene glycol/vegetable glycerin e-cigarette liquid. Mice were placed in an air-tight chamber with a pie shaped grate for separation connected to a pump which regulated e-cigarette vapor flow. The vapor was pumped into the chamber at a frequency of 1 puff per minute, each puff lasting 3 seconds, for the 1 h duration. As a control, mice on the control group were placed in the inExpose chamber for 1 h each day, five times per week, the system was not turned on and animals were only exposed to room air.

#### 4.2.3 **Blood pressure measurements**

BP was measured biweekly using the CODA high throughput non-invasive blood pressure system (Kent Scientific, Torrington, CT) in up to four mice simultaneously (199). Experimental settings and recommendations for the procedures were followed as previously described (200). All mice were encouraged to walk into the restraint tubes which were adjusted to prevent excessive movement throughout BP recording. The occlusion cuffs were placed at the base of the tail and the volume pressure recording (VPR) cuffs placed approximately 2 mm adjacent to the occlusion cuffs. Mice rested on the pre-heated heating platform for the duration of each experiment and tail temperatures remained between 35-37°C. BP experimental settings were as follows: occlusion cuffs were inflated to 250 mmHg followed by slow deflation over 20 sec. The minimum volume changes, as sensed by the VPR cuff was set to 15  $\mu$ L. Each recording session consisted of 25 inflation and deflation cycles with the first five cycles marked as acclimation cycles and not included in the data analysis. Mice were habituated to the BP measurements over three timepoints before experimental recordings were taken. Experimental BP measurements began at week 4, prior to initiation of e-cigarette exposure, and biweekly through the end of the experimental period.

#### 4.2.4 *Echocardiography*

The Vevo® 3100 Imaging Platform (Fujifilm Visual Sonics; Toronto, Canada) was used to measure the left ventricle diameter and wall thickness as well as left ventricular end-diastolic and end-systolic volume, and left ventricle shortening fraction according to the American Society of Echocardiography leading edge method. These measurements were obtained in anesthetized mice. Anesthetization was induced with 5% isoflurane and maintained at a dose of 2.5-3% isoflurane for the duration of the measurement. Mice were placed on the heated platform to keep the body temperature at 37 °C and chest hair was removed by applying hair removal cream. Prewarmed echo transmission gel was applied to the hairless chest and the mouse heart was imaged with a cardiovascular transducer on the long axis to obtain measurements described above. These measurements were performed at week 4 prior to the start of e-cigarette exposure, at week 10, six weeks after beginning e-cigarette exposure, and week 16, prior to sacrifice.

## 4.2.5 Bronchoalveolar lavage fluid analysis

Following sacrifice, mouse lungs were lavaged with 1 mL cold phosphate buffered saline (PBS) at least three times to collect total cells from the lung. BAL fluid was centrifuged at 1500 rpm for 5 min at 4°C and the supernatant was collected and stored for later analysis including measurement of NO metabolites.

#### 4.2.6 *Nitric oxide assay*

Serum and BAL fluid NO metabolite levels were assessed using the Nitrate/Nitrite Colorimetric Assay Kit following manufacturer's instructions.

## 4.2.7 Ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP) assay

The FRAP assay, an assay used to assess the reducing power of a sample, was used to measure antioxidant capacity in the serum of mice. At a low pH, ferric-tripyridyltriazine (Fe<sup>3+</sup>-TPTZ) complex is reduced to the ferrous form, producing an intense blue color (201). Antioxidants present in the serum facilitate this reduction; therefore, the antioxidant capacity of the serum can be directly measured. To do so, 5  $\mu$ L of serum was mixed with 195  $\mu$ L of freshly prepared FRAP reagent containing 300 nM acetate buffer (pH 3.6), 10 mM TPTZ in 40 mM HCL and 20 mM FeCl 6 H<sub>2</sub>O in a 10:1:1 ratio. The antioxidant activity of the serum was measured after a 10 min incubation at room temperature. FRAP activity, measured at an absorbance of 593 nm, was calculated against a Fe<sup>2+</sup>SO<sub>4</sub> 7 H<sub>2</sub>O standard curve.

## 4.2.8 Protein expression analysis in lung, heart and aorta.

Following sacrifice, lungs, hearts, and aortas were harvested and portions will be homogenized in RIPA containing protease and phosphatase inhibitors for protein isolation. Lysates were centrifuged at 16,000 x g for 20 min prior to determination of protein concentration and normalization using the DC protein assay kit following manufacturer's instructions. Sample were mixed with Laemmli buffer containing 5-10% 2-mercaptaethanol, briefly vortexed, centrifuged and heated for 10 min at 70°C in a dry bath incubator (Midwest Scientific, Valley Park, MO) prior to loading onto an 8-15% polyacrylamide gel for electrophoresis. Following electrophoresis, protein was transferred to polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membranes (ThermoFisher) using Trans-Blot Turbo (BioRad Laboratories). Enhanced chemiluminescence was used to determine expression of proteins of interest. Pixel density of detected bands was quantified using Image Lab 6.0 (BioRad Laboratories) and data were normalized to control bands prior to statistical analysis.

## 4.2.9 Immunohistochemistry (IHC)

Mouse lung and aorta tissues were embedded in paraffin wax and cut in 5 µm sections using a rotary microtome and mounted on slides for histological analysis. Prior to staining, paraffin slides were dewaxed and rehydrated with xylene and graded ethanol solutions. Antigen retrieval in 10 mM citric acid solution for 10 min at 100°C was performed. Endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked by incubation in 3% hydrogen peroxide. Tissue sections were blocked with 1% BSA for 1 h at room temperature followed by incubation with primary antibodies (dilution 1:400 in PBS + 1% BSA) at 4°C overnight against iNOS and NT. After washing in PBS, sections were incubated with appropriate HRP polymers and developed with DAB solution for 5 min. Sections were then counterstained with hematoxylin, dehydrated and mounted under coverslip with mounting medium for imaging. Images were obtained using a digital microscope system (Keyance BZ-X700, Itasca, IL).

## 4.3 In vitro experiments

#### 4.3.1 Blackberry polyphenol extraction

Extraction and purification of blackberry polyphenols were carried out as previously described (188, 202). Briefly, freeze-dried blackberry powder was extracted with 80% ethanol in an ultrasonic bath at 25°C. Sonication was performed under subdued light with continuous nitrogen purging to prevent oxidation. The resulting solution was filtered under vacuum suction, rinsed with 100% ethanol, evaporated using a rotary evaporator, and freeze-dried. Crude extracts were mixed with chloroform to facilitate the removal of organic molecules. The aqueous fraction was collected and combined with ethyl acetate before being evaporated and freeze-dried again. Purified extracts were stored at -20°C for later use.

## 4.3.2 Cell culture experiments

Human microvascular endothelial cells (HMVECs; PromoCell, Heidelberg, Germany) were cultured on gelatin coated dishes in Microvascular Endothelial Cell Growth Medium (Cell Applications, San Diego, CA) at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Media was changed every other day. When approximately 80% confluent, cells were washed with PBS and detached using Accutase, centrifuged and resuspended in growth media. HMVECs were seeded at the recommended density of 5-10,000 cells per cm<sup>2</sup> in gelatin coated 60 mm dishes for mRNA and protein expression, 6-well plates for the Glutathione Assay and 96-well black plates for cell viability, ROS and NO measurements. Upon reaching confluency, cells were treated with blackberry polyphenol extract (200  $\mu$ g/mL) for 1 h, followed by treatment with 0.5% (v/v) e-cigarette condensate, generated from the inExpose system as described earlier, in starvation medium (0.5% FBS) for 24 h.

#### 4.3.3 Cell viability assay

To determine an appropriate dosage of e-cigarette condensate to utilize throughout these experiments, HMVECs were treated with e-cigarette condensate concentration range of 0.25 - 10% (v/v) for 24 h in starvation medium. Following treatment, cells were washed with warm PBS and fresh starvation media was added. TOX8 was added to each well at a concentration of 10% of volume of media in each well. Following a 3-h incubation, fluorescent intensity was measured at excitation (Ex)/emission (Em) of 530/590 using the Synergy HT microplate reader (Biotek). The highest concentration without an impact on viability (0.5%) was chosen for experiments throughout.

## 4.3.4 ROS measurement

DHE Assay Kit, a fluorescent  $O_2^{\bullet}$  and non-specific radical probe was used to measure ROS. Following 24 h treatment, DHE was added to wells for a final concentration of 10  $\mu$ M and allowed to incubate for 30 min. Following incubation, media was aspirated, cells were washed with PBS and phenol red free media, containing NucBlue for cell number count, was added. Fluorescent intensity was measured at Ex/Em at 516/606 nm for quantification of  $O_2^{\bullet}$  production and qualitatively visualized by cell microscopy. Additionally, for identification of non-specific radical production, fluorescent intensity was measured at Ex/Em at 480/576.

## 4.3.5 NO measurement

NO was detected in HMVECs using the cell-permeable fluorescent NO probe, DAF-2 DA. DAF-2 interacts with intracellular NO to yield a fluorescent product. Following 24-h treatment described above, DAF-2 DA was added to wells for a final concentration of 5  $\mu$ M and allowed to incubate for 30 min. Following incubation, media was aspirated, cells were washed with PBS and

phenol red free media, containing NucBlue for cell number count, was added. Fluorescent intensity was measured at Ex/Em at 495/515 nm and qualitatively visualized by cell microscopy.

#### 4.3.6 *Glutathione measurement*

Measurement of total, oxidized (GSSG) and reduced (GSH) was measured in HMVEC cell lysate following 24-h treatment described above using the Glutathione Assay Kit following manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, cells were collected in diluted 2-(N-morpholino) ethanesulphonic acid (MES buffer). Total GSSG was assayed following GSH derivation by 2vinylpyridine. Glutathione Reductase with cofactor solution was added to facilitate reduction of GSSG to GSH. Following incubation absorbance was measured at 410 nm using the Synergy HT microplate reader (Biotek). The concentration of total GSH was assessed, total GSSG ratio was calculated and the GSH/GSSG ratio was determined.

## 4.3.7 Quantitative PCR for mRNA expression analysis in HMVECs

After 24-h e-cigarette condensate treatment, cells were collected in Trizol reagent and total RNA extraction was carried out following manufacturer's instructions. Total RNA concentrations were measured by NanoDrop. cDNA was synthesized by reverse transcription of 1 µg of total RNA. Gene expression was measured by real -time PCR (LightCycler 96, Roche Life Sciences, Pleasanton, CA) using SYBR Green. mRNA concentrations of *Nos2, Tnf, Vcam1, Icam/CD54, and Ccl2* were normalized to *cyclophilin* expression. Primer sequences used can be found in **Table 3**.

| Gene        | Forward sequence                  | Reverse sequence                  |
|-------------|-----------------------------------|-----------------------------------|
| Nos2        | 5'-TCC CGA AGT TCT CAA GGC AC-3'  | 5'-CAT AGC GGA TGA GCT GAG CA-3'  |
| Tnf         | 5'-CTG GGC AGG TCT ACT TTG GG-3'  | 5'-CTG GAG GCC CCA GTT TGA AT-3'  |
| Vcam1       | 5'-CGA ATG AGG GGA CCA CAT CTA-3' | 5'CGC TCA GAG GGC TGT CTA TC-3'   |
| Icam1/CD54  | 5'-TAT AAA GGA TCA CGC GCC CC-3'  | 5'-AAC AAC TTG GGC TGG TCA CA-3'  |
| Ccl2        | 5'-GAT CTC AGT GCA GAG GCT CG-3'  | 5'-TTT GCT TGT CCA GGT GGT CC-3'  |
| Cyclophilin | 5'-CTT CGA GCT TGC AGA CAA AGT-3' | 5'-AGA TGC CAG GAC CTG TAT GCT-3' |

Table 3. Primer sequences used in qPCR

## 4.3.8 Protein expression analysis in HMVECs

Following 24-h e-cigarette condensate treatment, HMVECs were harvested in RIPA (EMD Millipore Corporation) containing protease and phosphatase inhibitors. Cell lysates were centrifuged at 16,000 x g for 20 min and western blot was carried out as described previously for quantification of the following proteins: Each experiment was normalized to their respective control.

## 4.4 Statistical Analysis

#### 4.4.1 Sample size analysis

Nutrient and dietary interventions in the treatment of cigarette or e-cigarette-induced lung injury are currently scant in the literature. However, based on published findings (203), we expect a large effect size of at least 1.8. Based on power analysis (G\*Power 3) given d (effect size) = 1.8, power = 0.8 and  $\alpha$  = 0.05, we expected that at least 6 animals would be needed per group for protein data. In order to provide enough animals for protein and histological analysis and to adjust for random mortality, we adjusted our n to 10-12/group.

## 4.4.2 Data analyses

Descriptive statistics were computed for all variables. Distribution of outcome variables were examined graphically for normal distribution and outliers using histograms and through use of normality testing. For non-repeated measures including (i.e., final SBP and DBP, protein and

mRNA expression, cellular assays) if determined to be normally distributed, data were analyzed by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Tukey post-hoc analysis for multiple comparisons. If data were not normally distributed, Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Tukey posthoc analysis for multiple comparisons was performed. For repeated measures (i.e., BP data and food intake), two-way ANOVA was performed with Tukey post-hoc analysis to compare changes overtime within groups and between groups at each time point. *In vivo* and *in vitro* protein expression data are represented as fold change relative to control groups. All data are presented as means  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD) with significance determined at *p*≤0.05. All statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 7 (La Jolla, CA).

#### **5 RESULTS**

#### 5.1 Body weight and food intake

There were no statistical differences in initial body weight between groups. Body weight was monitored on a weekly basis and differences between groups appeared at weeks 10 and 11, as indicated in **Figure 8A.** At week 10, control mice had significantly higher body weight compared to mice exposed to e-cigarettes with or without blackberry supplementation  $(26.6 \pm 2.1 \text{ vs. } 25.8 \pm 0.92 \text{ vs. } 24.8 \pm 0.93 \text{ g}; p=0.029 \text{ and } p=0.002$ , respectively). At week 11, control mice had a significantly higher body weight compared to the blackberry supplemented group  $(26.4 \pm 1.8 \text{ vs. } 24.9 \pm 1.1 \text{ g}; p=0.009)$ . Body weight did not differ among groups at any other time points and final body weight was the same across all groups (p=0.778). Additionally, as expected, average food intake, measured in KJ/rat/week, did not differ among groups (p=0.113; **Fig. 8B**).

#### 5.2 Chronic e-cigarette exposure does not impact blood pressure in mice

Given prior evidence supporting changes to the vasculature by e-cigarettes (38), it was hypothesized that chronic e-cigarette exposure would cause increases in BP with blackberry mitigating these effects. However, no changes in SBP or DBP were observed over the course of the study and BP levels in all groups remained at normotensive levels (**Fig. 8 C-F**). More specifically, final SBP of mice exposed to e-cigarettes was similar to control mice (94.4 ± 8.5 vs. 98.9 ± 11.9 mmHg; p=0.100) and was unaffected by blackberry consumption (97.3 ± 12.1 mmHg; p=0.957) compared to control (**Fig. 8D**). Final DBP of mice exposed to e-cigarettes was also similar to control mice (75.4 ± 9.8 vs. 75.0 ± 12.1 mmHg; p=0.100) and was unaffected by blackberry consumption (76.7 ± 13.1; p=0.952) compared to control (**Fig. 8F**).



Figure 8. Chronic e-cigarette exposure does not affect blood pressure. Mice consumed a control (AIN-93M) diet alone or supplemented with 5% (w/w) blackberry (BL) for 4 weeks. After four weeks, mice began daily e-cigarette exposure (E-Cig) for 12 weeks. (A) Body weight of mice shown at one-week-intervals. (B) Average energy intake per week over the entire 16-week period divided by body weight; (C) Systolic blood pressure (SBP) at two-week-intervals beginning at week four; (D) Final SBP (week 16); (E) Diastolic blood pressure (DBP) at two-week-intervals beginning at week four; (F) Final DBP (week 16). Data are expressed as means  $\pm$  SD, n= 6-10/group. \* $p \le 0.05$ .

## 5.3 Blackberries reduce oxidative stress through attenuating iNOS and XO expression

E-cigarettes have the propensity to induce oxidative stress and inflammatory signaling in the vasculature as previously described (150). While results showed no changes in SBP or DBP, it is worth investigating detrimental cellular changes occurring in the vasculature. Therefore, changes in protein expression of inflammatory markers and pro-oxidants were assessed in the aorta, as a proxy for the macrovasculature. E-cigarette exposure increased expression of prooxidant enzymes NOX4 ( $2.59 \pm 0.80$  vs.  $1.00 \pm 0.29$ -fold; p=0.0001; Fig. 9 A&C) and XO (3.10 $\pm$  1.70 vs. 1.00  $\pm$  0.82-fold; *p*=0.042; **Fig. 9 A&D**) compared to control. Blackberry consumption was not able to attenuate the increase in NOX4 ( $2.33 \pm 0.79$ -fold; p=0.761) and, in fact, expression of another pro-oxidant, NOX2, was significantly higher in the aorta of blackberry supplemented animals compared to control  $(1.53 \pm 0.16 \text{ vs. } 1.00 \pm 0.19 \text{-fold}; p=0.016; \text{Fig. 9 A&B})$ . Blackberry was, however, able to mitigate the increase in XO as its expression was not significantly elevated compared to control (1.40  $\pm$  1.19-fold; p=0.890). Additionally, blackberry was effective in preventing e-cigarette-induced increases in iNOS expression (Fig. 9F). iNOS produces NO in pathological quantities alongside O2<sup>-</sup>, together they form ONOO<sup>-</sup> leading to the nitration of tyrosine residues. Here, blackberry reduced the e-cigarette-induced expression of NT, a marker of tyrosine nitration, in the aorta (Fig. 9F). NT is a well-accepted measure of oxidative stress that was increased in the aorta in response to e-cigarette exposure. As such, these results not only demonstrate the ability of e-cigarettes to induce vascular oxidative stress, but also support blackberry in the reduction of oxidative damage through lowering iNOS and XO expression.

Evidence shows that iNOS not only drives the pathological production of NO and O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>, but also the nuclear translocation of NF- $\kappa$ B (93). Activation of this signaling cascade promotes the expression of adhesion molecules and inflammatory cytokines which further drive iNOS expression and activity (94). Here, vascular adhesion molecule (VCAM) 1 is increased in response to e-cigarette exposure (3.65 ± 1.88 vs. 1.00 ± 0.09-fold; *p*=0.041; **Fig. 9 A&E**). VCAM drives intimal thickening and promotes the migration and adhesion of inflammatory leukocytes to further



vascular damage. However, blackberry was not able to attenuate this increase in VCAM1 despite mitigating iNOS expression ( $3.77 \pm 2.34$ -fold; *p*=0.993).

Figure 9. Blackberries mitigate e-cigarette-induced vascular oxidative stress. Mice consumed a control (AIN-93M) diet alone or supplemented with 5% (w/w) blackberry (BL) for 4 weeks. After four weeks, mice began daily e-cigarette exposure (E-Cig) for 12 weeks. Aortic protein expression of pro-oxidant enzymes NOX2 (A&B), NOX4 (A&C), XO; (A&D) and inflammatory vascular cell adhesion protein (VCAM1; A&E) were determined by western blot. Quantification was performed using Image Lab. GAPDH is representative of multiple blots. Data are expressed as means  $\pm$  SD, n=5-9/group. \* $p\leq0.05$ ; \*\* $p\leq0.01$ ; \*\*\* $p\leq0.001$ . Representative images of immunohistochemical staining (n=1-2/group) of (F) iNOS and NT, 4x and 20x objective magnification, scale bars 50µM and 100µM, respectively.

#### 5.4 Blackberry increases NO bioavailability through activation of aortic eNOS

NO bioavailability is often decreased as a result of oxidative stress due to the increased presence of ROS; therefore, it was hypothesized based on previous studies that blackberry may be acting as a systemic antioxidant. Here, e-cigarettes decreased antioxidant capacity, as measured by the FRAP assay, in the serum compared to control mice  $(223.9 \pm 53.5 \text{ vs}. 402.1 \pm 37.8 \mu\text{M Fe}^{2+}$  equivalent per g weight; *p*=0.001; **Fig. 10A**). Blackberry did not increase the antioxidant capacity compared to those mice exposed to e-cigarettes (245.6 ± 84.5  $\mu$ M Fe<sup>2+</sup> equivalent per g weight; *p*=0.782) and antioxidant power in blackberry supplemented mice remained lower than control.

Interestingly, e-cigarette exposure did not decrease serum concentrations of NO metabolites as expected compared to control ( $0.03 \pm 0.01$  vs.  $0.01 \pm 0.00 \mu$ M; p=0.158; Fig. 10B). However, blackberry consumption did increase NO metabolite concentrations vs. control mice ( $0.40 \pm 0.02 \mu$ M; p=0.017). To investigate other mechanisms through which blackberry may be improving NO bioavailability aside from acting as an antioxidant, expression of the regulatory phosphorylation site of eNOS (p-eNOS<sup>ser1177</sup>) was assessed. While p-eNOS<sup>ser1177</sup> expression was not decreased in mice exposed to e-cigarettes compared to control ( $0.58 \pm 0.32$  vs.  $1.00 \pm 0.25$ -fold; p=0.1077; Fig. 10 C&D), blackberry did increase its expression compared to those exposed to e-cigarettes ( $1.40 \pm 0.71$ -fold; p=0.006), offering a mechanism through which NO is increased. Increased concentrations of ROS have been linked to decreased eNOS expression (204). Interestingly, in response to e-cigarette exposure, we found eNOS to be unchanged in the aorta, or potentially trending upward (p=0.163; Fig. 10 C&E) compared to control mice. These results point to effects at the regulatory site of eNOS rather than as a result of changes in eNOS expression or decreased NO bioavailability due to systemic changes in oxidative stress.
Prior studies have shown the relationship between expression of cytoprotective enzymes and phosphorylation of eNOS. In fact, blackberry did increase the expression of HO-1 ( $1.49 \pm 0.31$ vs.  $1.06 \pm 0.43$ -fold; p=0.057; **Fig. 10 C&F**) and NQO1 ( $1.70 \pm 0.80$  vs.  $0.77 \pm 0.32$ -fold; p=0.010; **Fig. 10 C&G**) compared to those mice exposed to e-cigarettes. In addition, SOD1 was increased in response to both e-cigarette exposure ( $3.04 \pm 1.31$  vs.  $1.17 \pm 0.75$ -fold; p=0.028) and blackberry supplementation ( $3.79 \pm 1.24$ -fold; p=0.005), compared to control (**Fig. 10 C&H**). Though not significant, similar trends were seen with CAT expression (**Fig. 10 C&J**). GPx1, downstream of NRF2, another peroxidase, was unchanged (**Fig. 10 C&I**). Taken together, these results suggest the potential for blackberry to increase local antioxidant expression in the vasculature which ultimately acts to improve phosphorylation at the regulatory Ser<sup>1177</sup> to enhance NO production.



Figure 10. Blackberries enhance systemic NO bioavailability by increasing peNOS<sup>ser1177</sup> expression in the aorta. Mice consumed a control (AIN-93M) diet alone or supplemented with 5% (w/w) blackberry (BL) for 4 weeks. After four weeks, mice began daily ecigarette exposure (E-Cig) for 12 weeks. (A) FRAP assay in the serum at the end of the 16-week period; (B) serum NO metabolites at the end of the 16-week period. Aortic protein expression of p-eNOS<sup>ser1177</sup> (C&D), t-eNOS (C&E), HO-1 (C&F), NQO1 (C&G), SOD1 (C&H), GPx1 (C&I) and CAT (C&J) were determined by western blot. Quantification was performed using Image Lab (Bio-Rad Laboratories). GAPDH is representative of multiple blots. Data are expressed as means  $\pm$  SD; n=5-11. \*p $\leq$ 0.05; \*\*p $\leq$ 0.01

# 5.5 Blackberry reduces e-cigarette-induced O2<sup>+</sup> production and improves glutathione levels in endothelial cells

To further investigate the mechanistic involvement of the endothelium in e-cigaretteinduced oxidative stress, HMVECs were treated with 0.5% e-cigarette condensate, as determined by cell viability assay (Fig. 11A). To determine blackberry's ability to prevent against oxidative stress, cells were pre-treated with blackberry polyphenol extract for 1 h. Cellular O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> production, measured by DHE assay, was increased in HMVECs treated with e-cigarette condensate, albeit not significantly,  $(0.07 \pm 0.00 \text{ vs. } 0.05 \pm 0.01 \text{-fold}; p=0.092)$  compared to control, blackberry was able to prevent against this increase (0.05  $\pm$  0.02-fold; p=0.056; Fig. 11 B&C). In vivo aorta data suggested the role of iNOS in  $O_2$  production. In vitro, mRNA expression of Nos2 also trends towards an increase compared to control  $(1.32 \pm 0.27 \text{ vs. } 1.00 \pm 0.00 \text{-fold}; p=0.086)$ , an effect which was mitigated by blackberry pre-treatment (0.93  $\pm$  0.26-fold; p=0.050; Fig. 11D). In evaluating other sources of O<sub>2</sub>, NOX1 was significantly increased in response to e-cigarette condensate treatment (1.33  $\pm$  0.26 vs. 1.00  $\pm$  0.00-fold; *p*=0.035), an effect that blackberry pretreatment was unable to mitigate as NOX1 was not significantly lower compared to HMVECs treated with e-cigarette alone  $(1.23 \pm 0.17$ -fold; p=0.707; Fig. 11 D&F). However, expression of NOX2, NOX4 and NOX5 were unchanged in response to e-cigarette condensate treatment (Fig. 11D & G-I). Although not significantly, XO also increased in HMVECs exposed to e-cigarette condensate, despite blackberry pre-treatment (1.94  $\pm$  0.65 vs. 1.00  $\pm$  0.00-fold; p=0.075; Fig. 11 **D&J**).

Given the potential of e-cigarettes to reduce antioxidant defenses and probable role of blackberry polyphenols in increasing overall antioxidant potential, the expression of specific antioxidant and cytoprotective enzymes were assessed in HMVECs. E-cigarette condensate treatment did not induce changes in the expression of regulatory NRF2 (**Fig. 12 A&B**) or expression of certain cellular protectants including dismutases SOD1 (**Fig. 12 A&C**) or SOD2 (**Fig. 12 A&D**) or the peroxidase, CAT (**Fig. 12 A&E**). While no changes were observed in NQO1 (**Fig. 12 A&F**), commonly thought of as downstream of NRF2, changes in HO-1 expression (**Fig.**   A&G), a protein not only regulated by NRF2 but also by other stress-factors, were observed. Specifically, e-cigarette condensate treatment increased expression of HO-1 ( $2.02 \pm 0.13$  vs. 1.00  $\pm 0.00$ -fold; p<0.0001), as well as GPx1 ( $1.67 \pm 0.47$  vs.  $1.00 \pm 0.00$ -fold; p=0.065; **Fig. 12 A&H**) compared to control. Blackberry was able to increase the expression of HO-1 ( $2.24 \pm 0.36$ -fold; p<0.0001) compared to control but as mentioned, had no impact on regulatory NRF2 expression or other cellular protectants. E-cigarette condensate decreased the GSH/GSSG ratio ( $0.72 \pm 0.08$  vs.  $1.00 \pm 0.19$ -fold; p=0.055; **Fig. 12I**) compared to control, an effect that was rescued by blackberry as HMVECs pre-treated with blackberry had a significantly higher GSH/GSSG ratio ( $1.02 \pm 0.21$ -fold; p=0.040) compared to e-cigarette condensate treated cells, indicative of decreased oxidative stress.



Figure 11. Blackberries prevent O2<sup>-</sup> production in HMVECs. Human microvascular endothelial cells (HMVECs) were treated with varying percentages (v/v) of e-cigarette condensate for 24 h to determine cell viability following 2 h incubation with TOX8 (A) \* denotes significant difference (p≤0.05) compared to control (CTRL). HMVECs were treated with 200 µg/ml of blackberry polyphenol extract (BL) for 2 h followed by treatment with 0.5% (v/v) e-cigarette condensate (E-Cig) for 24 h. O2<sup>-</sup> levels were quantified (B) and visualized (C) after 30 min incubation with DHE. mRNA expression of *Nos2* was measured by qPCR (E). Protein expression of pro-oxidant enzymes NOX1 (D&F), NOX2 (D&G), NOX4 (D&H), NOX1 (D&I) and XO (D&J) were determined by western blot. Quantification was performed using Image Lab (Bio-Rad Laboratories). β-actin is representative of multiple blots. Data are expressed as means ± SD from five independent experiments. \*p≤0.05.



Figure 12. Blackberries protect against cellular e-cigarette-induced oxidative stress. HMVECs were treated with 200 µg/ml of blackberry polyphenol extract (BL) for 2 h followed by treatment with 0.5% (v/v) e-cigarette condensate (E-Cig) for 24 h. Protein expression of NRF2 (**A&B**) and downstream products SOD1 (**A&C**), SOD2 (**A&D**), CAT (**A&E**), NQO1 (**A&F**), HO-1 (**A&G**) and GPx1 (**A&H**) were determined by western blot. Quantification was performed using Image Lab (Bio-Rad Laboratories).  $\beta$ -actin is representative of multiple blots. GSH/GSSG ratio (**I**) was determined by quantification of total glutathione (GSH) and reduced glutathione (GSSG) using the glutathione assay (Cayman Chemical). Data are expressed as means ± SD from five independent experiments. \* $p \le 0.05$ ; \*\*\*\* $p \le 0.0001$ .

#### 5.6 Blackberries prevent e-cigarette-induced decrease in NO bioavailability

In order to determine potential detrimental impacts to endothelial cells, a fluorescent NO probe, DAF-2DA, was used to assess intracellular NO changes in response to e-cigarette condensate with and without blackberry pre-treatment. E-cigarette condensate treatment tended to

decrease intracellular NO as measured by DAF-2DA ( $0.24 \pm 0.05$  vs.  $0.30 \pm 0.03$ -fold; p=0.089) compared to control (Fig. 13 A&B). Blackberry, pre-treatment however, prevented against this decline in NO with levels comparable to control ( $0.30 \pm 0.05$ -fold; p=0.971) and, in fact, cells treated with blackberry had a near significant increase in NO compared to e-cigarette condensate treated cells (p=0.069). To further understand the mechanism through which NO bioavailability is being impacted, expression of eNOS and the phosphorylation of regulatory site Ser<sup>1177</sup> was evaluated. Unexpectedly, t-eNOS expression was increased in cells treated with e-cigarette condensate both with and without blackberry compared to control  $(1.20 \pm 0.04 \text{ vs.} 1.16 \pm 0.06 \text{ vs.})$  $1.00 \pm 0.00$ -fold; p=0.003 and p=0.009, respectively; Fig. 13 C&E). However, as a measure of activation, p-eNOS<sup>ser1177</sup> expression was nearly significantly increased in cells pre-treated with blackberry compared to those treated with e-cigarette condensate alone (1.25  $\pm$  0.13 vs. 0.86  $\pm$ 0.28-fold; p=0.058; Fig. 13 C&D). To evaluate upstream regulation of eNOS phosphorylation, expression of p-AKT, responsible for phosphorylation of eNOS, was increased in HMVECs pretreated with blackberry (2.05  $\pm$  0.10 vs. 1.00  $\pm$  0.00; p=0.056; Fig. 13 C&F), albeit not significantly, compared to control with no changes in those exposed to e-cigarette condensate alone (1.54  $\pm$  0.48-fold, p=0.267;). Additionally, SIRT1 is responsible for deacetylation of peNOS, increasing its activity; therefore, decreases in SIRT1 may lead to increased acetylation of p-eNOS and a decrease in its efficiency. Here, we show e-cigarette condensate treatment decreases expression of SIRT1 compared to control ( $0.86 \pm 0.08$  vs.  $1.00 \pm 0.00$ -fold; p=0.028; Fig. 13 **C&G**), an effect that was prevented by blackberry pre-treatment (0.94  $\pm$  0.10-fold; p=0.434;), offering another mechanism through which blackberry mitigates e-cigarette induced p-eNOS dysregulation to improve endothelial NO bioavailability.



Figure 13. Blackberry improves NO bioavailability in e-cigarette condensate treated HMVECs. HMVECs were treated with 200 µg/ml of blackberry polyphenol extract (BL) for 2 h followed by treatment with 0.5% (v/v) e-cigarette condensate (E-Cig) for 24 h. Nitric oxide (NO) levels were quantified (A) and visualized (B) after 30 min incubation with DAF-2DA. Protein expression of p-eNOS<sup>ser1177</sup> (C&D), t-eNOS (C&E), p-AKT (C&F), and the deacetylase SIRT1 (C&G) were determined by western blot. Quantification was performed using Image Lab (Bio-Rad Laboratories).  $\beta$ -actin is representative of multiple blots. Data are expressed as means ± SD from five independent experiments. \* $p \le 0.05$ ; \*\* $p \le 0.01$ .

### 5.7 Blackberry cannot defend against the inflammatory response induced by e-cigarettes

### in endothelial cells

Given the well-established relationship between oxidative stress and inflammatory signaling described previously and the potential for e-cigarettes to elicit an inflammatory response, expression of regulatory inflammatory signaling cascades were assessed in HMVECs. Treatment

with e-cigarette condensate increased phosphorylation of the NF- $\kappa$ B subunit p65 (p-p65; 1.52 ± 0.22 vs. 1.00  $\pm$  0.00-fold; p=0.056; Fig. 14 A&B), blackberry was not able to attenuate this increase and, in fact, HMVECs treated with blackberry exhibited significantly higher p-p65 compared to control (1.59  $\pm$  0.41-fold; p=0.031). Additionally, e-cigarettes induced phosphorylation of MAPKs, including increasing protein expression of p-SAPK/JNK ( $1.64 \pm 0.37$ vs. 1.00  $\pm$  0.00-fold; p=0.006; Fig. 14 A&C) and p-ERK 1/2 (1.27  $\pm$  0.21 vs. 1.00  $\pm$  0.00-fold; p=0.027; Fig. 14 A&E). Blackberry pre-treatment did not prevent the increase in p-SAPK/JNK and an additional MAPK, p38 was significantly higher in the cells pre-treated with blackberry compared to control (1.63  $\pm$  0.48 vs. 1.00  $\pm$  0.00-fold; p=0.015; Fig. 14 A&D). However, phosphorylation of ERK 1/2 was attenuated by blackberry polyphenol extract, as expression in cells pre-treated with blackberry polyphenol extract did not differ from control (1.09  $\pm$  0.11; p=0.618). Upon activation, p-SAPK/JNK regulates phosphorylation of c-jun, a transcription factor participating as part of AP-1. Given the increased activation of SAPK/JNK, p-c-jun was expected to be elevated and was in e-cigarette condensate exposed cells compared to control  $(1.69 \pm 0.03)$ vs. 1.00  $\pm$  0.00-fold; p=0.002; Fig. 14 A&F). Furthermore, blackberry was not able to mitigate this response and remained elevated compared to control (1.63  $\pm$  0.24-fold; p=0.004). AP-1 and NF-kB are major regulatory transcription factors which induce transcription of inflammatory cytokines, adhesion factors, as well as iNOS, previously shown to be increased in response to ecigarette exposure. Here, we see mRNA expression of the inflammatory cytokine Tnf seemingly increased (1.46  $\pm$  0.43 vs. 1.00 v 0.00-fold; p=0.115; Fig. 14G), though not significant. TNF- $\alpha$  is a cytokine which can go on to bind its own receptor and promote further NF- $\kappa$ B signaling activation. Additional genes downstream of AP-1 and NF-kB were increased in response to ecigarette exposure. Including, *Vcam1* (1.61  $\pm$  0.61 vs. 1.00  $\pm$  0.00-fold; *p*=0.073; **Fig. 14H**) and *Ccl2* (2.38 ± 0.62 vs. 1.00 ± 0.00-fold; *p*=0.001; **Fig. 14J**) compared to control. Blackberry was able to mitigate the increase in *Vcam1* mRNA expression (0.93 ± 0.30-fold; *p*=0.045) but had no impact on *Tnf* (1.47 ± 0.36-fold; *p*=0.999) or *Ccl2* mRNA expression (2.47 ± 0.45-fold; *p*=0.936) compared to e-cigarette condensate treatment alone, not surprisingly given the lack of effect blackberry pre-treatment had on upstream regulatory proteins.



**Figure 14. Blackberries do not prevent e-cigarette condensate-induced inflammatory signaling in HMVECs.** HMVECs were treated with 200 µg/ml of blackberry polyphenol extract (BL) for 2 h followed by treatment with 0.5% (v/v) e-cigarette condensate (E-Cig) for 24 h. Total and phosphorylated protein expression of the inflammatory transcription factor NF-κB subunit p65 (**A&B**), redox-sensitive MAPKs SAPK/JNK (**A&C**), p38 (**A&D**), ERK1/2 (**A&E**) and downstream c-jun (**A&F**) were determined by western blot. Quantification was performed using Image Lab (Bio-Rad Laboratories). β-actin is representative of multiple blots. mRNA expression of *Tnf* (**G**), *Vcam1* (**H**), *Ccl2* (**I**) and *Icam1* (**J**) were measured by qPCR. Data are expressed as means ± SD from five independent experiments. \* $p \le 0.05$ ; \*\* $p \le 0.01$ ; \*\*\*  $p \le 0.001$ .

# 5.8 Blackberries are not protective against e-cigarette-induced expression of pro-oxidant and inflammatory mediators in the lung.

When inhaled, e-cigarette vapor comes first in contact with the lung tissue. Therefore, it is expected that deleterious impacts of e-cigarette exposure would be most profound in the lung. Here, e-cigarette exposure significantly increased the expression of NOX2 ( $2.00 \pm 0.61$  vs.  $1.00 \pm$ 0.23-fold; p=0.044; Fig. 15 A&C) and increased NOX4, though not significantly,  $(1.28 \pm 0.28 \text{ vs.})$  $1.00 \pm 0.17$ -fold; p=0.083; Fig. 15 A&D) in the mouse lung compared to control mice. While not increased in the mice exposed to e-cigarettes receiving the control diet, NOX1 (1.69  $\pm$  0.22 vs.  $1.00 \pm 0.34$ -fold, p=0.004; Fig. 15 A&B) and XO ( $1.71 \pm 0.61$  vs.  $1.00 \pm 0.27$ -fold; p=0.040; Fig. **15** A&E) were significantly increased in blackberry supplemented mice exposed to e-cigarettes compared to control. Blackberry supplementation did not decrease NOX2 expression in the lung, however, mice consuming blackberry had significantly lower NOX4 expression, the most predominant NOX isoform in the lung, compared to those exposed to e-cigarettes alone. Interestingly, despite assumed elevations in ROS production, no changes in NT expression were observed in the lung tissue (Fig. 15H). This may be related to the lack of change in NO metabolite levels, a marker of inflammation in the lung, in the BAL fluid, though further studies are needed (p=0.931; Fig. 15G). Despite unchanged NO metabolite levels, stress related signaling was elevated in the lung as evidenced by increased p-SAPK/JNK in mice exposed to e-cigarette compared to control mice, an effect that blackberry was not able to protect against  $(1.76 \pm 0.30 \text{ vs})$ .  $1.00 \pm 0.23$ -fold; *p*=0.008; **Fig. 15** A&F).



Figure 15. Blackberries do not mitigate e-cigarette-induced changes in the lung. Mice consumed a control (AIN-93M) diet alone or supplemented with 5% (w/w) blackberry (BL) for 4 weeks. After four weeks, mice began daily e-cigarette exposure (E-Cig) for 12 weeks. Protein expression of pro-oxidant NOX1 (A&B), NOX2 (A&C), NOX4 (A&D) and XO (A&E) as well as expression of the redox-sensitive MAPK, SAPK (A&F) in the lung were determined by western blot. Quantification was performed using Image Lab (Bio-Rad Laboratories). GAPDH is representative of multiple blots. NO metabolites were measured in the bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid (G). Data are expressed as means  $\pm$  SD; n=5-11. \* $p \le 0.05$ ; \*\* $p \le 0.01$ . Representative images of immunohistochemical staining (n=1-2/group) of NT (H) at 4x and 20x objective magnification, scale bars 50 µM and 100 µM, respectively.

## 5.9 Blackberries do not increase expression of cytoprotective enzymes in the lung of ecigarette exposed mice.

Surprisingly, in the lung, both e-cigarettes and blackberries had minimal impacts on the expression of antioxidant and cytoprotective enzymes. Specifically, no changes were seen in the

expression of the commonly described NRF2-product HO-1 ( $p\geq0.295$ ; Fig. 16 A&B) or of NRF2derived NQO1 ( $p\geq0.911$ ; Fig. 16 A&C) across all groups. E-cigarettes had no impact on the expression of any of the SOD isoforms: SOD1 (p=0.218; Fig. 16 A&D), SOD2 (p=0.638; Fig. 16 A&E), and SOD3 (p=0.478; Fig. 16 A&F) as they were all unchanged compared to control. Blackberry did not increase the expression of any of the SOD isoforms and, in fact, mice consuming blackberry exhibited a significant decline in SOD2 expression compared to those exposed to e-cigarettes ( $0.75 \pm 0.09$  vs.  $1.06 \pm 0.16$ -fold; p=0.001). Additionally, e-cigarette exposure did not impact expression of the GPx1 (p=0.841; Fig. 16 A&G), GPx3 (p=0.871; Fig. 16 A&H) or CAT (p=0.300; Fig. 16 A&I) compared to control. However, those mice consuming blackberry exhibited a decrease in GPx1, albeit not significant, ( $0.61 \pm 0.24$  vs.  $1.00 \pm 0.19$ -fold; p=0.061) compared to control and expression of CAT was significantly lower in mice consuming blackberry in comparison to those exposed to e-cigarette alone ( $0.90 \pm 0.07$  vs.  $1.00 \pm 0.22$ -fold; p=0.048).



Figure 16. Blackberries do not provide cytoprotective value in the lung of e-cigarette exposed mice. Mice consumed a control (AIN-93M) diet alone or supplemented with 5% (w/w) blackberry (BL) for 4 weeks. After four weeks, mice began daily e-cigarette exposure (E-Cig) for 12 weeks. Protein expression of cytoprotective HO-1 (A&B) and NQO1 (A&C), dismutases SOD1 (A&D), SOD2 (A&E), SOD3 (A&F), and peroxidases GPx1 (A&G), GPx3 (A&H), and CAT (A&I) in the lung were determined by western blot. Quantification was performed using Image Lab (Bio-Rad Laboratories). GAPDH is representative of multiple blots. Data are expressed as means  $\pm$  SD; n=5-11; \* $p \le 0.05$ ; \*\*\* $p \le 0.001$ .

#### 5.10 Impact of e-cigarettes in the functional capacity of the heart

The effects of e-cigarettes on cardiac function were assessed by echocardiography after the 16-week experimental period. Representative cross-sectional still shots of echocardiography recordings are shown in **Figure 17A.** EF decreased in e-cigarette exposed mice ( $48.8 \pm 4.4 \text{ vs.} 58.8 \pm 7.4\%$ ; *p*=0.060; **Fig. 17B**) compared to control, although not significantly. Similar effects were seen in the fractional shortening parameter which decreased in mice exposed to e-cigarettes ( $24.4 \pm 2.8 \text{ vs.} 30.8 \pm 5.2\%$ ; *p*=0.054; **Fig. 17C**) compared to control. Blackberry consumption did not provide protection in cardiac function decline as both EF ( $46.7 \pm 8.5\%$ ; *p*=0.025) and fractional shortening ( $23.0 \pm 4.9\%$ ; *p*=0.022) were significantly less in blackberry supplemented mice compared to control mice. Other functional parameters were assessed and unchanged by e-cigarette exposure including HR (*p*≥0.528), stroke volume (*p*≥0.277), cardiac output (*p*≥0.368), and LV mass (*p*≥0.203).



Figure 17. Changes in cardiac functional parameters induced by e-cigarette exposure. Mice consumed a control (AIN-93M) diet alone or supplemented with 5% (w/w) blackberry (BL) for 4 weeks. After four weeks, mice began daily e-cigarette exposure (E-Cig) for 12 weeks. Cardiac functional parameters were assessed by echocardiography after the 16-week period. Representative cross-sectional still shots of echocardiography (A). Parameters measured include (B) ejection fraction (%) and (C) fractional shortening (%). Quantifications were made using Vevo 3100 software. Data are presented as means  $\pm$  SD, n=5-6. \* $p \le 0.05$ .

#### 5.11 Blackberries are not protective against detrimental changes in redox signaling induced

#### by e-cigarette exposure in the left ventricle

E-cigarette exposure alone did not significantly increase the expression of NOX isoforms NOX1 (p=0.955; **Fig. 18 A&B**) or NOX4 (p=0.602; **Fig. 18 A&D**) in the heart compared to control. However, an increase in NOX2 expression was observed in the left ventricle of e-cigarette exposed mice ( $1.36 \pm 0.40$  vs.  $1.00 \pm 0.23$ -fold; p=0.084; **Fig. 18 A&C**) compared to control, though not significant. As such, blackberry consumption did not have any impact on NOX1 ( $p\geq0.906$ ) or NOX4 ( $p\geq0.172$ ) expression and, in fact, mice supplemented with blackberry did have a significant increase in NOX2 (1.42  $\pm$  0.23-fold; *p*=0.043) expression in the heart compared to control. Dysregulated redox status is known to induce MAPK signaling and here e-cigarette exposure trended towards a significant increase in pSAPK/JNK (1.52  $\pm$  0.48 vs. 1.00  $\pm$  0.26-fold; *p*=0.069; **Fig. 18 A&E**) expression in the heart compared to control, an effect that blackberry was unable to protect against and, in fact, expression was higher in the mice consuming blackberry (1.73  $\pm$  0.63; *p*=0.040) compared to control.



Figure 18. Blackberries are not protective against detrimental e-cigarette-induced redox changes. Mice consumed a control (AIN-93M) diet alone or supplemented with 5% (w/w) blackberry (BL) for 4 weeks. After four weeks, mice began daily e-cigarette exposure (E-Cig) for 12 weeks. Protein expression of pro-oxidant NOX isoforms NOX1 (A&B), NOX2 (A&C), and NOX4 (A&D); and redox-sensitive pSAPK/JNK (A&E) in the left ventricle of the heart were determined by western blot. Quantification was performed using Image Lab (Bio-Rad Laboratories). Total protein is representative of multiple blots. Data are expressed as means  $\pm$  SD; n=5-8. \* $p \le 0.05$ .

# 5.12 Blackberries provide some cardiac cellular protection by increasing certain antioxidant enzymes

Protein expression of antioxidant and cellular defensive enzymes were assessed in the LV of the heart of mice exposed to e-cigarettes. Unexpectedly, e-cigarette exposure did not decrease the expression of any of the antioxidants evaluated. Instead, SOD1 expression was increased in the LV of mice exposed to e-cigarettes  $(1.41 \pm 0.27 \text{ vs}. 1.00 \pm 0.30\text{-fold}; p=0.036;$  Fig. 19 A&B) compared to control. However, e-cigarette exposure alone had no impact on SOD2 (*p*=0.161; Fig. 19 A&C) or SOD3 (*p*=0.755; Fig. 19 A&D) and did not impact the expression of peroxidases such as CAT (*p*=0.415; Fig. 19 A&E), GPx1 (*p*=0.459; Fig. 19 A&F) or the protectant, HO-1 (*p*=0.122; Fig. 19 A&G). Blackberry consumption did however increase the expression of SOD1 (1.47 ± 0.31-fold; *p*=0.014) and CAT (1.66 ± 0.44-fold; *p*=0.001) but had no impact on SOD2, SOD3, GPx1 or HO-1 expression.



Figure 19. Blackberries provide some cellular protection in the left ventricle by increasing antioxidant enzymes. Mice consumed a control (AIN-93M) diet alone or supplemented with 5% (w/w) blackberry (BL) for 4 weeks. After four weeks, mice began daily e-cigarette exposure (E-Cig) for 12 weeks. Protein expression of antioxidant enzymes SOD1 (A&B), SOD2 (A&C), SOD3 (A&D), CAT (A&E), GPx1 (A&F) and HO-1 (A&G) in the left ventricle of the heart were determined by western blot. Quantification was performed using Image Lab (Bio-Rad Laboratories). Total protein is representative of multiple blots. Data are expressed as means  $\pm$  SD; n=5-8. \* $p \le 0.05$ . \*\* $p \le 0.01$ .

#### 6 **DISCUSSION**

This study aimed to examine the effects of chronic e-cigarette exposure in a multi-organ system of cardiopulmonary disease. Here, wild-type mice were exposed to nicotine containing e-cigarette vapor daily for a total of 12 weeks in order to determine functional, morphological, and cellular effects of chronic e-cigarette use. As the chronic effects of e-cigarette use remain unknown, this study attempted to add to the literature in this area. Our principal findings in this area are that **1**) chronic e-cigarette exposure for 12 weeks resulted in reduced NO bioavailability, an effect mitigated by blackberry consumption; **2**) dysregulated redox-signaling drives molecular changes in eNOS functioning leading to reductions in NO production and blackberries have the potential to interrupt these molecular signaling changes; and **3**) upregulated pro-oxidant signaling in the lung and heart contribute to reductions in cardiac function resulting from e-cigarette exposure but blackberry did not protective against these effects.

Previous animal models have examined the effects of e-cigarette vapor and aerosol exposure; however, results have been highly variable due to diversity in e-cigarette device types, e-liquid composition and exposure patterns. E-cigarette exposure is known to induce significant increases in SBP and DBP post-vape exposure in both e-cigarette users, who are expected to be adapted, and non-users (38, 148). Here, we saw no significant change in SBP and DBP in our mice exposed to e-cigarette vapor for 12 weeks. In another, more robust animal study, increases in SBP to hypertensive levels, were observed in mice exposed to e-cigarette vapor for 16 weeks (152, 205). The discrepancy in these results is likely related to the duration and exposure pattern of e-cigarette vapor as mechanistic changes observed in our study were similar. Specifically, diminished NO bioavailability was observed in the mice exposed to e-cigarette vapor which was attributed to alterations in the eNOS/AKT signaling axis similar to what we observed in this study

where both eNOS and AKT phosphorylation were decreased resulting in diminished NO production (152, 205). As mentioned previously, ROS are known to reduce BH<sub>4</sub> availability resulting in eNOS uncoupling. While we did not measure BH<sub>4</sub> concentrations here, this study showed reduced BH<sub>4</sub> concentrations as a result of e-cigarette exposure which is a possible mechanism through which increased ROS is contributing to eNOS uncoupling, leading to further  $O_2^{-}$  production.

Heating of e-liquid by the e-cigarette atomizer contributes to the development of free radicals and reactive aldehydes in e-cigarette vapor which are ultimately inhaled contributing to exogenous ROS (6, 206). Not only does exogenous ROS contribute to the imbalance in oxidantantioxidant ratio, e-cigarettes have also been shown to upregulate pro-oxidant enzymes which contribute to endogenous ROS production. Specifically, NOX2, the primary NOX isoform in the endothelium, has been shown to be upregulated as a result of e-cigarette use in human and animals (38, 152). Additionally, NOX2 deletion and inhibition prevents against e-cigarette induced vascular impairment (38). Interestingly, we did not see significant increases in NOX2 in mice in the aorta or HMVECs as a result of e-cigarette exposure. However, e-cigarette exposure significantly increased NOX4 and XO in the aorta, as well as increased NOX1 in HMVECs, results which were supported by increased O<sub>2</sub><sup>•</sup> production in HMVECs as a result of e-cigarette condensate treatment. These results suggest involvement of other ROS-producing enzymes, aside from NOX2, in e-cigarette-induced endothelial dysfunction. We also demonstrated a trend towards an increase in iNOS mRNA expression following e-cigarette condensate exposure. iNOS a redoxsensitive inflammatory marker that, under stress conditions, contributes to rapid and pathological release of NO side-by-side O2<sup>-</sup> exacerbating ONOO- production. This increase in iNOS may provide an explanation for the systemic increase in NO observed *in vivo* in our study.

Our results also offer new molecular insights into the involvement of certain inflammatory transcription factors in e-cigarette-induced inflammation. In HMVECs, the redox-sensitive MAPK, p-SAPK/JNK, known to regulate phosphorylation of c-jun, part of the regulatory transcription factor AP-1, was upregulated, alongside p-c-jun, in response to e-cigarette exposure. We also noted increases in the expression of the master transcription factor NF- $\kappa$ B in response to e-cigarette condensate treatment in HMVECs with increased mRNA expression of some of the its downstream products such as *Nos2*, *Vcam1* and *Ccl2*. These results suggest the involvement of oxidative stress induced by e-cigarette exposure in inducing redox-sensitive inflammatory signaling in the vasculature. Though vascular function was not necessarily assessed in this study, these molecular changes are early markers of endothelial dysfunction and if e-cigarette exposure were to be prolonged, more detrimental structural and functional changes in the vasculature are anticipated.

In addition to assessing changes in the vasculature, we also assessed signaling changes occurring in the lung and heart. In the lung, e-cigarette exposure induced pro-oxidant expression of NOX2 and an increase, though not significant, in NOX4, the primary NOX in the lung. Evidence of the involvement of NOXs in e-cigarette-induced lung conditions, specifically, is non-existent. However, in a model acute lung disease, NOX4 knockdown was more effective at improving survival rate compared to NOX1 or NOX2 knockdown, suggesting the involvement of this isoform in mitigating lung disease (207). Similarly, while all NOX isoforms are upregulated in lung tissue sections of patients with COPD, knockdown of NOX4 was more effective at reducing p-p65 expression and downstream TNF- $\alpha$  production in cigarette smoke-exposed mice (208). Therefore, NOX4 is likely a significant contributor to lung disease progression and may be the main producer of ROS in lung conditions. Though we saw increases in NOX4, we did not observe changes in NT

which may be due to the lack of change in NO metabolites in the lung. Further studies are needed to confirm these results and to determine more exact oxidative stress responses in the lung resulting from e-cigarette exposure.

In the heart, minimal changes to pro-oxidants were observed in the LV, as NOX1 and NOX4 were unchanged and NOX2 increased albeit not significantly. While p-SAPK/JNK was modestly increased in e-cigarette exposure, there was no evidence of increased radical producing enzymes and further investigation into these mechanisms is needed. Despite minimal changes to molecular signaling, changes in cardiac function were observed. Specifically, EF and fractional shortening were significantly decreased in e-cigarette exposed mice. These results were in line with previous studies where 32-week exposure to e-cigarette vapor resulted in a 9% decrease in EF and ~4% decrease fractional shortening, with no other changes to cardiac parameters (209). In this same study, no changes in pulmonary functional parameters were observed, in line with previous studies that indicate e-cigarettes may not induce pathological changes akin to commonly characterized COPD (209, 210). Given the interrelationship between pulmonary and cardiovascular diseases, further investigation is needed to understand how e-cigarettes are impacting function and cellular changes in these tissues.

A significant aim of this study was to determine the effectiveness of polyphenol rich blackberries in protecting against the detrimental impacts of e-cigarette exposure. As discussed, ecigarettes induce a multi-organ oxidative stress response; therefore, utilizing polyphenol rich whole food-based approaches which provide antioxidant benefit through inherent free radical scavenging and induction of cytoprotective signaling pathways may be an effective adjunctive therapeutic. Epidemiological studies indicate that polyphenol rich dietary patterns are linked to a reduction CVD risk factors (211, 212). Furthermore, anthocyanin rich diets are known to prevent age-related lung function decline (19). Mechanistically speaking, previous studies by our lab have demonstrated the synergistic benefit of blackberry and raspberry in mitigating inflammatory signaling in the LV of high-fat diet fed mice (213). Other studies from our lab have demonstrated the ability of berries, blackberry, raspberry, and blueberry, to improve NO bioavailability through various mechanisms (188, 214). A major benefit of blackberry supplementation in this current study was their impact on the vascular endothelium as less of an impact was observed in the lung and heart.

Here, we first demonstrated the ability of blackberry to improve NO bioavailability *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Therefore, a major goal of this study was to identify the mechanism through which blackberries are having this beneficial effect against e-cigarette induced endothelial dysfunction, a visual description of which can be seen in **Figure 20**. Given the assumption that polyphenols act as free radical scavengers, we assessed the antioxidant capacity in the serum of mice to determine if this was impacting NO bioavailability. E-cigarettes reduced the antioxidant capacity in the serum as measured by the FRAP assay. Following consumption of polyphenol rich foods, measures of FRAP in the serum are increased (215). However, in our study, blackberry did not improve the antioxidant capacity in the serum, this leads us to believe e-cigarette metabolites may be oxidizing the blackberry polyphenols rendering them inactive and unable to scavenge free radicals. Further studies would be needed to assess whether this is the case.

Furthermore, in the aorta, blackberry did not reduce the e-cigarette-induced increase in NOXs but did prevent an increase in XO which was paralleled by an observed decrease in NT. Previous *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies have shown the ability of berries to increase antioxidant enzymes including NRF2 and its downstream products (188, 214, 216). As such, we assessed NRF2-downstream products and other antioxidant enzymes. Indeed, blackberry increased

intracellular dismutases, NQO1 and SOD1 in the aorta and increased HO-1, though not significantly. Looking more specifically at the effects on the microvascular endothelial cells, blackberry significantly increased HO-1 expression and the GSH/GSSG ratio indicative of decreased oxidative stress either due to decreased pro-oxidants or increased antioxidant activity/expression. Indeed, blackberry was effective at reducing overall  $O_2^{-}$  production *in vitro*, we hypothesize this is due to the decrease in iNOS, coupled with the increase in NQO1 and SOD1 exhibited *in vitro*. Expression of iNOS, measured by IHC, was decreased in the aorta, an effect which other polyphenols have been shown to mitigate through regulation of NF-kB redox signaling (217), which may be occurring here. Though we did not observe a decrease in NF-kB phosphorylation *in vitro* and this mechanism should be investigated further *in vivo*.

To further determine how blackberry may be improving NO bioavailability aside from the reduction in O<sub>2</sub><sup>--</sup>, we investigated their ability to modulate the e-cigarette-induced changes in eNOS/AKT signaling. Indeed, we found blackberries increased phosphorylation of eNOS at Ser<sup>1177</sup> in the aorta of e-cigarette exposed mice and in e-cigarette condensate treated HMVECs. Furthermore, *in vitro*, blackberry elicited an increase in AKT phosphorylation, albeit not significant, at the regulatory site Ser<sup>473</sup> providing a mechanism through which eNOS regulation is occurring. Other polyphenols, such as resveratrol, have been shown to be effective in inducing AKT phosphorylation (218). Resveratrol is also known to be a potent SIRT1 activator, which can deacetylate proteins allowing them to be stabilized; therefore, we sought to assess whether blackberries were acting in a similar manner. We found e-cigarettes reduced expression of SIRT1, which may be negatively impacting overall stability and activity of eNOS and AKT in this setting. This decrease in SIRT1 expression in HMVECs was prevented by blackberry pre-treatment,

offering another mechanism through which blackberries are improving NO production and overall bioavailability *in vitro* and possibly *in vivo*.

While NT was unchanged in the lung, e-cigarette exposure did increase the expression of NOX4 and p-SAPK/JNK. Blackberry consumption significantly decreased the expression of NOX4 in the lungs. In prior studies, gallic acid, a polyphenol rich in blackberry, prevented against elastase-induced emphysema and reduced ROS and lipid peroxidation (16); however, expression of ROS producing enzymes were not assessed in this study. The preliminary data presented here does demonstrate the ability of blackberry to attenuate Ang II-induced expression of NOX4 in the lung. While blackberry consumption itself was unable to decrease p-SAPK/JNK, other studies utilizing individual polyphenols, such as C3G, have demonstrate their ability to reduce other MAPKs, p38 specifically, in a model of pulmonary HTN (219). Unexpectedly, blackberry consumption had no effect on antioxidant enzymes in the lung. However, given the minimal appearance of oxidative stress and blackberries ability to mitigate ROS production through decreased NOX4, antioxidant responses may have been unneeded.

As mentioned, there were minimal detrimental changes induced by e-cigarettes in the molecular mechanisms evaluated in the heart. However, the cardiac functional parameters, EF and fractional shortening, were increased by e-cigarette exposure, an effect that blackberry consumption was unable to present. In the heart, we did observe significant increases in SOD1 compared to control in blackberry supplemented mice; however, SOD1 was also increased in e-cigarette exposed animals without blackberry supplementation and therefore was likely not due to the blackberry itself. However, a significant increase in the peroxidase CAT was noted compared to control animals in the LV of mice consuming blackberry. In a prior study, in a model of high-fat, high-sucrose induced obesity, blackberry was less effective than raspberry at increasing

antioxidant enzymes in the heart. However, again, minimal oxidative stress was observed in the heart and therefore counterregulatory enzymes may be unwarranted. However, given the changes in cardiac function, further mechanisms need to be explored to determine what is contributing to e-cigarette-induced changes in heart function.

This study does not exist without limitations in design and translatability. A major limitation of e-cigarette research in animals is the ability to mimic human patterns of use. Given the vast variety of types of devices, diversity in e-liquid types, and overall use under user control, creating a study that closely aligns with the use of a "typical" user is challenging. In addition, because of the numerous components of e-cigarette liquids themselves (i.e., flavorings, nicotine, humectant), identifying the causative component is difficult. Studies have demonstrated nicotine (205) and flavor-dependent (6) effects which may ultimately impact the results of chronic studies. However, evidence is consistent that e-cigarette exposure negatively impacts vascular function and systemic markers of oxidative stress acutely. Therefore, if users access e-cigarette repeatedly, they will remain in this "acute" state of impaired vascular function, elevated BP and with increases in systemic markers of oxidative stress which will ultimately be detrimental. Given other studies presented, it is possible that the length of time of this study was too short to induce functional changes in vascular function that would ultimately impact BP. For example, prior studies did not note an increase in BP until 16 weeks of e-cigarette exposure (152). Consequently, longer studies are needed to investigate the more chronic effects of e-cigarette use on vascular function. Unfortunately, if individuals continue to utilize these devices more human evidence will be available to their detriment.

Given the challenges in long-term study design with e-cigarettes. A future study examining the acute of effects of e-cigarette exposure in users consuming a polyphenol-rich diet versus a diet

low in polyphenols, may provide more evidence as to how polyphenols may mitigate acute impacts that, after continued use, have the potential to become chronic. While blackberry consumption offers a simplistic, adjunct therapeutic option for mitigating the vascular effects of e-cigarettes, it was ineffective at mitigating detriments in the heart. Several of our previous studies (213, 214, 216) have reported beneficial effects with higher doses of blackberry (i.e., 10% w/w), thus, there is a possibility that blackberry consumption in higher amounts may be more beneficial. It is also possible that other polyphenol-rich berries, such as raspberry or blueberry or a combination of berries, would be more beneficial in this model simply because of their different polyphenolic make up and potential synergism. Further studies are needed to determine the synergistic benefits of polyphenolic rich foods in this model as a polyphenol-rich, plant-based, whole-food diet is likely the most efficacious.



Figure 20. Mechanism through which blackberries reduce oxidative burden induced by e-cigarettes in the vasculature. (A) Following e-cigarette use, inhaled oxidants enter systemic circulation through the alveoli-capillary interface at which point (B) e-cigarettes and their components cause upregulation of iNOS, NOXs, and XO leading to an overproduction of  $O_2^$ which reduces NO bioavailability ultimately resulting in vascular damage and vasoconstriction. At the mechanistic level in vascular endothelial cells, blackberries (C) reduce the expression of XO and iNOS but not NOXs, ultimately contributing to a reduction in  $O_2^-$  production;  $O_2^-$  leads to phosphorylation of redox-sensitive proteins such as (D) Blackberry did not reduce

phosphorylation of NF- $\kappa$ B, which is traditionally activated by a redox-sensitive signaling cascade where IKK phosphorylates I $\kappa$ B, marking it for ubiquination and allowing for NF- $\kappa$ B phosphorylation and translocation (**E**) Blackberry also did not impact the MAPK signaling cascade where MAPKKK phosphorylates MAPK p38 and SAPK/JNK, allowing for SAPK/JNK to bind cjun, phosphorylating it and promoting its translocation; (**F**) O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> can oxidize cystine residues on KEAP1 allowing it to release NRF2 for nuclear translocation, blackberry did not increase expression of the transcription factor NRF2, but did increase expression of its products NQO1 and SOD1, proteins which convert O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> to the less reactive H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> contributing to reductions in O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>; (**G**) blackberry increased the expression of p-AKT, which is under control of phosphorylated PI3K, leading to increased expression of p-eNOS and ultimately increasing NO production and bioavailability due to reduced O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>; (**H**) blackberry also prevented against a decrease in SIRT1 by e-cigarettes, a deacetylase known to improve eNOS and NRF2 activity.

#### 7 CONCLUSION

This study demonstrates the multi-organ impacts of chronic e-cigarette use and the potential for blackberry consumption to serve as a therapeutic option against these detrimental effects. Here, we demonstrated the impact of e-cigarettes on the vascular endothelium and their specific ability to mitigate NO-related signaling. Specifically, in vitro and in vivo evidence points to the following effects in the vascular endothelium; e-cigarettes induced expression of enzymatic  $O_2^{\bullet}$  producers, modulated redox-sensitive inflammatory mediators and reduced phosphorylation of eNOS at Ser<sup>1177</sup>, altogether reducing systemic NO bioavailability. Blackberry consumption was able to mitigate these detriments by reducing  $O_2^{\bullet}$  primarily through a reduction in iNOS expression, leading to improved NO bioavailability and reduced oxidative stress in the vasculature. There were less, but not inconsequential, effects of e-cigarette exposure in the lung and heart. E-cigarettes did increase expression of pro-oxidant enzymes which blackberries were unable to fully attenuate in these periphery tissues. Additionally, e-cigarettes decreased cardiac functional parameters, an effect not mitigated by blackberry consumption. Altogether, these studies suggest the detrimental effects of e-cigarettes, especially in the vasculature which have the ability to extend and impact peripheral tissues. Blackberries can mitigate these effects in the vasculature but is not as effective in other tissues. Further studies should explore the use of other polyphenolic rich foods alone and in combination in a more robust model of e-cigarette exposure. Additionally, considering public health relevance, polyphenolic rich foods should be assessed as an adjunctive treatment in cellular and systemic repair following cigarette and/or e-cigarette use cessation.

### REFERENCES

- Almagro P, Lopez F, Cabrera FJ, Portillo J, Fernandez-Ruiz M, Zubillaga E, Diez J, Roman P, Murcia-Zaragoza J, Boixeda R, Murio C, Soriano JB, Grupos de trabajo de EyPPyEAdlSEdMI. [Comorbidities in patients hospitalized due to chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. A comparative analysis of the ECCO and ESMI studies]. Rev Clin Esp. 2012;212(6):281-6. Epub 2012/04/24. doi: 10.1016/j.rce.2012.02.014. PubMed PMID: 22521437.
- Gupta NK, Agrawal RK, Srivastav AB, Ved ML. Echocardiographic evaluation of heart in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patient and its co-relation with the severity of disease. Lung India. 2011;28(2):105-9. Epub 2011/06/30. doi: 10.4103/0970-2113.80321. PubMed PMID: 21712919; PMCID: PMC3109831.
- Reidel B, Radicioni G, Clapp PW, Ford AA, Abdelwahab S, Rebuli ME, Haridass P, Alexis NE, Jaspers I, Kesimer M. E-Cigarette Use Causes a Unique Innate Immune Response in the Lung, Involving Increased Neutrophilic Activation and Altered Mucin Secretion. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2018;197(4):492-501. Epub 2017/10/21. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201708-15900C. PubMed PMID: 29053025; PMCID: PMC5821909.
- 4. Bahl V, Lin S, Xu N, Davis B, Wang YH, Talbot P. Comparison of electronic cigarette refill fluid cytotoxicity using embryonic and adult models. Reprod Toxicol. 2012;34(4):529-37. Epub 2012/09/20. doi: 10.1016/j.reprotox.2012.08.001. PubMed PMID: 22989551.
- Farsalinos KE, Romagna G, Allifranchini E, Ripamonti E, Bocchietto E, Todeschi S, Tsiapras D, Kyrzopoulos S, Voudris V. Comparison of the cytotoxic potential of cigarette smoke and electronic cigarette vapour extract on cultured myocardial cells. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2013;10(10):5146-62. Epub 2013/10/19. doi: 10.3390/ijerph10105146. PubMed PMID: 24135821; PMCID: PMC3823305.
- Lerner CA, Sundar IK, Yao H, Gerloff J, Ossip DJ, McIntosh S, Robinson R, Rahman I. Vapors produced by electronic cigarettes and e-juices with flavorings induce toxicity, oxidative stress, and inflammatory response in lung epithelial cells and in mouse lung. PLoS One. 2015;10(2):e0116732. Epub 2015/02/07. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0116732. PubMed PMID: 25658421; PMCID: PMC4319729.
- Garcia-Arcos I, Geraghty P, Baumlin N, Campos M, Dabo AJ, Jundi B, Cummins N, Eden E, Grosche A, Salathe M, Foronjy R. Chronic electronic cigarette exposure in mice induces features of COPD in a nicotine-dependent manner. Thorax. 2016;71(12):1119-29. Epub 2016/08/26. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2015-208039. PubMed PMID: 27558745; PMCID: PMC5136722.
- Jacobson K, Martinez J, Larroque S, Jones IW, Paschke T. Nicotine pharmacokinetics of electronic cigarettes: A pooled data analysis from the literature. Toxicol Rep. 2021;8:84-95. Epub 2021/01/14. doi: 10.1016/j.toxrep.2020.12.016. PubMed PMID: 33437651; PMCID: PMC7786013.
- 9. Czogala J, Cholewinski M, Kutek A, Zielinska-Danch W. [Evaluation of changes in hemodynamic parameters after the use of electronic nicotine delivery systems among regular cigarette smokers]. Przegl Lek. 2012;69(10):841-5. Epub 2013/02/21. PubMed PMID: 23421044.
- 10. Farsalinos KE, Tsiapras D, Kyrzopoulos S, Savvopoulou M, Voudris V. Acute effects of using an electronic nicotine-delivery device (electronic cigarette) on myocardial function:

comparison with the effects of regular cigarettes. BMC Cardiovasc Disord. 2014;14:78. Epub 2014/06/25. doi: 10.1186/1471-2261-14-78. PubMed PMID: 24958250; PMCID: PMC4077146.

- Franzen KF, Willig J, Cayo Talavera S, Meusel M, Sayk F, Reppel M, Dalhoff K, Mortensen K, Droemann D. E-cigarettes and cigarettes worsen peripheral and central hemodynamics as well as arterial stiffness: A randomized, double-blinded pilot study. Vasc Med. 2018;23(5):419-25. Epub 2018/07/10. doi: 10.1177/1358863X18779694. PubMed PMID: 29985113.
- Chaumont M, de Becker B, Zaher W, Culie A, Deprez G, Melot C, Reye F, Van Antwerpen P, Delporte C, Debbas N, Boudjeltia KZ, van de Borne P. Differential Effects of E-Cigarette on Microvascular Endothelial Function, Arterial Stiffness and Oxidative Stress: A Randomized Crossover Trial. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):10378. Epub 2018/07/12. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-28723-0. PubMed PMID: 29991814; PMCID: PMC6039507.
- 13. Chatterjee S, Tao JQ, Johncola A, Guo W, Caporale A, Langham MC, Wehrli FW. Acute exposure to e-cigarettes causes inflammation and pulmonary endothelial oxidative stress in nonsmoking, healthy young subjects. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2019;317(2):L155-L66. Epub 2019/05/02. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00110.2019. PubMed PMID: 31042077; PMCID: PMC6734380.
- Szucs B, Szucs C, Petrekanits M, Varga JT. Molecular Characteristics and Treatment of Endothelial Dysfunction in Patients with COPD: A Review Article. Int J Mol Sci. 2019;20(18). Epub 2019/09/07. doi: 10.3390/ijms20184329. PubMed PMID: 31487864; PMCID: PMC6770145.
- 15. Polak M, Dorynska A, Szafraniec K, Pajak A. Cardiovascular risk assessment, cardiovascular disease risk factors, and lung function parameters. Kardiol Pol. 2018;76(7):1055-63. Epub 2018/02/06. doi: 10.5603/KP.a2018.0055. PubMed PMID: 29399756.
- 16. Singla E, Dharwal V, Naura AS. Gallic acid protects against the COPD-linked lung inflammation and emphysema in mice. Inflamm Res. 2020;69(4):423-34. Epub 2020/03/08. doi: 10.1007/s00011-020-01333-1. PubMed PMID: 32144443.
- Kim W, Lim D, Kim J. p-Coumaric Acid, a Major Active Compound of Bambusae Caulis in Taeniam, Suppresses Cigarette Smoke-Induced Pulmonary Inflammation. Am J Chin Med. 2018;46(2):407-21. Epub 2018/02/13. doi: 10.1142/S0192415X18500209. PubMed PMID: 29433391.
- Sohrabi F, Dianat M, Badavi M, Radan M, Mard SA. Does gallic acid improve cardiac function by attenuation of oxidative stress and inflammation in an elastase-induced lung injury? Iran J Basic Med Sci. 2020;23(9):1130-8. Epub 2020/09/24. doi: 10.22038/ijbms.2020.46427.10721. PubMed PMID: 32963734; PMCID: PMC7491503.
- 19. Mehta AJ, Cassidy A, Litonjua AA, Sparrow D, Vokonas P, Schwartz J. Dietary anthocyanin intake and age-related decline in lung function: longitudinal findings from the VA Normative Aging Study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2016;103(2):542-50. Epub 2016/01/23. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.115.121467. PubMed PMID: 26791184; PMCID: PMC4733262.
- Coleman B, Chang JT, Rostron BL, Johnson SE, Das B, Del Valle-Pinero AY. An Examination of Device Types and Features Used by Adult Electronic Nicotine Delivery System (ENDS) Users in the PATH Study, 2015-2016. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2019;16(13). Epub 2019/07/05. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16132329. PubMed PMID: 31269633; PMCID: PMC6651074.

- 21. Zare S, Nemati M, Zheng Y. A systematic review of consumer preference for e-cigarette attributes: Flavor, nicotine strength, and type. PLoS One. 2018;13(3):e0194145. Epub 2018/03/16. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0194145. PubMed PMID: 29543907; PMCID: PMC5854347.
- Leigh NJ, Lawton RI, Hershberger PA, Goniewicz ML. Flavourings significantly affect inhalation toxicity of aerosol generated from electronic nicotine delivery systems (ENDS). Tob Control. 2016;25(Suppl 2):ii81-ii7. Epub 2016/09/17. doi: 10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2016-053205. PubMed PMID: 27633767; PMCID: PMC5784427.
- 23. Dusautoir R, Zarcone G, Verriele M, Garçon G, Fronval I, Beauval N, Allorge D, Riffault V, Locoge N, Lo-Guidice JM, Anthérieu S. Comparison of the chemical composition of aerosols from heated tobacco products, electronic cigarettes and tobacco cigarettes and their toxic impacts on the human bronchial epithelial BEAS-2B cells. J Hazard Mater. 2021;401:123417. Epub 2020/08/09. doi: 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2020.123417. PubMed PMID: 32763707.
- Goniewicz ML, Knysak J, Gawron M, Kosmider L, Sobczak A, Kurek J, Prokopowicz A, Jablonska-Czapla M, Rosik-Dulewska C, Havel C, Jacob P, 3rd, Benowitz N. Levels of selected carcinogens and toxicants in vapour from electronic cigarettes. Tob Control. 2014;23(2):133-9. Epub 2013/03/08. doi: 10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2012-050859. PubMed PMID: 23467656; PMCID: PMC4154473.
- 25. Shinbashi M, Rubin BK. Electronic cigarettes and e-cigarette/vaping product use associated lung injury (EVALI). Paediatr Respir Rev. 2020;36:87-91. Epub 2020/07/13. doi: 10.1016/j.prrv.2020.06.003. PubMed PMID: 32653465.
- 26. Krishnasamy VP, Hallowell BD, Ko JY, Board A, Hartnett KP, Salvatore PP, Danielson M, Kite-Powell A, Twentyman E, Kim L, Cyrus A, Wallace M, Melstrom P, Haag B, King BA, Briss P, Jones CM, Pollack LA, Ellington S, Lung Injury Response Epidemiology/Surveillance Task F. Update: Characteristics of a Nationwide Outbreak of E-cigarette, or Vaping, Product Use-Associated Lung Injury United States, August 2019-January 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2020;69(3):90-4. Epub 2020/01/24. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6903e2. PubMed PMID: 31971931; PMCID: PMC7367698 Journal Editors form for disclosure of potential conflicts of interest. No potential conflicts of interest were disclosed.
- 27. Smith ML, Gotway MB, Crotty Alexander LE, Hariri LP. Vaping-related lung injury. Virchows Arch. 2020. Epub 2020/10/28. doi: 10.1007/s00428-020-02943-0. PubMed PMID: 33106908; PMCID: PMC7590536.
- 28. Global, regional, and national life expectancy, all-cause mortality, and cause-specific mortality for 249 causes of death, 1980-2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. Lancet. 2016;388(10053):1459-544. Epub 2016/10/14. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(16)31012-1. PubMed PMID: 27733281; PMCID: PMC5388903.
- Burkes RM, Donohue JF. An Update on the Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease 2017 Guidelines With a Focus on Classification and Management of Stable COPD. Respir Care. 2018;63(6):749-58. Epub 2018/05/26. doi: 10.4187/respcare.06174. PubMed PMID: 29794208.
- 30. Vestbo J, Hurd SS, Agusti AG, Jones PW, Vogelmeier C, Anzueto A, Barnes PJ, Fabbri LM, Martinez FJ, Nishimura M, Stockley RA, Sin DD, Rodriguez-Roisin R. Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary

disease: GOLD executive summary. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2013;187(4):347-65. Epub 2012/08/11. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201204-0596PP. PubMed PMID: 22878278.

- Fabbri LM, Luppi F, Beghe B, Rabe KF. Complex chronic comorbidities of COPD. Eur Respir J. 2008;31(1):204-12. Epub 2008/01/02. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00114307. PubMed PMID: 18166598.
- Sin DD, Anthonisen NR, Soriano JB, Agusti AG. Mortality in COPD: Role of comorbidities. Eur Respir J. 2006;28(6):1245-57. Epub 2006/12/02. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00133805. PubMed PMID: 17138679.
- Falk JA, Kadiev S, Criner GJ, Scharf SM, Minai OA, Diaz P. Cardiac disease in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Proc Am Thorac Soc. 2008;5(4):543-8. Epub 2008/05/06. doi: 10.1513/pats.200708-142ET. PubMed PMID: 18453369; PMCID: PMC2645333.
- 34. Ambrose JA, Barua RS. The pathophysiology of cigarette smoking and cardiovascular disease: an update. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2004;43(10):1731-7. Epub 2004/05/18. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2003.12.047. PubMed PMID: 15145091.
- Guo X, Oldham MJ, Kleinman MT, Phalen RF, Kassab GS. Effect of cigarette smoking on nitric oxide, structural, and mechanical properties of mouse arteries. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2006;291(5):H2354-61. Epub 2006/07/04. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00376.2006. PubMed PMID: 16815989.
- 36. Barua RS, Ambrose JA, Eales-Reynolds LJ, DeVoe MC, Zervas JG, Saha DC. Dysfunctional endothelial nitric oxide biosynthesis in healthy smokers with impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilatation. Circulation. 2001;104(16):1905-10. Epub 2001/10/17. doi: 10.1161/hc4101.097525. PubMed PMID: 11602492.
- 37. Crotty Alexander LE, Drummond CA, Hepokoski M, Mathew D, Moshensky A, Willeford A, Das S, Singh P, Yong Z, Lee JH, Vega K, Du A, Shin J, Javier C, Tian J, Brown JH, Breen EC. Chronic inhalation of e-cigarette vapor containing nicotine disrupts airway barrier function and induces systemic inflammation and multiorgan fibrosis in mice. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2018;314(6):R834-R47. Epub 2018/02/01. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00270.2017. PubMed PMID: 29384700; PMCID: PMC6032308.
- 38. Kuntic M, Oelze M, Steven S, Kroller-Schon S, Stamm P, Kalinovic S, Frenis K, Vujacic-Mirski K, Bayo Jimenez MT, Kvandova M, Filippou K, Al Zuabi A, Bruckl V, Hahad O, Daub S, Varveri F, Gori T, Huesmann R, Hoffmann T, Schmidt FP, Keaney JF, Daiber A, Munzel T. Short-term e-cigarette vapour exposure causes vascular oxidative stress and dysfunction: evidence for a close connection to brain damage and a key role of the phagocytic NADPH oxidase (NOX-2). Eur Heart J. 2020;41(26):2472-83. Epub 2019/11/13. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehz772. PubMed PMID: 31715629; PMCID: PMC7340357.
- Shi H, Fan X, Horton A, Haller ST, Kennedy DJ, Schiefer IT, Dworkin L, Cooper CJ, Tian J. The Effect of Electronic-Cigarette Vaping on Cardiac Function and Angiogenesis in Mice. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):4085. Epub 2019/03/13. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-40847-5. PubMed PMID: 30858470; PMCID: PMC6411855.
- 40. Dimmeler S, Fleming I, Fisslthaler B, Hermann C, Busse R, Zeiher AM. Activation of nitric oxide synthase in endothelial cells by Akt-dependent phosphorylation. Nature. 1999;399(6736):601-5. Epub 1999/06/22. doi: 10.1038/21224. PubMed PMID: 10376603.
- 41. Peng X-q, Damarla M, Skirball J, Nonas S, Wang X-y, Han EJ, Hasan EJ, Cao X, Boueiz A, Damico R, Tuder RM, Sciuto AM, Anderson DR, Garcia JGN, Kass DA, Hassoun PM, Zhang J-t. Protective role of PI3-kinase/Akt/eNOS signaling in mechanical stress through

inhibition of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in mouse lung. Acta Pharmacologica Sinica. 2010;31(2):175-83. doi: 10.1038/aps.2009.190.

- 42. Kauser K, da Cunha V, Fitch R, Mallari C, Rubanyi GM. Role of endogenous nitric oxide in progression of atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2000;278(5):H1679-85. Epub 2000/04/25. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.2000.278.5.H1679. PubMed PMID: 10775149.
- 43. Li H, Förstermann U. Chapter 9 Uncoupling of eNOS in Cardiovascular Disease. In: Ignarro LJ, Freeman BA, editors. Nitric Oxide (Third Edition): Academic Press; 2017. p. 117-24.
- 44. Chen C-A, Wang T-Y, Varadharaj S, Reyes LA, Hemann C, Talukder MAH, Chen Y-R, Druhan LJ, Zweier JL. S-glutathionylation uncouples eNOS and regulates its cellular and vascular function. Nature. 2010;468(7327):1115-8. doi: 10.1038/nature09599.
- 45. Lockette W, Otsuka Y, Carretero O. The loss of endothelium-dependent vascular relaxation in hypertension. Hypertension. 1986;8(6 Pt 2):II61-6. Epub 1986/06/01. doi: 10.1161/01.hyp.8.6\_pt\_2.ii61. PubMed PMID: 3087875.
- 46. Pritchard KA, Jr., Groszek L, Smalley DM, Sessa WC, Wu M, Villalon P, Wolin MS, Stemerman MB. Native low-density lipoprotein increases endothelial cell nitric oxide synthase generation of superoxide anion. Circ Res. 1995;77(3):510-8. Epub 1995/09/01. doi: 10.1161/01.res.77.3.510. PubMed PMID: 7543827.
- 47. Xia Y, Zweier JL. Superoxide and peroxynitrite generation from inducible nitric oxide synthase in macrophages. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997;94(13):6954-8. Epub 1997/06/24. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.13.6954. PubMed PMID: 9192673; PMCID: PMC21266.
- 48. Bedard K, Krause KH. The NOX family of ROS-generating NADPH oxidases: physiology and pathophysiology. Physiol Rev. 2007;87(1):245-313. Epub 2007/01/24. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00044.2005. PubMed PMID: 17237347.
- 49.
   Rosanna DP, Salvatore C. Reactive oxygen species, inflammation, and lung diseases. Curr

   Pharm
   Des.
   2012;18(26):3889-900.
   Epub
   2012/05/29.
   doi:

   10.2174/138161212802083716.
   PubMed PMID: 22632750.
   2012/05/29.
   doi:
- 50. Montuschi P, Collins JV, Ciabattoni G, Lazzeri N, Corradi M, Kharitonov SA, Barnes PJ. Exhaled 8-isoprostane as an in vivo biomarker of lung oxidative stress in patients with COPD and healthy smokers. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2000;162(3 Pt 1):1175-7. Epub 2000/09/16. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.162.3.2001063. PubMed PMID: 10988150.
- 51. Rahman I, van Schadewijk AA, Crowther AJ, Hiemstra PS, Stolk J, MacNee W, De Boer WI. 4-Hydroxy-2-nonenal, a specific lipid peroxidation product, is elevated in lungs of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2002;166(4):490-5. Epub 2002/08/21. doi: 10.1164/rccm.2110101. PubMed PMID: 12186826.
- 52. Mittal M, Roth M, Konig P, Hofmann S, Dony E, Goyal P, Selbitz AC, Schermuly RT, Ghofrani HA, Kwapiszewska G, Kummer W, Klepetko W, Hoda MA, Fink L, Hanze J, Seeger W, Grimminger F, Schmidt HH, Weissmann N. Hypoxia-dependent regulation of nonphagocytic NADPH oxidase subunit NOX4 in the pulmonary vasculature. Circ Res. 2007;101(3):258-67. Epub 2007/06/23. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.107.148015. PubMed PMID: 17585072.
- 53. Martyn KD, Frederick LM, Von Loehneysen K, Dinauer MC, Knaus UGJCs. Functional analysis of Nox4 reveals unique characteristics compared to other NADPH oxidases2006;18(1):69-82.
- 54. van der Vliet A, Janssen-Heininger YMW, Anathy V. Oxidative stress in chronic lung disease: From mitochondrial dysfunction to dysregulated redox signaling. Mol Aspects Med. 2018;63:59-69. Epub 2018/08/12. doi: 10.1016/j.mam.2018.08.001. PubMed PMID: 30098327; PMCID: PMC6181583.
- 55. Konior A, Schramm A, Czesnikiewicz-Guzik M, Guzik TJ. NADPH oxidases in vascular pathology. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2014;20(17):2794-814. Epub 2013/11/05. doi: 10.1089/ars.2013.5607. PubMed PMID: 24180474; PMCID: PMC4026218.
- 56. Carnesecchi S, Deffert C, Donati Y, Basset O, Hinz B, Preynat-Seauve O, Guichard C, Arbiser JL, Banfi B, Pache JC, Barazzone-Argiroffo C, Krause KH. A key role for NOX4 in epithelial cell death during development of lung fibrosis. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2011;15(3):607-19. Epub 2011/03/12. doi: 10.1089/ars.2010.3829. PubMed PMID: 21391892; PMCID: PMC3163392.
- 57. Hecker L, Vittal R, Jones T, Jagirdar R, Luckhardt TR, Horowitz JC, Pennathur S, Martinez FJ, Thannickal VJ. NADPH oxidase-4 mediates myofibroblast activation and fibrogenic responses to lung injury. Nat Med. 2009;15(9):1077-81. Epub 2009/08/25. doi: 10.1038/nm.2005. PubMed PMID: 19701206; PMCID: PMC2743335.
- 58. Lagente V, Planquois JM, Leclerc O, Schmidlin F, Bertrand CP. Oxidative stress is an important component of airway inflammation in mice exposed to cigarette smoke or lipopolysaccharide. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol. 2008;35(5-6):601-5. Epub 2008/01/08. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1681.2007.04848.x. PubMed PMID: 18177479.
- 59. Kassim SY, Fu X, Liles WC, Shapiro SD, Parks WC, Heinecke JW. NADPH oxidase restrains the matrix metalloproteinase activity of macrophages. J Biol Chem. 2005;280(34):30201-5. Epub 2005/06/29. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M503292200. PubMed PMID: 15983040.
- 60. Rahman I, MacNee W. Role of oxidants/antioxidants in smoking-induced lung diseases. Free Radic Biol Med. 1996;21(5):669-81. Epub 1996/01/01. doi: 10.1016/0891-5849(96)00155-4. PubMed PMID: 8891669.
- 61. Morawietz H, Weber M, Rueckschloss U, Lauer N, Hacker A, Kojda G. Upregulation of vascular NAD(P)H oxidase subunit gp91phox and impairment of the nitric oxide signal transduction pathway in hypertension. Biochemical and biophysical research communications. 2001;285(5):1130-5. Epub 2001/08/02. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.2001.5312. PubMed PMID: 11478771.
- 62. Duilio C, Ambrosio G, Kuppusamy P, DiPaula A, Becker LC, Zweier JL. Neutrophils are primary source of O2 radicals during reperfusion after prolonged myocardial ischemia. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2001;280(6):H2649-57. Epub 2001/05/18. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.2001.280.6.H2649. PubMed PMID: 11356621.
- 63. Pettit AI, Wong RK, Lee V, Jennings S, Quinn PA, Ng LL. Increased free radical production in hypertension due to increased expression of the NADPH oxidase subunit p22(phox) in lymphoblast cell lines. Journal of hypertension. 2002;20(4):677-83. Epub 2002/03/23. doi: 10.1097/00004872-200204000-00025. PubMed PMID: 11910303.
- 64. Azumi H, Inoue N, Ohashi Y, Terashima M, Mori T, Fujita H, Awano K, Kobayashi K, Maeda K, Hata K, Shinke T, Kobayashi S, Hirata K, Kawashima S, Itabe H, Hayashi Y, Imajoh-Ohmi S, Itoh H, Yokoyama M. Superoxide generation in directional coronary

atherectomy specimens of patients with angina pectoris: important role of NAD(P)H oxidase. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2002;22(11):1838-44. Epub 2002/11/12. doi: 10.1161/01.atv.0000037101.40667.62. PubMed PMID: 12426213.

- 65. Channon KM. Oxidative stress and coronary plaque stability. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2002;22(11):1751-2. Epub 2002/11/12. doi: 10.1161/01.atv.0000042203.08210.17. PubMed PMID: 12426198.
- 66. Griendling KK, Sorescu D, Ushio-Fukai M. NAD(P)H oxidase: role in cardiovascular biology and disease. Circ Res. 2000;86(5):494-501. Epub 2000/03/17. doi: 10.1161/01.res.86.5.494. PubMed PMID: 10720409.
- 67. Wendt MC, Daiber A, Kleschyov AL, Mülsch A, Sydow K, Schulz E, Chen K, Keaney JF, Jr., Lassègue B, Walter U, Griendling KK, Münzel T. Differential effects of diabetes on the expression of the gp91phox homologues nox1 and nox4. Free Radic Biol Med. 2005;39(3):381-91. Epub 2005/07/05. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2005.03.020. PubMed PMID: 15993337.
- Higashi M, Shimokawa H, Hattori T, Hiroki J, Mukai Y, Morikawa K, Ichiki T, Takahashi S, Takeshita A. Long-term inhibition of Rho-kinase suppresses angiotensin II-induced cardiovascular hypertrophy in rats in vivo: effect on endothelial NAD(P)H oxidase system. Circ Res. 2003;93(8):767-75. Epub 2003/09/23. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000096650.91688.28. PubMed PMID: 14500337.
- 69. Moncada S, Higgs EA. The discovery of nitric oxide and its role in vascular biology. Br J Pharmacol. 2006;147 Suppl 1:S193-201. Epub 2006/01/13. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0706458. PubMed PMID: 16402104; PMCID: PMC1760731.
- 70. Muñoz M, López-Oliva ME, Rodríguez C, Martínez MP, Sáenz-Medina J, Sánchez A, Climent B, Benedito S, García-Sacristán A, Rivera L, Hernández M, Prieto D. Differential contribution of Nox1, Nox2 and Nox4 to kidney vascular oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction in obesity. Redox Biology. 2020;28:101330. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2019.101330</u>.
- Meischl C, Krijnen PA, Sipkens JA, Cillessen SA, Muñoz IG, Okroj M, Ramska M, Muller A, Visser CA, Musters RJ, Simonides WS, Hack CE, Roos D, Niessen HW. Ischemia induces nuclear NOX2 expression in cardiomyocytes and subsequently activates apoptosis. Apoptosis : an international journal on programmed cell death. 2006;11(6):913-21. Epub 2006/03/18. doi: 10.1007/s10495-006-6304-7. PubMed PMID: 16544099.
- 72. Guzik TJ, Sadowski J, Guzik B, Jopek A, Kapelak B, Przybylowski P, Wierzbicki K, Korbut R, Harrison DG, Channon KM. Coronary artery superoxide production and nox isoform expression in human coronary artery disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2006;26(2):333-9. Epub 2005/11/19. doi: 10.1161/01.Atv.0000196651.64776.51. PubMed PMID: 16293794.
- 73. Byrne JA, Grieve DJ, Bendall JK, Li JM, Gove C, Lambeth JD, Cave AC, Shah AM. Contrasting roles of NADPH oxidase isoforms in pressure-overload versus angiotensin II-induced cardiac hypertrophy. Circ Res. 2003;93(9):802-5. Epub 2003/10/11. doi: 10.1161/01.Res.0000099504.30207.F5. PubMed PMID: 14551238.
- 74. Tirichen H, Yaigoub H, Xu W, Wu C, Li R, Li Y. Mitochondrial Reactive Oxygen Species and Their Contribution in Chronic Kidney Disease Progression Through Oxidative Stress. Front Physiol. 2021;12:627837. Epub 2021/05/11. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.627837. PubMed PMID: 33967820; PMCID: PMC8103168.

- 75. Irazabal MV, Torres VE. Reactive oxygen species and redox signaling in chronic kidney disease. Cells. 2020;9(6):1342.
- 76. Soulitzis N, Neofytou E, Psarrou M, Anagnostis A, Tavernarakis N, Siafakas N, Tzortzaki EG. Downregulation of lung mitochondrial prohibitin in COPD. Respir Med. 2012;106(7):954-61. Epub 2012/04/24. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2012.03.019. PubMed PMID: 22521224.
- 77. Lamb T, Muthumalage T, Rahman I. Pod-based menthol and tobacco flavored e-cigarettes cause mitochondrial dysfunction in lung epithelial cells. Toxicology Letters. 2020;333:303-11. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2020.08.003</u>.
- 78. George J, Struthers AD. Role of urate, xanthine oxidase and the effects of allopurinol in vascular oxidative stress. Vasc Health Risk Manag. 2009;5(1):265-72. Epub 2009/05/14. doi: 10.2147/vhrm.s4265. PubMed PMID: 19436671; PMCID: PMC2672460.
- 79. Berry CE, Hare JM. Xanthine oxidoreductase and cardiovascular disease: molecular mechanisms and pathophysiological implications. The Journal of physiology. 2004;555(3):589-606.
- 80. Ichinose M, Sugiura H, Yamagata S, Koarai A, Tomaki M, Ogawa H, Komaki Y, Barnes P, Shirato K, Hattori T. Xanthine oxidase inhibition reduces reactive nitrogen species production in COPD airways. European Respiratory Journal. 2003;22(3):457-61.
- 81. Pinamonti S, Muzzoli M, Chicca MC, Papi A, Ravenna F, Fabbri LM, Ciaccia A. Xanthine oxidase activity in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid from patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Free Radical Biology and Medicine. 1996;21(2):147-55. doi: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/0891-5849(96)00030-5">https://doi.org/10.1016/0891-5849(96)00030-5</a>.
- 82. Komaki Y, Sugiura H, Koarai A, Tomaki M, Ogawa H, Akita T, Hattori T, Ichinose M. Cytokine-mediated xanthine oxidase upregulation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease's airways. Pulm Pharmacol Ther. 2005;18(4):297-302. Epub 2005/03/22. doi: 10.1016/j.pupt.2005.01.002. PubMed PMID: 15777613.
- 83. Ichinose M, Sugiura H, Yamagata S, Koarai A, Tomaki M, Ogawa H, Komaki Y, Barnes PJ, Shirato K, Hattori T. Xanthine oxidase inhibition reduces reactive nitrogen species production in COPD airways. European Respiratory Journal. 2003;22(3):457-61. doi: 10.1183/09031936.03.00052002.
- 84. Kayyali US, Donaldson C, Huang H, Abdelnour R, Hassoun PM. Phosphorylation of xanthine dehydrogenase/oxidase in hypoxia. J Biol Chem. 2001;276(17):14359-65. Epub 2001/03/30. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M010100200. PubMed PMID: 11278616.
- 85. Rubenstein DA, Hom S, Ghebrehiwet B, Yin W. Tobacco and e-cigarette products initiate Kupffer cell inflammatory responses. Molecular Immunology. 2015;67(2, Part B):652-60. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2015.05.020</u>.
- 86. Farquharson CA, Butler R, Hill A, Belch JJ, Struthers AD. Allopurinol improves endothelial dysfunction in chronic heart failure. Circulation. 2002;106(2):221-6.
- 87. Cardillo C, Kilcoyne CM, Cannon III RO, Quyyumi AA, Panza JA. Xanthine oxidase inhibition with oxypurinol improves endothelial vasodilator function in hypercholesterolemic but not in hypertensive patients. Hypertension. 1997;30(1):57-63.
- 88. Butler R, Morris AD, Belch JJ, Hill A, Struthers AD. Allopurinol normalizes endothelial dysfunction in type 2 diabetics with mild hypertension. Hypertension. 2000;35(3):746-51. Epub 2000/03/18. doi: 10.1161/01.hyp.35.3.746. PubMed PMID: 10720589.

- 89. Guthikonda S, Sinkey C, Barenz T, Haynes WG. Xanthine oxidase inhibition reverses endothelial dysfunction in heavy smokers. Circulation. 2003;107(3):416-21. Epub 2003/01/29. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.0000046448.26751.58. PubMed PMID: 12551865.
- 90. Suzuki H, DeLano FA, Parks DA, Jamshidi N, Granger DN, Ishii H, Suematsu M, Zweifach BW, Schmid-Schönbein GW. Xanthine oxidase activity associated with arterial blood pressure in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95(8):4754-9. Epub 1998/05/16. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.8.4754. PubMed PMID: 9539811; PMCID: PMC22563.
- 91. Cinelli MA, Do HT, Miley GP, Silverman RB. Inducible nitric oxide synthase: Regulation, structure, and inhibition. Med Res Rev. 2020;40(1):158-89. Epub 2019/06/14. doi: 10.1002/med.21599. PubMed PMID: 31192483; PMCID: PMC6908786.
- 92. Kröncke KD, Fehsel K, Kolb-Bachofen V. Nitric oxide: cytotoxicity versus cytoprotection--how, why, when, and where? Nitric Oxide. 1997;1(2):107-20. Epub 1997/04/01. doi: 10.1006/niox.1997.0118. PubMed PMID: 9701050.
- 93. Katsuyama K, Shichiri M, Marumo F, Hirata Y. NO inhibits cytokine-induced iNOS expression and NF-kappaB activation by interfering with phosphorylation and degradation of IkappaB-alpha. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1998;18(11):1796-802. Epub 1998/11/13. doi: 10.1161/01.atv.18.11.1796. PubMed PMID: 9812920.
- 94. Sartoretto SM, Santos FF, Costa BP, Ceravolo GS, Santos-Eichler R, Carvalho MHC, Fortes ZB, Akamine EH. Involvement of inducible nitric oxide synthase and estrogen receptor ESR2 (ERbeta) in the vascular dysfunction in female type 1 diabetic rats. Life Sci. 2019;216:279-86. Epub 2018/11/18. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2018.11.030. PubMed PMID: 30447304.
- 95. Nagareddy PR, Xia Z, McNeill JH, MacLeod KM. Increased expression of iNOS is associated with endothelial dysfunction and impaired pressor responsiveness in streptozotocin-induced diabetes. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2005;289(5):H2144-52. Epub 2005/07/12. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00591.2005. PubMed PMID: 16006542.
- 96. Anazawa T, Dimayuga PC, Li H, Tani S, Bradfield J, Chyu KY, Kaul S, Shah PK, Cercek B. Effect of exposure to cigarette smoke on carotid artery intimal thickening: the role of inducible NO synthase. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2004;24(9):1652-8. Epub 2004/07/24. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000139925.84444.ad. PubMed PMID: 15271786.
- 97. Anrather J, Racchumi G, Iadecola C. NF-κB regulates phagocytic NADPH oxidase by inducing the expression of gp91phox. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2006;281(9):5657-67.
- 98. Xu P, Huecksteadt TP, Hoidal JR. Molecular cloning and characterization of the human xanthine dehydrogenase gene (XDH). Genomics. 1996;34(2):173-80.
- 99. Nishi T, Shimizu N, Hiramoto M, Sato I, Yamaguchi Y, Hasegawa M, Aizawa S, Tanaka H, Kataoka K, Watanabe H, Handa H. Spatial Redox Regulation of a Critical Cysteine Residue of NF-κB in Vivo \*. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2002;277(46):44548-56. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M202970200</u>.
- 100. Wu M, Bian Q, Liu Y, Fernandes AF, Taylor A, Pereira P, Shang F. Sustained oxidative stress inhibits NF-κB activation partially via inactivating the proteasome. Free Radical Biology and Medicine. 2009;46(1):62-9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2008.09.021.
- 101. Park HS, Jung HY, Park EY, Kim J, Lee WJ, Bae YS. Cutting Edge: Direct Interaction of TLR4 with NAD(P)H Oxidase 4 Isozyme Is Essential for Lipopolysaccharide-Induced

Production of Reactive Oxygen Species and Activation of NF-κB1. The Journal of Immunology. 2004;173(6):3589-93. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.173.6.3589.

- 102. Kamata H, Manabe T, Oka S, Kamata K, Hirata H. Hydrogen peroxide activates IkappaB kinases through phosphorylation of serine residues in the activation loops. FEBS Lett. 2002;519(1-3):231-7. Epub 2002/05/23. doi: 10.1016/s0014-5793(02)02712-6. PubMed PMID: 12023051.
- 103. Oka S, Kamata H, Kamata K, Yagisawa H, Hirata H. N-acetylcysteine suppresses TNFinduced NF-kappaB activation through inhibition of IkappaB kinases. FEBS Lett. 2000;472(2-3):196-202. Epub 2000/05/02. doi: 10.1016/s0014-5793(00)01464-2. PubMed PMID: 10788610.
- 104. Ma T, Wang X, Li L, Sun B, Zhu Y, Xia T. Electronic cigarette aerosols induce oxidative stress-dependent cell death and NF-κB mediated acute lung inflammation in mice. Arch Toxicol. 2021;95(1):195-205. Epub 2020/11/08. doi: 10.1007/s00204-020-02920-1. PubMed PMID: 33159582; PMCID: PMC7855759.
- Lo YYC, Wong JMS, Cruz TF. Reactive Oxygen Species Mediate Cytokine Activation of c-Jun NH2-terminal Kinases\*. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 1996;271(26):15703-7. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.271.26.15703</u>.
- 106. Ren Z, He H, Zuo Z, Xu Z, Wei Z, Deng J. The role of different SIRT1-mediated signaling pathways in toxic injury. Cell Mol Biol Lett. 2019;24:36. Epub 2019/06/06. doi: 10.1186/s11658-019-0158-9. PubMed PMID: 31164908; PMCID: PMC6543624.
- Zheng C, Yin Q, Wu H. Structural studies of NF-κB signaling. Cell Res. 2011;21(1):183-95. Epub 2010/12/08. doi: 10.1038/cr.2010.171. PubMed PMID: 21135870; PMCID: PMC3044936.
- 108. Zarzuelo MJ, López-Sepúlveda R, Sánchez M, Romero M, Gómez-Guzmán M, Ungvary Z, Pérez-Vizcaíno F, Jiménez R, Duarte J. SIRT1 inhibits NADPH oxidase activation and protects endothelial function in the rat aorta: Implications for vascular aging. Biochemical Pharmacology. 2013;85(9):1288-96. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2013.02.015</u>.
- 109. Mattagajasingh I, Kim C-S, Naqvi A, Yamamori T, Hoffman TA, Jung S-B, DeRicco J, Kasuno K, Irani K. SIRT1 promotes endothelium-dependent vascular relaxation by activating endothelial nitric oxide synthase. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2007;104(37):14855-60.
- 110. Nisoli E, Tonello C, Cardile A, Cozzi V, Bracale R, Tedesco L, Falcone S, Valerio A, Cantoni O, Clementi E, Moncada S, Carruba MO. Calorie restriction promotes mitochondrial biogenesis by inducing the expression of eNOS. Science. 2005;310(5746):314-7. Epub 2005/10/15. doi: 10.1126/science.1117728. PubMed PMID: 16224023.
- 111. Xue F, Huang JW, Ding PY, Zang HG, Kou ZJ, Li T, Fan J, Peng ZW, Yan WJ. Nrf2/antioxidant defense pathway is involved in the neuroprotective effects of Sirt1 against focal cerebral ischemia in rats after hyperbaric oxygen preconditioning. Behav Brain Res. 2016;309:1-8. Epub 2016/05/02. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2016.04.045. PubMed PMID: 27131779.
- 112. Kawai Y, Garduño L, Theodore M, Yang J, Arinze IJ. Acetylation-Deacetylation of the Transcription Factor Nrf2 (Nuclear Factor Erythroid 2-related Factor 2) Regulates Its Transcriptional Activity and Nucleocytoplasmic Localization\*. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2011;286(9):7629-40. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M110.208173</u>.

- 113. Arunachalam G, Yao H, Sundar IK, Caito S, Rahman I. SIRT1 regulates oxidant- and cigarette smoke-induced eNOS acetylation in endothelial cells: Role of resveratrol. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications. 2010;393(1):66-72. doi: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.01.080">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.01.080</a>.
- 114. Zhang Y, Li T, Pan M, Wang W, Huang W, Yuan Y, Xie Z, Chen Y, Peng J, Li X, Meng Y. SIRT1 prevents cigarette smoking-induced lung fibroblasts activation by regulating mitochondrial oxidative stress and lipid metabolism. J Transl Med. 2022;20(1):222. Epub 2022/05/16. doi: 10.1186/s12967-022-03408-5. PubMed PMID: 35568871; PMCID: PMC9107262.
- 115. Guan R, Wang J, Cai Z, Li Z, Wang L, Li Y, Xu J, Li D, Yao H, Liu W, Deng B, Lu W. Hydrogen sulfide attenuates cigarette smoke-induced airway remodeling by upregulating SIRT1 signaling pathway. Redox Biol. 2020;28:101356. Epub 2019/11/11. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2019.101356. PubMed PMID: 31704583; PMCID: PMC6854091.
- 116. Ngo V, Duennwald ML. Nrf2 and Oxidative Stress: A General Overview of Mechanisms and Implications in Human Disease. Antioxidants. 2022;11(12):2345. PubMed PMID: doi:10.3390/antiox11122345.
- 117. Iizuka T, Ishii Y, Itoh K, Kiwamoto T, Kimura T, Matsuno Y, Morishima Y, Hegab AE, Homma S, Nomura A, Sakamoto T, Shimura M, Yoshida A, Yamamoto M, Sekizawa K. Nrf2-deficient mice are highly susceptible to cigarette smoke-induced emphysema. Genes Cells. 2005;10(12):1113-25. Epub 2005/12/06. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2443.2005.00905.x. PubMed PMID: 16324149.
- 118. Ishii Y, Itoh K, Morishima Y, Kimura T, Kiwamoto T, Iizuka T, Hegab AE, Hosoya T, Nomura A, Sakamoto T, Yamamoto M, Sekizawa K. Transcription factor Nrf2 plays a pivotal role in protection against elastase-induced pulmonary inflammation and emphysema. J Immunol. 2005;175(10):6968-75. Epub 2005/11/08. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.10.6968. PubMed PMID: 16272357.
- 119. Rangasamy T, Cho CY, Thimmulappa RK, Zhen L, Srisuma SS, Kensler TW, Yamamoto M, Petrache I, Tuder RM, Biswal S. Genetic ablation of Nrf2 enhances susceptibility to cigarette smoke-induced emphysema in mice. J Clin Invest. 2004;114(9):1248-59. Epub 2004/11/03. doi: 10.1172/JCI21146. PubMed PMID: 15520857; PMCID: PMC524225.
- 120. Suzuki M, Betsuyaku T, Ito Y, Nagai K, Nasuhara Y, Kaga K, Kondo S, Nishimura M. Down-regulated NF-E2-related factor 2 in pulmonary macrophages of aged smokers and patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2008;39(6):673-82. Epub 2008/06/21. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2007-0424OC. PubMed PMID: 18566336.
- 121. Cho HY, Reddy SP, Yamamoto M, Kleeberger SR. The transcription factor NRF2 protects against pulmonary fibrosis. FASEB J. 2004;18(11):1258-60. Epub 2004/06/23. doi: 10.1096/fj.03-1127fje. PubMed PMID: 15208274.
- Mannam P, Srivastava A, Sugunaraj JP, Lee PJ, Sauler M. Oxidants in Acute and Chronic Lung Disease. J Blood Lymph. 2014;4. Epub 2015/02/24. doi: 10.4172/2165-7831.1000128. PubMed PMID: 25705575; PMCID: PMC4335304.
- 123. Fukai T, Ushio-Fukai M. Superoxide dismutases: role in redox signaling, vascular function, and diseases. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2011;15(6):1583-606. Epub 2011/04/09. doi: 10.1089/ars.2011.3999. PubMed PMID: 21473702; PMCID: PMC3151424.

- 124. Kinnula VL, Crapo JD. Superoxide dismutases in the lung and human lung diseases. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2003;167(12):1600-19. Epub 2003/06/11. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200212-1479SO. PubMed PMID: 12796054.
- Alfonso-Prieto M, Biarnes X, Vidossich P, Rovira C. The molecular mechanism of the catalase reaction. J Am Chem Soc. 2009;131(33):11751-61. Epub 2009/08/06. doi: 10.1021/ja9018572. PubMed PMID: 19653683.
- 126. Rahman I, Li XY, Donaldson K, Harrison DJ, MacNee W. Glutathione homeostasis in alveolar epithelial cells in vitro and lung in vivo under oxidative stress. Am J Physiol. 1995;269(3 Pt 1):L285-92. Epub 1995/09/01. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.1995.269.3.L285. PubMed PMID: 7573460.
- 127. Forman HJ, Zhang H, Rinna A. Glutathione: Overview of its protective roles, measurement, and biosynthesis. Molecular Aspects of Medicine. 2009;30(1):1-12. doi: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mam.2008.08.006">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mam.2008.08.006</a>.
- 128. Choi AM, Alam J. Heme oxygenase-1: function, regulation, and implication of a novel stress-inducible protein in oxidant-induced lung injury. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 1996;15(1):9-19. Epub 1996/07/01. doi: 10.1165/ajrcmb.15.1.8679227. PubMed PMID: 8679227.
- 129. Juan SH, Lee TS, Tseng KW, Liou JY, Shyue SK, Wu KK, Chau LY. Adenovirusmediated heme oxygenase-1 gene transfer inhibits the development of atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Circulation. 2001;104(13):1519-25. Epub 2001/09/26. doi: 10.1161/hc3801.095663. PubMed PMID: 11571246.
- 130. Anwar AA, Li FYL, Leake DS, Ishii T, Mann GE, Siow RCM. Induction of heme oxygenase 1 by moderately oxidized low-density lipoproteins in human vascular smooth muscle cells: Role of mitogen-activated protein kinases and Nrf2. Free Radical Biology and Medicine. 2005;39(2):227-36. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2005.03.012.
- 131. Lin C-C, Chiang L-L, Lin C-H, Shih C-H, Liao Y-T, Hsu M-J, Chen B-C. Transforming growth factor-β1 stimulates heme oxygenase-1 expression via the PI3K/Akt and NF-κB pathways in human lung epithelial cells. European Journal of Pharmacology. 2007;560(2):101-9. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2007.01.025</u>.
- Baglole CJ, Sime PJ, Phipps RP. Cigarette smoke-induced expression of heme oxygenase-1 in human lung fibroblasts is regulated by intracellular glutathione. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2008;295(4):L624-36. Epub 2008/08/12. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.90215.2008. PubMed PMID: 18689604; PMCID: PMC2575948.
- 133. Cheng S-E, Lee IT, Lin C-C, Kou YR, Yang C-M. Cigarette smoke particle-phase extract induces HO-1 expression in human tracheal smooth muscle cells: role of the c-Src/NADPH oxidase/MAPK/Nrf2 signaling pathway. Free Radical Biology and Medicine. 2010;48(10):1410-22. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2010.02.026</u>.
- 134. Ross D, Siegel D. The diverse functionality of NQO1 and its roles in redox control. Redox Biol. 2021;41:101950. Epub 2021/03/29. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2021.101950. PubMed PMID: 33774477; PMCID: PMC8027776.
- 135. Stringer KA, Freed BM, Dunn JS, Sayers S, Gustafson DL, Flores SC. Particulate phase cigarette smoke increases MnSOD, NQO1, and CINC-1 in rat lungs. Free Radic Biol Med. 2004;37(10):1527-33. Epub 2004/10/13. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2004.08.008. PubMed PMID: 15477004.

- 136. Kinnula VL, Crapo JD, Raivio KO. Generation and disposal of reactive oxygen metabolites in the lung. Lab Invest. 1995;73(1):3-19. Epub 1995/07/01. PubMed PMID: 7603038.
- 137. Montano M, Cisneros J, Ramirez-Venegas A, Pedraza-Chaverri J, Mercado D, Ramos C, Sansores RH. Malondialdehyde and superoxide dismutase correlate with FEV(1) in patients with COPD associated with wood smoke exposure and tobacco smoking. Inhal Toxicol. 2010;22(10):868-74. Epub 2010/06/30. doi: 10.3109/08958378.2010.491840. PubMed PMID: 20583895.
- 138. Vibhuti A, Arif E, Deepak D, Singh B, Qadar Pasha MA. Correlation of oxidative status with BMI and lung function in COPD. Clin Biochem. 2007;40(13-14):958-63. Epub 2007/07/17. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2007.04.020. PubMed PMID: 17631288.
- 139. Duong C, Seow HJ, Bozinovski S, Crack PJ, Anderson GP, Vlahos R. Glutathione peroxidase-1 protects against cigarette smoke-induced lung inflammation in mice. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2010;299(3):L425-33. Epub 2010/06/01. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00038.2010. PubMed PMID: 20511341.
- 140. Dikalov S, Itani H, Richmond B, Vergeade A, Rahman SMJ, Boutaud O, Blackwell T, Massion PP, Harrison DG, Dikalova A. Tobacco smoking induces cardiovascular mitochondrial oxidative stress, promotes endothelial dysfunction, and enhances hypertension. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2019;316(3):H639-H46. Epub 2019/01/05. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00595.2018. PubMed PMID: 30608177; PMCID: PMC6459311.
- 141. Mayyas F, Aldawod H, Alzoubi KH, Khabour O, Shihadeh A, Eissenberg T. Comparison of the cardiac effects of electronic cigarette aerosol exposure with waterpipe and combustible cigarette smoke exposure in rats. Life Sci. 2020;251:117644. Epub 2020/04/08. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2020.117644. PubMed PMID: 32259604.
- 142. Cichońska D, Król O, Słomińska EM, Kochańska B, Świetlik D, Ochocińska J, Kusiak A. Influence of Electronic Cigarettes on Antioxidant Capacity and Nucleotide Metabolites in Saliva. Toxics. 2021;9(10). Epub 2021/10/23. doi: 10.3390/toxics9100263. PubMed PMID: 34678959; PMCID: PMC8538442.
- 143. Bekki K, Uchiyama S, Ohta K, Inaba Y, Nakagome H, Kunugita N. Carbonyl compounds generated from electronic cigarettes. International journal of environmental research and public health. 2014;11(11):11192-200.
- 144. Pellegrino RM, Tinghino B, Mangiaracina G, Marani A, Vitali M, Protano C, Osborn JF, Cattaruzza MS. Electronic cigarettes: an evaluation of exposure to chemicals and fine particulate matter (PM). Ann Ig. 2012;24(4):279-88. Epub 2012/08/24. PubMed PMID: 22913171.
- 145. Glynos C, Bibli SI, Katsaounou P, Pavlidou A, Magkou C, Karavana V, Topouzis S, Kalomenidis I, Zakynthinos S, Papapetropoulos A. Comparison of the effects of e-cigarette vapor with cigarette smoke on lung function and inflammation in mice. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2018;315(5):L662-L72. Epub 2018/08/10. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00389.2017. PubMed PMID: 30091379.
- 146. Vardavas CI, Anagnostopoulos N, Kougias M, Evangelopoulou V, Connolly GN, Behrakis PK. Short-term pulmonary effects of using an electronic cigarette: impact on respiratory flow resistance, impedance, and exhaled nitric oxide. Chest. 2012;141(6):1400-6. Epub 2011/12/24. doi: 10.1378/chest.11-2443. PubMed PMID: 22194587.
- 147. Do VQ, Park KH, Seo YS, Park JM, Kim B, Kim SK, Sung JH, Lee MY. Inhalation exposure to cigarette smoke induces endothelial nitric oxide synthase uncoupling and enhances vascular collagen deposition in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Food Chem

Toxicol. 2020;136:110988. Epub 2019/11/24. doi: 10.1016/j.fct.2019.110988. PubMed PMID: 31759066.

- 148. Franzen KF, Willig J, Cayo Talavera S, Meusel M, Sayk F, Reppel M, Dalhoff K, Mortensen K, Droemann D. E-cigarettes and cigarettes worsen peripheral and central hemodynamics as well as arterial stiffness: A randomized, double-blinded pilot study. Vascular Medicine. 2018;23(5):419-25. doi: 10.1177/1358863x18779694. PubMed PMID: 29985113.
- 149. Vlachopoulos C, Ioakeimidis N, Abdelrasoul M, Terentes-Printzios D, Georgakopoulos C, Pietri P, Stefanadis C, Tousoulis D. Electronic Cigarette Smoking Increases Aortic Stiffness and Blood Pressure in Young Smokers. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2016;67(23):2802-3. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2016.03.569</u>.
- 150. Carnevale R, Sciarretta S, Violi F, Nocella C, Loffredo L, Perri L, Peruzzi M, Marullo AG, De Falco E, Chimenti I, Valenti V, Biondi-Zoccai G, Frati G. Acute Impact of Tobacco vs Electronic Cigarette Smoking on Oxidative Stress and Vascular Function. Chest. 2016;150(3):606-12. Epub 2016/04/26. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2016.04.012. PubMed PMID: 27108682.
- 151. Fetterman JL, Keith RJ, Palmisano JN, McGlasson KL, Weisbrod RM, Majid S, Bastin R, Stathos MM, Stokes AC, Robertson RM, Bhatnagar A, Hamburg NM. Alterations in Vascular Function Associated With the Use of Combustible and Electronic Cigarettes. Journal of the American Heart Association. 2020;9(9):e014570. doi: doi:10.1161/JAHA.119.014570.
- 152. El-Mahdy MA, Ewees MG, Eid MS, Mahgoup EM, Khaleel SA, Zweier JL. Electronic cigarette exposure causes vascular endothelial dysfunction due to NADPH oxidase activation and eNOS uncoupling. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2022;322(4):H549-h67. Epub 2022/01/29. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00460.2021. PubMed PMID: 35089811; PMCID: PMC8917923.
- 153. De Martin S, Gabbia D, Bogialli S, Biasioli F, Boschetti A, Gstir R, Rainer D, Cappellin L. Refill liquids for electronic cigarettes display peculiar toxicity on human endothelial cells. Toxicology Reports. 2021;8:456-62. doi: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxrep.2021.02.021">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxrep.2021.02.021</a>.
- 154. Olas B. Berry Phenolic Antioxidants Implications for Human Health? Front Pharmacol. 2018;9:78. Epub 2018/04/18. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2018.00078. PubMed PMID: 29662448; PMCID: PMC5890122.
- 155. D'Archivio M, Filesi C, Di Benedetto R, Gargiulo R, Giovannini C, Masella R. Polyphenols, dietary sources and bioavailability. Ann Ist Super Sanita. 2007;43(4):348-61. Epub 2008/01/23. PubMed PMID: 18209268.
- Panche AN, Diwan AD, Chandra SR. Flavonoids: an overview. J Nutr Sci. 2016;5:e47. Epub 2017/06/18. doi: 10.1017/jns.2016.41. PubMed PMID: 28620474; PMCID: PMC5465813.
- 157. Pathak S KP, Banerjee A, Bangeree A, Celep GS, Bissi L, Marotta F. . Metabolism of Dietary Polyphenols by Human Gut Microbiota and Their Health Benefits. 2 ed. Watson RR PV, Zibadi S, editor: Academic Press; 2018.
- 158. Bravo L. Polyphenols: chemistry, dietary sources, metabolism, and nutritional significance. Nutr Rev. 1998;56(11):317-33. Epub 1998/12/05. doi: 10.1111/j.1753-4887.1998.tb01670.x. PubMed PMID: 9838798.

- 159. Lavefve L, Howard LR, Carbonero F. Berry polyphenols metabolism and impact on human gut microbiota and health. Food Funct. 2020;11(1):45-65. Epub 2019/12/07. doi: 10.1039/c9fo01634a. PubMed PMID: 31808762.
- 160. Biedermann L, Brulisauer K, Zeitz J, Frei P, Scharl M, Vavricka SR, Fried M, Loessner MJ, Rogler G, Schuppler M. Smoking cessation alters intestinal microbiota: insights from quantitative investigations on human fecal samples using FISH. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2014;20(9):1496-501. Epub 2014/07/30. doi: 10.1097/MIB.000000000000129. PubMed PMID: 25072500.
- 161. Whitehead AK, Meyers MC, Taylor CM, Luo M, Dowd SE, Yue X, Byerley LO. Sex-Dependent Effects of Inhaled Nicotine on the Gut Microbiome. Nicotine Tob Res. 2022;24(9):1363-70. Epub 2022/03/11. doi: 10.1093/ntr/ntac064. PubMed PMID: 35271725; PMCID: PMC9356677.
- 162. Gomes-Rochette NF, Da Silveira Vasconcelos M, Nabavi SM, Mota EF, Nunes-Pinheiro DC, Daglia M, De Melo DF. Fruit as Potent Natural Antioxidants and Their Biological Effects. Curr Pharm Biotechnol. 2016;17(11):986-93. Epub 2016/04/26. doi: 10.2174/1389201017666160425115401. PubMed PMID: 27109905.
- 163. Lee SG, Vance TM, Nam TG, Kim DO, Koo SI, Chun OK. Contribution of Anthocyanin Composition to Total Antioxidant Capacity of Berries. Plant Foods Hum Nutr. 2015;70(4):427-32. Epub 2015/10/31. doi: 10.1007/s11130-015-0514-5. PubMed PMID: 26515081.
- 164. Neveu V, Perez-Jimenez J, Vos F, Crespy V, du Chaffaut L, Mennen L, Knox C, Eisner R, Cruz J, Wishart D, Scalbert A. Phenol-Explorer: an online comprehensive database on polyphenol contents in foods. Database (Oxford). 2010;2010:bap024. Epub 2010/04/30. doi: 10.1093/database/bap024. PubMed PMID: 20428313; PMCID: PMC2860900.
- 165. Lipinska L, Klewicka E, Sojka M. The structure, occurrence and biological activity of ellagitannins: a general review. Acta Sci Pol Technol Aliment. 2014;13(3):289-99. Epub 2014/06/03. doi: 10.17306/j.afs.2014.3.7. PubMed PMID: 24887944.
- 166. Gowd V, Bao T, Wang L, Huang Y, Chen S, Zheng X, Cui S, Chen W. Antioxidant and antidiabetic activity of blackberry after gastrointestinal digestion and human gut microbiota fermentation. Food Chem. 2018;269:618-27. Epub 2018/08/14. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2018.07.020. PubMed PMID: 30100480.
- 167. Warner EF, Smith MJ, Zhang Q, Raheem KS, O'Hagan D, O'Connell MA, Kay CD. Signatures of anthocyanin metabolites identified in humans inhibit biomarkers of vascular inflammation in human endothelial cells. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2017;61(9). Epub 2017/05/01. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201700053. PubMed PMID: 28457017; PMCID: PMC5600085.
- 168. Rodriguez-Mateos A, Rendeiro C, Bergillos-Meca T, Tabatabaee S, George TW, Heiss C, Spencer JP. Intake and time dependence of blueberry flavonoid-induced improvements in vascular function: a randomized, controlled, double-blind, crossover intervention study with mechanistic insights into biological activity. Am J Clin Nutr. 2013;98(5):1179-91. Epub 2013/09/06. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.113.066639. PubMed PMID: 24004888.
- Feliciano RP, Istas G, Heiss C, Rodriguez-Mateos A. Plasma and Urinary Phenolic Profiles after Acute and Repetitive Intake of Wild Blueberry. Molecules. 2016;21(9). Epub 2016/08/30. doi: 10.3390/molecules21091120. PubMed PMID: 27571052; PMCID: PMC6273248.
- 170. U.S. Department of Agriculture ARS. FoodData Central. 2019.

- 171. Johnson SA, Feresin RG, Navaei N, Figueroa A, Elam ML, Akhavan NS, Hooshmand S, Pourafshar S, Payton ME, Arjmandi BH. Effects of daily blueberry consumption on circulating biomarkers of oxidative stress, inflammation, and antioxidant defense in postmenopausal women with pre- and stage 1-hypertension: a randomized controlled trial. Food Funct. 2017;8(1):372-80. Epub 2017/01/07. doi: 10.1039/c6fo01216g. PubMed PMID: 28059417.
- 172. Leikert JF, Rathel TR, Wohlfart P, Cheynier V, Vollmar AM, Dirsch VM. Red wine polyphenols enhance endothelial nitric oxide synthase expression and subsequent nitric oxide release from endothelial cells. Circulation. 2002;106(13):1614-7. Epub 2002/09/25. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.0000034445.31543.43. PubMed PMID: 12270851.
- 173. Shaheen SO, Jameson KA, Syddall HE, Aihie Sayer A, Dennison EM, Cooper C, Robinson SM, Hertfordshire Cohort Study G. The relationship of dietary patterns with adult lung function and COPD. Eur Respir J. 2010;36(2):277-84. Epub 2010/01/16. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00114709. PubMed PMID: 20075056.
- 174. Garcia-Larsen V, Amigo H, Bustos P, Bakolis I, Rona RJ. Ventilatory function in young adults and dietary antioxidant intake. Nutrients. 2015;7(4):2879-96. Epub 2015/04/18. doi: 10.3390/nu7042879. PubMed PMID: 25884660; PMCID: PMC4425179.
- 175. Miedema I, Feskens EJ, Heederik D, Kromhout D. Dietary determinants of long-term incidence of chronic nonspecific lung diseases. The Zutphen Study. Am J Epidemiol. 1993;138(1):37-45. Epub 1993/07/01. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a116775. PubMed PMID: 8333425.
- 176. Butland BK, Fehily AM, Elwood PC. Diet, lung function, and lung function decline in a cohort of 2512 middle aged men. Thorax. 2000;55(2):102-8. Epub 2000/01/20. doi: 10.1136/thorax.55.2.102. PubMed PMID: 10639525; PMCID: PMC1745677.
- 177. Tabak C, Arts IC, Smit HA, Heederik D, Kromhout D. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and intake of catechins, flavonols, and flavones: the MORGEN Study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2001;164(1):61-4. Epub 2001/07/04. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.164.1.2010025. PubMed PMID: 11435239.
- 178. Pounis G, Arcari A, Costanzo S, Di Castelnuovo A, Bonaccio M, Persichillo M, Donati MB, de Gaetano G, Iacoviello L. Favorable association of polyphenol-rich diets with lung function: Cross-sectional findings from the Moli-sani study. Respir Med. 2018;136:48-57. Epub 2018/03/05. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2017.12.007. PubMed PMID: 29501246.
- 179. Farkhondeh T, Folgado SL, Pourbagher-Shahri AM, Ashrafizadeh M, Samarghandian S. The therapeutic effect of resveratrol: Focusing on the Nrf2 signaling pathway. Biomed Pharmacother. 2020;127:110234. Epub 2020/06/21. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2020.110234. PubMed PMID: 32559855.
- 180. Shin JW, Chun KS, Kim DH, Kim SJ, Kim SH, Cho NC, Na HK, Surh YJ. Curcumin induces stabilization of Nrf2 protein through Keap1 cysteine modification. Biochem Pharmacol. 2020;173:113820. Epub 2020/01/24. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2020.113820. PubMed PMID: 31972171.
- 181. Nasir SA SS, Fotedar M, Chaudhari SK, Sethi KK. Echocardiographic evaluation of right ventricular function and its role in the prognosis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Journal of Cardiovascular Echography. 2020;30(3):125-30. doi: 10.4103/jcecho.jcecho\_10\_20.
- 182. Mansouri Z, Dianat M, Radan M, Badavi M. Ellagic Acid Ameliorates Lung Inflammation and Heart Oxidative Stress in Elastase-Induced Emphysema Model in Rat. Inflammation.

2020;43(3):1143-56. Epub 2020/02/28. doi: 10.1007/s10753-020-01201-4. PubMed PMID: 32103438.

- 183. Wang XL, Li T, Li JH, Miao SY, Xiao XZ. The Effects of Resveratrol on Inflammation and Oxidative Stress in a Rat Model of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. Molecules. 2017;22(9). Epub 2017/09/13. doi: 10.3390/molecules22091529. PubMed PMID: 28895883; PMCID: PMC6151812.
- 184. Zhao DK, Shi YN, Petrova V, Yue GGL, Negrin A, Wu SB, D'Armiento JM, Lau CBS, Kennelly EJ. Jaboticabin and Related Polyphenols from Jaboticaba (Myrciaria cauliflora) with Anti-inflammatory Activity for Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. J Agric Food Chem. 2019;67(5):1513-20. Epub 2019/01/25. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.8b05814. PubMed PMID: 30675793.
- 185. Vazquez-Garza E, Bernal-Ramirez J, Jerjes-Sanchez C, Lozano O, Acuna-Morin E, Vanoye-Tamez M, Ramos-Gonzalez MR, Chapoy-Villanueva H, Perez-Plata L, Sanchez-Trujillo L, Torre-Amione G, Ramirez-Rivera A, Garcia-Rivas G. Resveratrol Prevents Right Ventricle Remodeling and Dysfunction in Monocrotaline-Induced Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension with a Limited Improvement in the Lung Vasculature. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2020;2020:1841527. Epub 2020/02/25. doi: 10.1155/2020/1841527. PubMed PMID: 32089765; PMCID: PMC7023844 publication of this paper.
- 186. Rajasekar N, Sivanantham A, Kar A, Mahapatra SK, Ahirwar R, Thimmulappa RK, Paramasivam SG, Subbiah R. Tannic acid alleviates experimental pulmonary fibrosis in mice by inhibiting inflammatory response and fibrotic process. Inflammopharmacology. 2020;28(5):1301-14. Epub 2020/05/07. doi: 10.1007/s10787-020-00707-5. PubMed PMID: 32372165.
- 187. Istas G, Feliciano RP, Weber T, Garcia-Villalba R, Tomas-Barberan F, Heiss C, Rodriguez-Mateos A. Plasma urolithin metabolites correlate with improvements in endothelial function after red raspberry consumption: A double-blind randomized controlled trial. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2018;651:43-51. Epub 2018/05/29. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2018.05.016. PubMed PMID: 29802820.
- 188. Najjar RS, Mu S, Feresin RG. Blueberry Polyphenols Increase Nitric Oxide and Attenuate Angiotensin II-Induced Oxidative Stress and Inflammatory Signaling in Human Aortic Endothelial Cells. Antioxidants (Basel). 2022;11(4). Epub 2022/04/24. doi: 10.3390/antiox11040616. PubMed PMID: 35453301; PMCID: PMC9026874.
- 189. Serino A, Zhao Y, Hwang J, Cullen A, Deeb C, Akhavan N, Arjmandi B, Salazar G. Gender differences in the effect of blackberry supplementation in vascular senescence and atherosclerosis in ApoE-/- mice. The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry. 2020;80:108375. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnutbio.2020.108375</u>.
- 190. Dugo P, Mondello L, Errante G, Zappia G, Dugo G. Identification of anthocyanins in berries by narrow-bore high-performance liquid chromatography with electrospray ionization detection. J Agric Food Chem. 2001;49(8):3987-92. Epub 2001/08/22. doi: 10.1021/jf001495e. PubMed PMID: 11513700.
- 191. Wang H CG, Prior RL. Oxygen Radical Absorbing Capacity of Anthocyanins. J Agric Food Chem. 1997;45(2):304-9. doi: 10.1021/jf960421t.
- 192. Rossi A, Serraino I, Dugo P, Di Paola R, Mondello L, Genovese T, Morabito D, Dugo G, Sautebin L, Caputi AP, Cuzzocrea S. Protective effects of anthocyanins from blackberry in a rat model of acute lung inflammation. Free Radic Res. 2003;37(8):891-900. Epub 2003/10/22. doi: 10.1080/1071576031000112690. PubMed PMID: 14567449.

- 193. Wang Z, Zhang M, Wang Z, Guo Z, Wang Z, Chen Q. Cyanidin-3-O-glucoside attenuates endothelial cell dysfunction by modulating miR-204-5p/SIRT1-mediated inflammation and apoptosis. Biofactors. 2020;46(5):803-12. Epub 2020/06/28. doi: 10.1002/biof.1660. PubMed PMID: 32593198.
- 194. Ouyang S, Chen W, Gaofeng Z, Changcheng L, Guoping T, Minyan Z, Yang L, Min Y, Luo J. Cyanidin-3-O-β-glucoside protects against pulmonary artery hypertension induced by monocrotaline via the TGF-β1/p38 MAPK/CREB signaling pathway. Mol Med Rep. 2021;23(5). Epub 2021/03/25. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2021.11977. PubMed PMID: 33760143; PMCID: PMC7974420.
- 195. Fratantonio D, Cimino F, Molonia MS, Ferrari D, Saija A, Virgili F, Speciale A. Cyanidin-3-O-glucoside ameliorates palmitate-induced insulin resistance by modulating IRS-1 phosphorylation and release of endothelial derived vasoactive factors. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Biol Lipids. 2017;1862(3):351-7. Epub 2016/12/25. doi: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2016.12.008. PubMed PMID: 28011403.
- 196. Matheus ME, de Oliveira Fernandes SB, Silveira CS, Rodrigues VP, de Sousa Menezes F, Fernandes PD. Inhibitory effects of Euterpe oleracea Mart. on nitric oxide production and iNOS expression. J Ethnopharmacol. 2006;107(2):291-6. Epub 2006/04/26. doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2006.03.010. PubMed PMID: 16635558.
- 197. Moura RS, Ferreira TS, Lopes AA, Pires KM, Nesi RT, Resende AC, Souza PJ, Silva AJ, Borges RM, Porto LC, Valenca SS. Effects of Euterpe oleracea Mart. (ACAI) extract in acute lung inflammation induced by cigarette smoke in the mouse. Phytomedicine. 2012;19(3-4):262-9. Epub 2011/12/06. doi: 10.1016/j.phymed.2011.11.004. PubMed PMID: 22138278.
- 198. Alasmari F, Crotty Alexander LE, Drummond CA, Sari Y. A computerized exposure system for animal models to optimize nicotine delivery into the brain through inhalation of electronic cigarette vapors or cigarette smoke. Saudi Pharm J. 2018;26(5):622-8. Epub 2018/07/11. doi: 10.1016/j.jsps.2018.02.031. PubMed PMID: 29989025; PMCID: PMC6035328.
- 199. Wang Y, Thatcher SE, Cassis LA. Measuring Blood Pressure Using a Noninvasive Tail Cuff Method in Mice. Methods Mol Biol. 2017;1614:69-73. Epub 2017/05/14. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-7030-8\_6. PubMed PMID: 28500596.
- 200. Daugherty A, Rateri D, Hong L, Balakrishnan A. Measuring blood pressure in mice using volume pressure recording, a tail-cuff method. J Vis Exp. 2009(27). Epub 2009/06/03. doi: 10.3791/1291. PubMed PMID: 19488026; PMCID: PMC2794298.
- 201. Benzie IFF, Strain JJ. The Ferric Reducing Ability of Plasma (FRAP) as a Measure of "Antioxidant Power": The FRAP Assay. Analytical Biochemistry. 1996;239(1):70-6. doi: https://doi.org/10.1006/abio.1996.0292.
- 202. Feresin RG, Pourafshar S, Huang J, Zhao Y, Arjmandi BH, Salazar G. Extraction and Purification of Polyphenols from Freeze-dried Berry Powder for the Treatment of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells In Vitro. J Vis Exp. 2017(125). Epub 2017/07/18. doi: 10.3791/55605. PubMed PMID: 28715389; PMCID: PMC5608541.
- Qamar W, Sultana S. Polyphenols from Juglans regia L. (walnut) kernel modulate cigarette smoke extract induced acute inflammation, oxidative stress and lung injury in Wistar rats. Hum Exp Toxicol. 2011;30(6):499-506. Epub 2010/06/11. doi: 10.1177/0960327110374204. PubMed PMID: 20534640.

- 204. Srinivasan S, Hatley ME, Bolick DT, Palmer LA, Edelstein D, Brownlee M, Hedrick CC. Hyperglycaemia-induced superoxide production decreases eNOS expression via AP-1 activation in aortic endothelial cells. Diabetologia. 2004;47(10):1727-34. Epub 2004/10/19. doi: 10.1007/s00125-004-1525-1. PubMed PMID: 15490108.
- 205. El-Mahdy MA, Mahgoup EM, Ewees MG, Eid MS, Abdelghany TM, Zweier JL. Longterm electronic cigarette exposure induces cardiovascular dysfunction similar to tobacco cigarettes: role of nicotine and exposure duration. American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology. 2021;320(5):H2112-H29. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00997.2020.
- 206. Talih S, Balhas Z, Salman R, Karaoghlanian N, Shihadeh A. "Direct Dripping": A High-Temperature, High-Formaldehyde Emission Electronic Cigarette Use Method. Nicotine Tob Res. 2016;18(4):453-9. Epub 2015/04/13. doi: 10.1093/ntr/ntv080. PubMed PMID: 25863521; PMCID: PMC6220833.
- 207. Jiang J, Huang K, Xu S, Garcia JGN, Wang C, Cai H. Targeting NOX4 alleviates sepsisinduced acute lung injury via attenuation of redox-sensitive activation of CaMKII/ERK1/2/MLCK and endothelial cell barrier dysfunction. Redox Biology. 2020;36:101638. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2020.101638</u>.
- 208. Wang X, Murugesan P, Zhang P, Xu S, Peng L, Wang C, Cai H. NADPH Oxidase Isoforms in COPD Patients and Acute Cigarette Smoke-Exposed Mice: Induction of Oxidative Stress and Lung Inflammation. Antioxidants (Basel). 2022;11(8). Epub 2022/08/27. doi: 10.3390/antiox11081539. PubMed PMID: 36009258; PMCID: PMC9405243.
- 209. Olfert IM, DeVallance E, Hoskinson H, Branyan KW, Clayton S, Pitzer CR, Sullivan DP, Breit MJ, Wu Z, Klinkhachorn P, Mandler WK, Erdreich BH, Ducatman BS, Bryner RW, Dasgupta P, Chantler PD. Chronic exposure to electronic cigarettes results in impaired cardiovascular function in mice. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2018;124(3):573-82. Epub 2017/11/04. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00713.2017. PubMed PMID: 29097631; PMCID: PMC5899271.
- 210. Larcombe AN, Janka MA, Mullins BJ, Berry LJ, Bredin A, Franklin PJ. The effects of electronic cigarette aerosol exposure on inflammation and lung function in mice. American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology. 2017;313(1):L67-L79. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00203.2016. PubMed PMID: 28360111.
- 211. Kimble R, Keane KM, Lodge JK, Howatson G. Dietary intake of anthocyanins and risk of cardiovascular disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition. 2019;59(18):3032-43. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2018.1509835.
- 212. McCullough ML, Peterson JJ, Patel R, Jacques PF, Shah R, Dwyer JT. Flavonoid intake and cardiovascular disease mortality in a prospective cohort of US adults. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2012;95(2):454-64. doi: https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.111.016634.
- 213. Najjar RS, Knapp D, Wanders D, Feresin RG. Raspberry and blackberry act in a synergistic manner to improve cardiac redox proteins and reduce NF-kappaB and SAPK/JNK in mice fed a high-fat, high-sucrose diet. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2022. Epub 2022/04/30. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2022.03.015. PubMed PMID: 35487829.
- 214. Meister ML, Najjar RS, Danh JP, Knapp D, Wanders D, Feresin RG. Berry consumption mitigates the hypertensive effects of a high-fat, high-sucrose diet via attenuation of renal and aortic AT(1)R expression resulting in improved endothelium-derived NO

bioavailability. J Nutr Biochem. 2023;112:109225. Epub 2022/11/27. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2022.109225. PubMed PMID: 36435288.

- 215. Cao G, Russell RM, Lischner N, Prior RL. Serum Antioxidant Capacity Is Increased by Consumption of Strawberries, Spinach, Red Wine or Vitamin C in Elderly Women. The Journal of Nutrition. 1998;128(12):2383-90. doi: 10.1093/jn/128.12.2383 %J The Journal of Nutrition.
- 216. Feresin RG, Huang J, Klarich DS, Zhao Y, Pourafshar S, Arjmandi BH, Salazar G. Blackberry, raspberry and black raspberry polyphenol extracts attenuate angiotensin II-induced senescence in vascular smooth muscle cells. Food Funct. 2016;7(10):4175-87. Epub 2016/08/11. doi: 10.1039/c6fo00743k. PubMed PMID: 27506987.
- 217. Rahman SU, Huang Y, Zhu L, Chu X, Junejo SA, Zhang Y, Khan IM, Li Y, Feng S, Wu J. Tea polyphenols attenuate liver inflammation by modulating obesity-related genes and down-regulating COX-2 and iNOS expression in high fat-fed dogs. BMC veterinary research. 2020;16:1-12.
- 218. Zhuang Y, Wu H, Wang X, He J, He S, Yin Y. Resveratrol Attenuates Oxidative Stress-Induced Intestinal Barrier Injury through PI3K/Akt-Mediated Nrf2 Signaling Pathway. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2019;2019:7591840. Epub 2019/12/31. doi: 10.1155/2019/7591840. PubMed PMID: 31885814; PMCID: PMC6915002.
- 219. Ouyang S, Chen W, Gaofeng Z, Changcheng L, Guoping T, Minyan Z, Yang L, Min Y, Luo J. Cyanidin-3-O-beta-glucoside protects against pulmonary artery hypertension induced by monocrotaline via the TGF-beta1/p38 MAPK/CREB signaling pathway. Mol Med Rep. 2021;23(5). Epub 2021/03/25. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2021.11977. PubMed PMID: 33760143; PMCID: PMC7974420.